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Chairman’s Statement

EEHRE

Dear Shareholders,

In 2020, China officially made its commitment to the world that green
development and carbon neutrality are the key macro themes in its long-
term development. It aims to achieve “carbon neutrality” before 2060
and have carbon dioxide emissions reaching its peak before 2030.
The proportion of non-fossil energy to total energy consumption will
increase from 15.9% in 2020 to 20% in 2025 and further to 25% in
2030. The energy consumption and carbon dioxide emissions per unit
of GDP will reduce by 13.5% and 18%, respectively during the 14th
Five-year Plan period. The government plans to implement systems
focusing on carbon intensity control supported by the control on total
carbon emissions. It implies that the economic structure will transform
towards energy concentration and the efficiency of energy utilization is
expected to improve and the energy structure will transform towards
low carbon intensity. China’s 14th Five-year Plan requires to vigorously
expand the size of wind power and photovoltaic power generation. As
of the end of 2023, the installed capacities of photovoltaic power and
on-grid wind power in China amounted to 609.49GW and 441.34GW,
respectively. Based on the target of reaching over 1.2 billion KW in total
installed capacities of wind power and solar power generation by 2030,
the newly-added installed capacities of wind power and photovoltaic
power will reach 665GW from 2020 to 2030. During the period, China will
“reasonably control” the construction size and development pace of coal
fired power generation projects. At the same time, China will advance the
green transformation of iron & steel, petrochemical, construction materials
and other traditional industries that have high energy consumption. It will
also adopt other measures such as the implementation of the market-
based trading of energy usage quota and carbon emission quota.

In the new energy sector, energy storage and comprehensive energy
services will enjoy huge development potential. In addition to the
traditional energy storage such as peak-load shifting and on-grid
frequency modulation, more than 20 provinces in China have explicitly
required the construction of 5%-20% ancillary energy storage facilities
for newly built wind power and solar plant stations. For existing plants,
enterprises are encouraged to equip energy storage facilities appropriately
in different stages. Comprehensive energy services are an important path
in accelerating the digital and intelligent transformation of the energy
industry, which plays a key role in improving the efficiency of the energy
system and the modernization of industrial chains and supply chains. For
the power industry, it will innovate and improve the integration of power
sources, grid, load and storage, increase the power distribution business
and develop distributed energy, microgrid, energy storage, intelligent
charging and discharging for electric vehicles, demand side response and
other intelligent and high-efficient energy utilization models to promote
the intelligent and green improvement of industries, transportation,
construction and other scenarios with energy consumption. In line with
the 14th Five-Year Modern Energy System Plan and the 2023 Energy-
Work Guidelines, the Company will take the power system as the center
and accelerate the build-out of Internet-based energy platforms. It will
promote the digital upgrading of facilities in all links covering production,
transportation, storage, sales and use of energy and implement the digital
construction and transformation of coal mines, oil and gas fields, power
plants and grids. It will facilitate the construction of digital platforms based
on supply and demand matching, production services, supervision and
management and other business relations, including data center, control
center and trading platforms.
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China’s green development policies will not only bring precious historical
opportunities for the development of new energy in China, it will also
propel the development of global new energy and its comprehensive
utilization. The Company will seize the historical opportunity and actively
explore its business development in energy storage, comprehensive
energy services, carbon trading and other industries based on its existing
photovoltaic power generation business.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I would like to express my sincere thanks to all our shareholders,
investors, bankers, business associates and customers for their
continuous supports to the Group. | would also like to express my
sincere thanks to all our directors, senior management and staff for the
contributions. In the new financial year, | hope all of you will work together
with our Group to achieve new development and create a brilliant future.

Chen Xiaxuan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 September 2025
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chen Xiaxuan, aged 40, was appointed as the Chairman of the
Board, the chairman of the Nomination Committee of the Company on
25 June 2021, and an executive Director of the Company on 13 January
2021. He graduated from Shanghai Jiao Tong University with the bachelor
degree for thermal engineering as the major degree and administrative
management as the second degree, and later obtained the master
degree for project management from the same university. He is a certified
constructor in the PRC, a certified project management professional
of the Project Management Institute and a PRC classified intermediate
economist. He started his career in Shanghai Electric Power Generation
Group, EPC Company in 2007, and was in charge of marketing and
business development and contract negotiation for power plant industry
and had been responsible for overseas markets in Southeast Asia,
Southern African, CIS region, central Asia and Latin American regions.
From 2016 to April 2022, he was the deputy general manager of Sinolam
Smart Energy LNG Power Co., and was in charge of commercial,
technical and execution management of liquefied natural gas receiving
terminal and combined cycle power plant integrated project, as well as
the business development for new markets.

Mr. Bo Dateng, aged 46, was appointed as an executive Director of the
Company on 13 March 2020. He graduated with a bachelor’s degree in
International Finance from the Ocean University of China in July 2001. Mr.
Bo had worked as an investment development manager from October
2014 to April 2018 in Shandong Hi-Speed Investment Holding Company
Limited (I &R & R & & B R A 7)) (“Shandong Hi-Speed Investment”),
a company owned by Shandong Hi-Speed Group Co., Ltd. (“Shandong
Hi-Speed Group”). He then served as the executive director of Shandong
Hi-Speed (Shanghai) Investment Holding Co., Ltd. (LB =% ( £/8)#&
BRI AR A7), a subsidiary of Shandong Hi-Speed Investment from
April 2018 to December 2019. Mr. Bo served as chairman of Shandong
Hi-Speed Investment Fund Management Co., Ltd. (L R SEREEEE
A BR A A]) from April 2019 to August 2021. Mr. Bo served as minister
of research department of Shandong Hi-Speed Investment from August
2021 to February 2024. Mr. Bo served as minister of corporate security
department of Shandong Hi-Speed Investment from March 2024.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

Ms. Yue Lu, aged 42, was appointed as an executive Director of the
Company on 28 January 2022. She graduated from Xi'an Jiaotong
University in 2004 with the bachelor degree of accounting. She is a PRC
certified public accountant, a PRC registered tax agent, a PRC asset
valuer and a PRC senior accountant, with over 22 years’ experience
in finance, taxation, auditing and investment. She served as a cashier
supervisor, accounting supervisor and financial supervisor of Xi’an Traffic
Levy Inspection Division Lintong Office* (P8 % X B B & & iR e & )
from 2003 to 2010 successively. She served as a tax service office clerk
and a tax assessment clerk of the State Taxation Administration of Lintong
District, Xi'an City* (F8% 1 & & [& EU 37 f5) from 2010 to 2015 successively.
She then joined Rui Hua Certified Public Accountants and served as
an assistant manager from 2015 to 2016, participating in M&A projects
and conducting financial due diligence. From 2016 to 8 September
2025, she served as an investment review manager, an external financial
controller and a deputy director of investment management department of
Zhongmin New Energy Investment Group Company Limited* (FF & #7864
&£ [B B BR A F]) successively, responsible for M&A projects, organizing
asset evaluation, drafting transfer proposals and other matters.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Pun Hau Man, aged 36, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company on 4 May 2020. He is also a member
of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee of the Company. He obtained a bachelor degree
and a master degree in Philosophy from Peking University in 2010 and
2013 respectively.

Mr. Lo Ka Ki, aged 46, was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company on 25 April 2021. He currently serves as the
Chairman of both the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee,
and is also a member of the Nomination Committee.

Mr. Lo obtained his Master degree in Professional Accounting from The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2009. He is a practising member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and has been
a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
since July 2010.

With more than 20 years of professional experience in auditing,
accounting, and corporate management, Mr. Lo has held senior
roles across CPA practices and the commercial sector, including an
international CPA firm and several listed companies. He currently serves
as the Managing Director and a Director of two CPA firms headquartered
in Hong Kong.

Mr. Lo also brings listed company board experience, having served as
an Independent Non-Executive Director of Tian Chang Group Holdings
Limited (stock code: 2182) from February 2018 to May 2019. Since
February 2018, he has held the same role at WLS Holdings Limited (stock
code: 8021).

* For identification purpose only
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEERE

Mr. Choi Pun Lap, aged 47, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 1 August 2024. He is also a
member of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee.

Mr. Choi has extensive knowledge in corporate finance transactions in
Hong Kong. He is well experienced for working in mergers & acquisition,
analysing financial and market data, responsible for coordinating and
supporting integration planning for acquisitions, and taking deals through
the full process to successful completion. He is currently an executive
director of Wuxi Life International Holdings Group Limited (stock code:
8148) and Simplicity Holding Limited (stock code: 8367), the shares of
both are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange, an independent non-
executive director of Sunway International Holdings Limited (stock code:
58), the shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, and
Shanyu Group Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 8245), the shares
of which are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Choi was a senior
audit manager in the audit department of HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Limited (“HLB”) in Hong Kong. He has worked in HLB for more than ten
years from February 2007 to December 2017.

Mr. Choi is a valuation practitioner of International Association of Certified
Valuation Specialists since 2019. He is a fellow member of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a member of Certified Practising
Accountants Australia and a member of Chartered Global Management
Accountant and a member of International Chamber of Sustainable
Development — Certified ESG Planner CEP. Mr. Choi graduated from Hong
Kong Metropolitan University with a Master of Law (Chinese Business
Law) in Hong Kong in 2017. He obtained a Bachelor of Business
(Accounting) from Central Queensland University in Australia in 2003 and
further studied Postgraduate Diploma of Accounting in Monash University
in Australia in 2005.

Mr. Kwok Shun Sing, aged 39, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company on 21 January 2022. He is also a
member of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee of the Company. He graduated from The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2008 with the bachelor of business
administration accounting. He is a certified public accountant of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, with over 13 years’
experience serving in international accounting firms and multinational
corporations, as well as years of experience working in major cities of the
mainland China. He served as an auditor of Lau Leigh Choi Consultants
Ltd. from 2008 to 2010 and served as a senior auditor of Baker Tilly
Hong Kong Limited from 2010 to 2015. He then joined Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu from 2015 to 2016, and subsequently joined Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants (Special General Partnership)
Shenzhen Branch and held the position as a manager of the audit and
assurance department from 2016 to 2020, participated in the IPO audit
and was responsible for the audit of a number of listed companies in
Hong Kong, and has audited for state-owned enterprises. From March
2020 onwards, he carried out independent practice, providing accounting
and tax services.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

REVENUE BY BUSINESS SEGMENTS

The Group is principally engaged in the clean energy of sales of electricity
to customers in Mainland China. The Group’s revenue decreased by
approximately HK$17,538,000 or approximately 9.0% from approximately
HK$195,910,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022 (“Comparative
Year”) to approximately HK$178,372,000 for the year ended 31 December
2023 (“Current Year”).

REVENUE BY GEOGRAPHICAL REGION

The Group operated within one geographical area because the majority
of the Group’s revenue was generated in Mainland China and all of its
non-current assets/capital expenditure were located/incurred in Mainland
China. Therefore, no geographical information is presented.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Clean Energy

Clean-energy power generation business is the principal business of
the Group. As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s installed capacity is
approximately 172 megawatt(s) (“MW”) (Comparative Year: 172MW),
all of which are photovoltaic power generation projects locating in four
provinces, Gansu, Anhui, Jiangxi and Shandong.

During the Current Year, sale of electricity of the on-grid was
approximately 199,244,000 kilowatt hour(s) (“KWh”) (Comparative
Year: approximately 219,244,000KWh) and generated revenue of
approximately HK$178,372,000 as compared to revenue of approximately
HK$195,910,000 in the Comparative Year.

Details of the operation of the Group’s solar power projects during the
year are as follows:

Jintai 100MW Project in Jinchang, Gansu: During the Current Year,
sale of electricity was approximately 128,098,000KWh, representing
a decrease of 19.0% as compared with Comparative Year’s sale of
electricity of approximately 158,087,000KWh. Sales revenue was
approximately HK$104,077,000, representing a decrease of 14.2%
as compared with Comparative Year’'s revenue of approximately
HK$121,334,000.

EEENWE D

BEBIEE D HBA

AEBEFERERMFPBERNMEFHEE R
BRENEBK - AEEZRABREBEE-_ZT -
FH+ZA=Z+—"BLEFE([EREE]DH
195,910,000/ JT % 2 4917,538,0007% JT =k #9
QLONREHZEZ_ZT_=F+-_A=+—H8L*F
B ([AFE])#178,372,0007 7T

B EE 2 KB A
MRAEBEAHBS WA ERER - BE
FAERBEE BRI MR EER
RE P AR EER A ESEE-
Bt - 3 2 5] B AR o

£ 100

Vi=p: - p
BRERRBEBAFEEEELB -N_-F

TZHE+ A=+ —B AEBERBTENA
172K B (THRE]) (EEBEFEFE 172K E) -

EHBRAREERE 2HRERE B T
FARLIREE -

RAFE  HHREEE4 AE199,244,000F L
B ([TEE]) (ERFE :4219,244,000F
FLBs) REEWAL A178,372,000/8 7T » i kb
BFEEHUIRA L E195,910,0000 T ©

RAREER NEBMAGEXETIER LB
BT

HESERFRIOKRERE  AFE HESE
2 #4)/4128,098,000F LB B FEHE
B 2 #158,087,000F FL Bk 2019.0% - S &
I A 49 5104,077,000%8 T 8 LB F E A
#7121,334,00058 TTH 4 14.2% ©

TREBREREEERBERAR | —E-_=ZFFH




Management Discussion and Analysis

EEEFNWE DA

On 26 December 2023, the Third Intermediate People’s Court of
Shanghai Municipality* (=8 % = F & A R)AFT) has made a civil ruling
accepting the winding up application in respect of Shanghai Dianyang
Photovoltaic Company Limited* ()8 85 (R E HH R A 7)) (“Shanghai
Dianyang”), an indirect and wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
for the reasons of being insolvent and its assets not being sufficient to
repay its indebtedness. On 29 May 2024, the Company was informed
that the Jinchuan District People’s Court of Jinchang City of Gansu
Municipality* (He& 2 &m<)l@ ARAER) (the “PRC Court”) made a
civil ruling accepting the bankruptcy reorganization application in respect
of Jinchang Jintai Photovoltaic Company Limited* (& £ $#8 2= X (R E
ABR A7) (“Jinchang Jintai”), an indirect and wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company and a direct and wholly-owned subsidiary of Shanghai
Dianyang, for the reasons of its inability to repay its indebtedness, and its
plausibility and necessity of reorganization.

Guanyang 8.25MW Project in Dezhou, Shandong: During the Current
Year, sale of electricity was approximately 7,641,000KWh, representing an
increase of 0.8% as compared with Comparative Year's sale of electricity
of approximately 7,580,000KWh. Sales revenue was approximately
HK$6,758,000, representing a decrease of 13.8% as compared with
Comparative Year’s revenue of approximately HK$7,835,000.

Hongxiang 8MW Project in Dezhou, Shandong: During the Current
Year, sale of electricity was approximately 5,497,000KWh, representing an
increase of 81.9% as compared with Comparative Year’s sale of electricity
of approximately 3,022,000KWh. Sales revenue was approximately
HK$5,221,000, representing an increase of 65.2% as compared with
Comparative Year’s revenue of approximately HK$3,160,000.

Jinde 5MW Project in Dezhou, Shandong: During the Current Year,
sale of electricity was approximately 5,440,000KWh, representing
an increase of 364.6% as compared with Comparative Year’s sale
of electricity of approximately 1,171,000KWh. Sales revenue was
approximately HK$4,289,000, representing an increase of 268.8%
as compared with Comparative Year’'s revenue of approximately
HK$1,163,000.

Jiayang 10MW Project in Dezhou, Shandong: During the Current
Year, sale of electricity was approximately 10,060,000KWh (Comparative
Year: approximately 9,440,000KWh), representing an increase of 6.6%.
Sales revenue was approximately HK$7,367,000 (Comparative Year:
approximately HK$9,420,000), representing a decrease of 21.8%.

Hongyang 20MW Project in Changfeng, Anhui: During the Current
Year, sale of electricity was approximately 21,615,000KWh (Comparative
Year: approximately 22,776,000KWh), representing a decrease of 5.1%.
Sales revenue was approximately HK$26,399,000 (Comparative Year:
approximately HK$27,454,000), representing a decrease of 3.8%.
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Jinjian 20MW Project in Gaoan, Jiangxi: During the Current Year,
sale of electricity was approximately 20,893,000KWh (Comparative
Year: approximately 21,168,000KWh), representing a decrease of 1.3%.
Sales revenue was approximately HK$24,261,000 (Comparative Year:
approximately HK$25,544,000), representing a decrease of 5.0%.

The electricity volume generated during the Current Year was stable and
the average utilisation hour of our solar power plants was approximately
1,350.

During the Current Year, the Group continued to focus its resources on
the expansion of solar power business and explore further opportunities
for growth.

The Group is also actively seeking refinancing opportunities that may
provide the Group with optimal capital structure to pursue further growth
and development, while lowering the finance costs.

PROSPECTS

China officially made its commitment to the world that green development
and carbon neutrality are the key macro themes in its long-term
development. It aims to achieve “carbon neutrality” before 2060 and have
carbon dioxide emissions reaching its peak before 2030. The proportion
of non-fossil energy to total energy consumption will increase from 15.9%
in 2020 to 20% in 2025 and further to 25% in 2030 achieving carbon
neutrality by 2060.

The energy consumption and carbon dioxide emissions per unit of GDP
will reduce by 13.5% and 18%, respectively during the 14th Five-year
Plan period. The government plans to implement systems focusing on
carbon intensity control and supported by the control on total carbon
emissions. It implies that the economic structure will transform towards
energy concentration and the efficiency of energy utilization is expected
to improve and the energy structure will transform towards low carbon
intensity. China’s 14th Five-year Plan requires to vigorously expand the
size of wind power and photovoltaic power generation. According to
China’s 2024 power industry statistics released by the National Energy
Administration, the country’s cumulative installed power generation
capacity was 3.35 billion kilowatts (kW), a year-on-year increase of 14.6%.
By the end of 2024, the total installed capacity of solar PV reached 886
million kW, a year-on-year increase of 45.5%. During the period, China will
“reasonably control” the construction size and development pace of coal-
fired power generation projects. At the same time, China will advance the
green transformation of iron & steel, petrochemical, construction materials
and other traditional industries that have high energy consumption. It will
also adopt other measures such as the implementation of the market-
based trading of energy usage quota and carbon emission quota.
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In the new energy sector, energy storage and comprehensive energy
services will enjoy huge development potential. In addition to the
traditional energy storage such as peak-load shifting and on-grid
frequency modulation, at least 8 provinces in China have explicitly
required the construction of 5%-20% ancillary energy storage facilities
for newly built wind power and solar plant stations. For existing plants,
enterprises are encouraged to equip energy storage facilities appropriately
in different stages. Comprehensive energy services are an important path
in accelerating the digital and intelligent transformation of the energy
industry, which plays a key role in improving the efficiency of the energy
system and the modernization of industrial chains and supply chains. For
the power industry, it will innovate and improve the integration of power
sources, grid, load and storage, increase the power distribution business
and develop distributed energy, microgrid, energy storage, intelligent
charging and discharging for electric vehicles, demand- side response
and other intelligent and high-efficient energy utilization models to promote
the intelligent and green improvement of industries, transportation,
construction and other scenarios with energy consumption. With the
power system as the center, it will speed up the construction of Internet-
based energy platforms. It will promote the digital upgrading of facilities
in all links covering production, transportation, storage, sales and use
of energy and implement the digital construction and transformation of
coal mines, oil and gas fields, power plants and grids. It will facilitate the
construction of digital platforms based on supply and demand matching,
production services, supervision and management and other business
relations, including data center, control center and trading platforms.

China’s green development policies will not only bring precious historical
opportunities for the development of new energy in China, it will also
propel the development of global new energy and its comprehensive
utilization. The Company will seize the historical opportunity and actively
expand its business development in energy storage, comprehensive
energy services and other industries based on its existing photovoltaic
power generation business and energy trading.

RESULTS OF THE GROUP

During the Current Year, the Group recorded a revenue of approximately
HK$178,372,000 as compared to revenue of approximately
HK$195,910,000 in Comparative Year. The decrease in revenue mainly
because of (i) the decrease in the sale of electricity especially through
Jinchang Juntai Photovoltaic Company Limited (ii) the lowering of the
exchange between Renminbi and Hong Kong Dollar.

China Smarter Energy Group Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023

EFEREIN MEMMREERRE LKA
FEERWKRZER BT E5HH 1§ ERMN
BERAANFREAIN PRELFBBSESR
MAERMERENAGREEUMSALE
5%-20% T EH FBER M R FEEU &
BEEIMEERE  FAERRIEEMRAE
REEBRF L B2MENNBEERTE HRX
1R TTRE IR R A8 R R0 EE 28 g 1 PR BB 3R ALK
RABEZER EHEE AIFTERBE
R - BEREXH ERIAER:
MEM Ft EPHTETEANE FTRA
ODEEEZRMAEENA HEHITE &
BRESAESSNEBENEELRE -UE
NWEGREP L MREFREBBTFEER-

BERE E - #H AEROKENHEFL
TR BAEE CRRA ER ERENHT
feR Mss - B ERNHFRE  EERS
EEEESEBHAGNSREFVIERR &
BERPL -RAEFL - RHFEF-

TENAEEREE TEERPREOFER
BRGERTHSNELKE AIKELETHE
R R EEFEANAMER - 280
FERELH#E ERELARBEEREMER
BHNER L BRIODREMFE K RRRGE
FRBMFER -

AEBEE

RAFEEA - AN & B 815 I A £178,372,000
77T - LB E R YA 49195,910,000%
T WARDETERR)EESER D (FH
REEBLERTARENBERDE)  RI)A
RERBITEETRK



Management Discussion and Analysis

The net loss of the Group for the Current Year amounted to approximately
HK$299,021,000 (Comparative Year: approximately HK$95,445,000),
representing an increase in loss of 213.3%. The increase in loss
was a combined effect of (i) increase of impairment losses on trade
receivables and other receivables by approximately HK$53,719,000; (i)
increase of impairment losses on refundable deposits by approximately
HK$97,962,000, (i) reversal of provisions for litigations and claims by
approximately HK$39,354,000; and (iv) increase in finance costs by
approximately HK$100,020,000.

COST OF SALES

For the Current Year, the amount of cost of sales was approximately
HK$109,234,000 (Comparative Year: approximately HK$112,635,000),
representing a decrease of 3.0%. The decrease was mainly due to the
exchange effect caused by depreciation of Renminbi.

OPERATING AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

For the Current Year, the amount of operating and administrative expenses
was approximately HK$27,067,000 (Comparative Year: approximately
HK$44,972,000), representing a decrease of 39.8%. The decrease was
mainly due to less ad hoc professional fees from consultancy and legal
advice during Current Year.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group generally derives cash for operation from internal cash
flow and from banks and financial institutions in Hong Kong and
the PRC. As at 31 December 2023, the Group had cash and bank
balances of approximately HK$41,961,000 (as at 31 December
2022: approximately HK$157,287,000). As at 31 December 2023,
the Group’s interest bearing bank and other borrowings amounted
to approximately HK$1,234,027,000 (as at 31 December 2022:
approximately HK$1,341,476,000). Total deficiency attributable to owners
of the Company amounted to approximately HK$542,362,000 (as at 31
December 2022: approximately HK$241,677,000).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had net current liabilities
of approximately HK$1,503,713,000 (as at 31 December 2022:
approximately HK$1,300,854,000) and current ratio (being current assets
over current liabilities) of 36.1% (as at 31 December 2022: 42.9%).
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
Shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt
divided by the total equity of the Group. Net debt includes interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings, less cash and bank balances. The
gearing ratio at the end of the reporting year is as follows:

BERGER
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2023 2022
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HK$’000 HK$’000

FEx FHET

Bank and other borrowings RIT R EMER 1,341,476
Less: cash and bank balances AR e RIRTTE (157,287)
Net debt FAE 1,184,189
Total deficiency attribute to owners of the Company  ZN'A &l # G A FE{h E5 4t 4258 (241,677)
Gearing ratio EEBELX N/A i 3

Save as the minimum public float imposed by the Stock Exchange,
neither the Company nor its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed
capital restrictions.

The Company had not conducted any equity fund raising activities during
the Current Year. However, the Group conducted certain refinancing
activities as follow:

(i) As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s bank borrowings of
HK$486,370,000 (2022: HK$493,421,000) were guaranteed by a
subsidiary up to a total amount of RMB440,758,000 (equivalent
to HK$486,370,000) (2022: RMB440,758,000 (equivalent to
HK$493,421,000)). According to the repayment terms set out in
two separate agreements, the bank borrowings will be repayable
by semi-annual instalments with the last instalments due in July
2027 and September 2028, respectively. The bank borrowings
were interest-bearing per annum at the benchmark interest rate
for loans over 5 years determined by the People’s Bank of China
to financial institutions (2022: same). The Group was in default of
the installment repayments during the year. Accordingly, the whole
amount of the loan was classified as current liabilities as at 31
December 2023. The default has not been remedied at the date
these financial statements were authorised for issue.
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(i) As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s other loan of
HK$527,466,000 (2022: HK$535,112,000) was interest-bearing
at 7.90% per annum, and was guaranteed by an independent
company and Shanghai Gorgeous Investment Development
Company Limited (/8B Z A # & % & B BR 2 7). According to
the repayment terms, the other loan was repayable in June 2020.
The Group was in default of repayment of this loan and the default
has not been remedied at the date these financial statements were
authorised for issue. As at 31 December 2023, the loan is overdue
and a penalty interest fee is incurred. The penalty interest rate is
the loan interest rate multiplied by 150%.

(iii) As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s other loans of
HK$206,793,000 (2022: HK$299,349,000) were interest-bearing
at 7.00% per annum, and were guaranteed by a subsidiary of the
Group. According to the repayment terms, the other loans were
due for repayment in June 2021 and the default has not been
remedied at the date these financial statements were authorised for
issue. As at 31 December 2023, the loan is overdue and a penalty
interest fee is incurred. The penalty interest rate is the loan interest
rate multiplied by 150%.

(iv) As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s other loans of
HK$13,398,000 (2022: HK$13,594,000) were interest-bearing at
6.00% per annum, and were guaranteed by a subsidiary of the
Group. According to the repayment terms, the other loan was
repayable in June 2021. The Group was in default of repayment of
this loan and the default has not been remedied at the date these
consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue.

TREASURY POLICY

Our Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach for our
treasury policy. The Board of Directors of our Company closely monitors
our Group’s liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity structure of our
assets, liabilities, and other commitments can meet our funding needs all
the time.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group’s businesses are mainly conducted in Renminbi and USD.
Currently the Group has not implemented any foreign currency forward
contracts to hedge the Group’s exchange rate exposure. However, the
Group will consider necessary policies, where needed, to minimise its
foreign currency exposure in the future.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES

The Group did not carry out any material acquisition and disposal during
the Current Year.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group employed around 26 employees
in Hong Kong and the PRC (31 December 2022: 21). The Group’s
remuneration policies are based primarily on the prevailing market rate
and the performance of individual employees. Fringe benefits, including
Mandatory Provident Fund, medical benefits and training are provided.
The Group has also established a discretionary bonus scheme for its
management and staff with awards determined annually based upon the
performance of the Group and individual employees.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2023 (31 December 2022: Nil).

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION OF DIRECTOR
PURSUANT TO RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE HONG
KONG LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there are no other changes to
the Directors’ information as required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
13.51B(1) of the Hong Kong Listing Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

IMPORTANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Winding up application of PRC subsidiary of the
Company

As announced by the Company on 18 January 2024, the Company
announced that it was informed that on 26 December 2023, the Third
Intermediate People’s Court of Shanghai Municipality* (\£/8 T 58 =/ 4%
AERJEBT) had made a civil ruling accepting the winding up application in
respect of Shanghai Dianyang Photovoltaic Company Limited* (£ /& #[5
Y ARE AR A R (“Shanghai Dianyang”), an indirect and wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, for the reasons of being insolvent and its
assets not being sufficient to repay its indebtedness.
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As announced by the Company on 29 May 2024, the Company
announced that it had just been informed that the Jinchuan District
People’s Court of Jinchang City of Gansu Municipality* (& & &
m& )’ A REBR) (the “PRC Court”) made a civil ruling on 26 March
2024 accepting the bankruptcy reorganization application in respect of
Jinchang Jintai Photovoltaic Company Limited* (£ £ &F X RKENHE
[R 2 7)) (“Jinchang Jintai”), an indirect and wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company and a direct and wholly-owned subsidiary of Shanghai
Dianyang, for the reasons of its inability to repay its indebtedness, and its
plausibility and necessity of reorganization.

As announced by the Company on 24 December 2024, the Company
announced that it had just been informed that the PRC Court made
a civil ruling on 19 December 2024 approving the reorganization plan
proposal put forward by the administrator (& ¥2 A) of Jinchang Jintai (the
“Administrator”), terminating Jinchang Jintai’s bankruptcy reorganization
procedures and retaining the said Administrator to perform its duties until
the reorganization plan was completed.

Winding up petition

As announced by the Company on 15 April 2025 and 21 May 2025, the
Company has received a winding-up petition against the Company (“ANPA
Petition”), filed by ANPA FINANCIAL SERVICES GROUP LIMITED (“ANPA”
or “Petitioner”). Reference is made to the announcements of the Company
dated 15 April 2025, 21 May 2025 and 20 June 2025, respectively. The
Company and the Petitioner have agreed on a settlement proposal. At the
ANPA Petition hearing on 16 July 2025, the High Court ordered that the
hearing of the ANPA Petition be further adjourned to 8 October 2025.

MANAGEMENT’S VIEW ON THE DISCLAIMER OF
OPINION

(@) Scope limitation on insufficient accounting
records of a subsidiary - Jinchang Jintai

Summary of facts

The Company announced on 29 May 2024 that it had just been
informed that the Jinchuan District People’s Court of Jinchang
City of Gansu Municipality* (H @& € &M & JIl& A RER) (the
“PRC Court”) made a civil ruling on 26 March 2024 accepting the
bankruptcy reorganization application in respect of Jinchang Jintai,
an indirect and wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, for the
reasons of its inability to repay its indebtedness, and its plausibility
and necessity of reorganization.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENwWR DM

Since Jinchang Jintai has been taken over by the Administrator
assigned by the PRC Court on 3 June 2024, the Group could
only provide the basic information of 2023 on hand, such as
management accounts, ledgers and subledgers accounts, but
could not provide further information such as vouchers, bank
statements, agreements and documentation, which were refused
to be provided by the Administrator of Jinchang Jintai. The existing
records were not considered to be a sufficient level for our audit

purposes.

Management’s view

The inadequacy of accounting records maintained by Jinchang
Jintai was a direct consequence of its bankruptcy reorganization,
which resulted in the Group losing control over the subsidiary and
its associated business and accounting records. As a result of
Jinchang Jintai's deconsolidation from the Group since the year
ended 31 December 2024, this limitation will not reoccur in the
year ended 31 December 2025. This is an one-off event and is

non-recurring.

(b) Scope limitation on the estimation of
impairment losses on refundable deposits

Summary of facts

In December 2015, the Group entered into potential acquisitions,
under which the Group agreed to acquire solar power plants. As
stipulated under the terms of the said acquisitions, the Group
paid two deposits which amounted to HK$300.0 million and
RMB30.0 million, respectively. Details of which were disclosed in
the Company’s announcements dated 11 December 2015 and 13
March 2018, respectively. Subsequently, the said acquisitions were
lapsed and terminated. Since then, the Group sought to recover

the deposits paid but not successful.
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(c)

Management Discussion and Analysis

Management’s view

The Group has engaged legal counsel to proactively contact
the vendor regarding the outstanding refundable deposits but
these efforts were unsuccessful. The vendor’s listed contact
number was found to be invalid. A formal demand letter sent
to the vendor was returned as undeliverable. Additionally, site
visits to the vendor’s premises revealed no personnel present or
actively working. Although the Group and the vendor previously
agreed on a preliminary repayment timetable, further steps —
including but not limited to price negotiations, due diligence, and
the execution of a formal agreement — are required to implement
this arrangement. To date, no such formal agreement has been
finalized. As disclosed in the annual report for the year ended 31
December 2022, the Company had fully written off the remaining
carrying value of the refundable deposits as of 31 December 2023.
While the Auditors will have a qualification on the corresponding
figures in its consolidated financial statements for the year ending
31 December 2024, it would not further affect its consolidated
financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2025.

Going concern
Summary of facts

It was noted that (i) the Group incurred a net loss of HK$299.02
million for the Current Year; (ii) the Group recorded net current
liabilities of HK$1,503.71 million; and (iii) the Group’s bank and
other borrowings amounted to HK$1,234.03 million, while its cash
and cash equivalents amounted to HK$41.96 million only. Further,
the auditors of the Company (“‘Auditors”) considered the Group’s
cash flow forecast was subject to uncertainties. In view of these,
the Auditors considered that they were unable to obtain sufficient
audit evidence whether it is appropriate to present the Company’s
financial statements on a going concern basis.

Management’s view

While the Group did incur net loss of HK$299.02 million for the
Current Year, the Group at the same time generated positive
operating cash flow of HK$4.79 million for the Current Year. The
Company submits that this pattern is inherent to the Group’s
business cycle. The Company is of the view that non-cash expense
items, such as depreciation, amortisation and impairment, do
not directly impact the Group’s day-to-day operations and hence
should have less weight in the assessment of the Group’s ability of
operating with going concern when compared with the actual cash
flow.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENwWR DM

With regard to the Auditors’ concern over the Group’s net current
liabilities position and borrowing level, the Company is actively
negotiating financing plans, which include rescheduling of debts
and equity fundraising.

Audit Committee’s View and removal of the
Disclaimer of Opinion

The Audit Committee acknowledged the views of the Auditors
regarding the disclaimer of opinion and the management’s position
concerning the disclaimer of opinion and had also discussed
with the Auditors at the planning stages and closing stages via
teleconferences, by which it was fully aware of the abovementioned
background and reasons for the disclaimer of opinion. The Audit
Committee therefore concurred with the views of the Management
and the Auditors.

Removal of Disclaimer of Opinion

As discussed with the Auditors, it is expected that:

(a) Scope limitation on the insufficient accounting records of a
subsidiary — Jinchang Jintai: This qualification is expected to
be removed in the Group’s consolidated financial statements
for the year ending 31 December 2025 as the Group lost
control over the subsidiary, its associated business and
its accounting records. As a result, Jinchang Jintai was
deconsolidated from the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024, this limitation will not affect its consolidated
financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2025.

(b) Scope limitation on the estimation of impairment losses on
refundable deposits: This qualification is expected to be
removed in the Group’s consolidated financial statements for
the year ending 31 December 2025 as the Company had
fully written off the non-refundable deposit by the year ended
31 December 2023 and would also affect the corresponding
figures in its consolidated financial statements for the year
ending 31 December 2024 but would not further affect its
consolidated financial statements for the year ending 31
December 2025.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board of the Company believes that good corporate governance
practices are increasingly important for maintaining and promoting
shareholder value and investor confidence. The Board sets appropriate
policies and implements corporate governance practices which are
considered appropriate to the conduct and growth of the Group’s
business.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has applied the principles of all the applicable code
provisions of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “CG
Code”), which was amended and effective since 1 January 2022, as set
out in Appendix C1 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) as its
own code on corporate governance practices. During the Current Year,
the Company was in compliance with all code provisions set out in the
CG Code except for the following deviation.

Under the CG Code provision C.2.1, the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. There is no separation between the roles of the chairman
of the Board (the “Chairman”) and the chief executive officer of the
Company (“CEQ”). Although the responsibilities of the Chairman and CEO
are vested in one person, all major decisions are made in consultation
with the Board members and the senior management of the Company.
The Board considers that there is sufficient balance of power and the
current arrangement maintains a strong management position of the
Company.

The Company failed to timely publish the audited 2023 financial
statements and lay the audited 2023 financial statements at the 2023
annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with Rules
13.46 and 13.49 of the Listing Rules, and failed to timely publish its
environmental, social and governance report for the same period covered
in the 2023 Annual Results under rule 13.91 of the Listing Rules and
the unaudited 2023 interim results in accordance with Rules 13.48 and
18.49 of the Listing Rules. The Company has been reviewing and closely
monitoring its internal control systems to avoid delay in publication of its
periodic financial and non-financial information under the Listing Rules in
the future.

Save as those mentioned above and in the opinion of the Directors, the
Company has met the code provisions set out in the CG Code during the
Current Year.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”), as set out in C3 to the
Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding securities transaction by
the Directors.
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Corporate Governance Report
TEERRE

Having made specific enquiry to all Directors, the Company confirmed
that all Directors have complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code throughout the Current Year.

The Company has also established written guidelines on no less exacting
terms than the Model Code (the “Employees Written Guidelines”),
governing securities transactions by employees who are likely to possess
inside information of the Company and/or its securities. No incident
of non-compliance of the Employees Written Guidelines by relevant
employees was noted by the Company.

In case when the Company is aware of any restricted period for dealings
in the Company’s securities, the Company will notify its directors and
relevant employees in advance.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Company,
and is responsible for setting up the overall strategy as well as reviewing
the operation and financial performance of the Group. The Board reserved
for its decision or consideration matters covering overall Group strategy,
major acquisitions and disposals, annual budgets, annual and interim
results, recommendations on Directors’ appointment or re-appointment,
approval of major capital transactions and other significant operational
and financial matters. The management was delegated the authority
and responsibility by the Board for the daily management of the Group.
In addition, the Board has also delegated various responsibilities to the
Board committees. Further details of these committees are set out in this
report.

The Board currently consists of six Directors including three executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors:

Executive Directors (“EDs”)
Mr. Chen Xiaxuan (Chairman)

Mr. Bo Dateng
Ms. Yue Lu
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Corporate Governance Report

Independent Non-executive Directors (“INEDs”)

Mr. Pun Hau Man

Mr. Lo Ka Ki

Mr. Choi Pun Lap (appointed on 1 August 2024)
Mr. Kwok Shun Sing (resigned on 31 July 2024)

After annual assessment by the nomination committee of the Company,
the Board members have no financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships with each other and the senior management of the
Company. Such balanced Board composition is formed to ensure strong
independence exists across the Board. The composition of the Board
reflects the balanced skills and experience for effective leadership. The
biographical information of the Directors are set out on pages 6 to 8 under
the section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management”.

In addition, the Directors have followed the guidelines set out in “A
Guide on Directors’ Duties” and “Guide for Independent Non-Executive
Directors” (if applicable) issued by the Companies Registry and “Guidelines
for Directors” published by the Hong Kong Institute of Directors in
performing their duties and responsibilities as Directors of the Company.
Besides, the Directors actively comply with the requirements under
statute and common law, the Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory
requirements and the Company’s business and governance policies.

The list of directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules
from time to time. The independent non-executive directors are expressly
identified in all corporate communications of the Company.

During the Current Year, the Chairman had not held any meetings with
the Independent Non-executive Directors without the presence of other
Directors.

FUNCTIONS OF THE BOARD AND MANAGEMENT
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”)

The Chairman is responsible for the leadership of the Board, ensuring its
effectiveness in all aspects of its role for setting its agenda and taking
into account any matters proposed by other directors for inclusion in the
agenda while the CEO is responsible for the day-to-day management of
the Group’s business.
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TERERBRBE

Pursuant to Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code as set out in Appendix
C1 to the Listing Rules, the roles of chairman and chief executive
officer should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. There is no separation between the roles of the Chairman and
the CEO. Notwithstanding the deviation from code provision C.2.1, all
major decisions are made in consultation with the Board members and
the senior management of the Company. The Board believes that with
the support of the management, vesting the roles of both chairman and
chief executive officer by the same person can facilitate execution of the
Group’s business strategies and boost effectiveness of its operation. In
addition, under the supervision by the Board which currently consists
of three EDs and three INEDs, here is sufficient balance of power and
the current arrangement maintains a strong management position of
the Company. The interest of the shareholders of the Company will be
adequately and fairly represented.

Terms of Directors and Re-election of Directors

Code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code states that every director, including
those appointed for a specific term, shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years while the Listing Rules states
that all directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy should be subject
to election by shareholders at the first annual general meeting after
appointment.

Each of the ED has entered into a service agreement with the Company
for a term of three years, subject to renewal after the expiry of the then
current term. Each of the INED has entered into an appointment letter
with the Company for a term of three years, subject to renewal after the
expiry of the then current term.

Under the Company’s Bye-Laws, at every annual general meeting of the
Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number
is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to, but not
less than, one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Any Director
appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall
not be taken into account in determining which Directors are to retire by
rotation. The retiring Directors shall be eligible for reelection thereat.

The Company’s Bye-Laws also provides that all Directors appointed to fill
a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall hold office only until
the following annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be
eligible for re-election at that meeting.
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Responsibilities and Accountabilities of the
Directors

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company, and
is collectively responsible for directing and supervising the Company’s
affairs. The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads
and provides direction to management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s operational and
financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control and risk
management systems are in place.

All Directors, including INED, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its
efficient and effective functioning. The INED are responsible for ensuring
a high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company and providing
a balance in the Board for bringing effective independent judgment on
corporate actions and operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the
Company and may, upon request, seek independent professional advice
in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for discharging
their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices held
by them.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to policy
matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management,
material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment of directors and other
significant operational matters of the Company. Responsibilities relating
to implementing decisions of the Board, directing and co-ordinating the
daily operation and management of the Company are delegated to the
management.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on Directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions taken against
Directors and senior management arising out of corporate activities. The
insurance coverage would be reviewed on an annual basis.

Directors’ Training

All newly appointed directors had received their inauguration training by
the Company during the Current Year.

According to the code provision Part 2 C.1.4 of the CG Code, all Directors
should participate in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the
board remains informed and relevant.

All Directors have participated in continuous professional development
and provided a record of training they received for the Current Year to the
Company.
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The individual training record of each Director received for the Current & EER AKFEEFTE T 2 @ A Z 2857

Year is set out below: R
Attending
or participating
in seminars/
in-house briefing or
reading materials
relevant to the
Company’s business/
director’s duties
HERZS MERLNF
k% EERE
ERNHEE R
Name of Director EENE e & =k B AT R
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Chen Xiaxuan (Chairman) PRE®F & (F/E) v
Mr. Bo Dateng SEARBE A v
Ms. Yue Lu B+ v
Independent Non-executive Directors BUHBITEE
Mr. Pun Hau Man EENSEAE v
Mr. Lo Ka Ki EREEE 4
Mr. Kwok Shun Sing A A& v
Independent Non-executive Directors BYEHITES

The three independent non-executive Directors are persons of high =BV IFRTEEHBESH ZBFHH
calibre, with two out of the three having academic and professional A fE &5t K& Bl 28180 A 21001 L E A - i
qualifications in the fields of accounting and finance. With their FHREESITELBE 2 KR HESSHUE
experience gained from various sectors, they provide strong support {TEBE HEIEHBEATH - —RM s HEN
towards the effective discharge of the duties and responsibilities of the EHEFEREASUHBREREREE2E M AL
Board. Generally they should also attend general meetings to gain and H TR - B UFRTEEDREBI R A
develop a balanced understanding of the views of Shareholders. Each AR FIEHFEEER K MARRAREEBE
independent non-executive Director gives an annual confirmation of his/ B F MR AIE313(KTE N2 BIL A Lo

her independence to the Company, and the Company considered each of

them is independent under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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Cor

Directors’ and Officers’ liability

Appropriate insurance cover on Directors and officers’ liabilities has been
provided to cover potential legal actions against Directors and officers.

Board Meetings

Code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code states that at least four regular
Board meetings should be held each year at approximately quarterly
intervals with active participation of a majority of Directors, either in
person or through other electronic means of communication. Members
of the Board met on a regular basis and on ad hoc basis to discuss the
overall strategy as well as the operation and financial performance of the
Group. During the Current Year, the Board held 6 meetings. All Directors
were given an opportunity to include any matters in the agenda for regular
Board meetings, and were given sufficient time to review documents
and information relating to matters to be discussed in Board meetings in
advance.

porate Governance Report
TtEERKRE

EERSRITBRABZERE

ARABEAARHEETRRRTHRABEL
ZERTY REFRSMITRABRHEE
BEERRE-

EXEER

EEERTAZTANEXHECE11GIIBEF
RETRIMAENEETEEH ANEFE
TR AERZHEZRGRBEREME
BASTAEGR2E -ERERNEEHRITEH
THEFERRITHENESR UdmASEE
BRBANBENMBERA - RAFERN &
ERRETARER 2REFTHARENE
FerEHeRAERUEIHESE-EER
EXZeeRBT OEERNERSZAEMN
BT EEZEEXH RER -

Number of

attendance/

eligible to attend

Name of Directors BEEgA HE EERBEERE

Executive Directors HITEE

Mr. Chen Xiaxuan (Chairman) PREEF A (£/F) 6/6

Mr. Bo Dateng SERE A 4/6

Ms. Yue Lu B+ 6/6
Independent Non-executive Directors BUHFHTEE

Mr. Pun Hau Man BN 5/6

Mr. Lo Ka Ki ERELE 5/6

Mr. Kwok Shun Sing PR A A& 6/6

Board minutes are kept by the Company Secretary and are open for
inspection by the Directors. Every Board member is entitled to have
access to Board papers and related materials and has unrestricted
access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary, and has the
liberty to seek external professional advice if so required.

E=ZSeRNBHARMERT LAMEE
2 -BUEFENEOERINBGEEEX
HREBEN TARREAAWERES
ER® LAIEARGERBEABIINEERER
8o
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General Meetings

During the Current Year, the annual general meeting of the Company was
held on 31 May 2023.

BREXE

RAFER AATARFBFAGR_T==
FRA=+— B8

Number of
attendance/
eligible to attend
Name of Directors BEENS HE CERHERE
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Chen Xiaxuan (Chairman) REFFLE (L/E) 1/1
Mr. Bo Dateng SEABE A 1/1
Ms. Yue Lu EW izt 1/1
Independent Non-executive Directors BUHHITEE
Mr. Pun Hau Man EE LA 1/1
Mr. Lo Ka Ki ERBEE 1/1
Mr. Kwok Shun Sing AR A& 1/1
Under the Company’s shareholders’ communication policy, the Board is HRIBEAQRTHREBEARE EEea8 T 01K

responsible for maintaining an on-going dialogue with Shareholders and
in particular, uses annual general meetings or other general meetings to
communicate with Shareholders and encourage their participation. All
Directors of the Company are required to attend these general meetings
for two-ways communication with the Company’s shareholders.

However, as referred to the announcements of the Company dated 31
March 2023, due to the delay in publication of the annual results, the
Company delayed its dispatch of the annual report for the year ended
31 December 2023, which was required on or before 30 April 2024, and
holding its 2024 annual general meeting, which was required on or before
30 September 2024.

Nevertheless, the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
(“2025 AGM”) will be held on 7 November 2025 and all Directors of the
Company, including all independent non-executive Directors, are required
under the Company’s shareholders’ communication policy to attend it to
share views with the Company’s shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Board is entrusted with the duty to put in place a proper corporate
governance structure of the Company. It is primarily responsible for setting
directions, formulating strategies, monitoring performance and managing
the risks of the Group. Under the Board, there are currently three
committees, namely Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee. Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee
perform their distinct roles in accordance with their respective terms of
reference and assist the Board in supervising certain functions of the
management. Each of the Committees is established with defined written
terms of reference which are available on the Company’s website and the
Stock Exchange website.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established with specific written terms of
reference which is available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company.

As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee consists of one
executive director, namely Mr. Chen Xiaxuan (as chairman), and three
Independent Non-executive directors, namely Mr. Lo Ka Ki, Mr. Pun Hau
Man and Mr. Choi Pun Lap. The duties of the Nomination Committee are
as follows:

(@)

to review the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board
and to make recommendation on any proposed changes to the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

to identify suitable individuals qualified to become Board members;

to review the effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy (as
hereinafter defined) and the measurable objectives;

to formulate and develop the policies and practices on corporate
governance;

to assess the independence of Independent Non-executive
Directors;

to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors;
and

to ensure that where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an
individual as an independent non-executive director at the general
meeting, the Board should set out in the circular to Shareholders
and/or explanatory statement accompanying the notice of the
relevant general meeting why they believe he/she should be elected
and the reasons why they consider him/her to be independent.

The Nomination Committee may obtain independent professional advice
to perform its responsibilities, where necessary, at the Company’s
expenses.
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During the Current Year, no Nomination Committee meetings were held.
In previous years, the Nomination Committee Meetings were held (i)
to review the re-election of the retiring Directors at the annual general
meeting and (i) to review and formulate the Board’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and the appointment of new directors.

Nomination Policy

The Board has established a set of nomination policy setting out the
approach to nominate suitable candidates to the Board for it to consider
and make recommendations to Shareholders for election or re-election
as directors of the Group at general meetings or appoint as Directors to
fill casual vacancies. The criteria of nomination have been considered
from a number of aspects, including but not limited to, skills, experience,
qualifications and aspects as detailed in the Board Diversity Policy (as
hereinafter defined).

During the Current Year, the Company reviewed its nomination policy for
a formal, considered and transparent procedure to help identifying and
nomination of candidates for Directors. All valid nomination of candidates,
accompanied with biographical details, would be presented to the Board
for consideration. Consideration would be given to factors such as the
candidate’s integrity, experience and qualifications relevant to the Group’s
business. It is believed that members of the Nomination Committee
collectively would have required relevant knowledge and skills to identify,
invite and evaluate qualifications of nominated candidates for directorship.

The process of our appointment and re-election of Directors are as
follows:

Potential new Directors are identified and considered for appointment
at any time by the Board upon the recommendation of the Nomination
Committee. Nomination Committee considers the candidates based on
merit having regard to the knowledge, experience, skills and expertise as
well as the overall board diversity which, in the opinion of the Directors,
will enable them to make positive contributions on the performance of
the Board and makes recommendations to the Board as appropriate.
Emoluments of new directors will be considered by the Remuneration
Committee.

Newly appointed members by the Board to fill a casual vacancy on
the Board is subject to re-election by Shareholders at the first general
meeting after their appointment. All Directors are subject to re-election by
Shareholders every 3 years.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Company continuously seeks to enhance the effectiveness of the
Board and to maintain a high standard of corporate governance and
recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity in the composition of
the Board.

The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy on 22 November
2013 (the “Board Diversity Policy” or the “Policy”) which sets out the
approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The Company recognises
that increasing diversity at the Board level will support the attainment of
the Company'’s strategic objectives and sustainable development. The
Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the consideration
of a number of factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The Company will also take into
consideration its own business model and specific needs from time to
time in determining the optimum composition of the Board.

The Board delegated certain duties under the Policy to the Nomination
Committee. The Nomination Committee discussed and reviewed the
measurable objectives for implementing the Policy from time to time to
ensure their appropriateness and the progress made towards achieving
those objectives are ascertained.

Under the Board Diversity Policy, the Board is committed to maintaining
an environment of respect for people regardless of their gender in all
business dealings. The Board would ensure that appropriate balance of
gender diversity is achieved with reference to stakeholders’ expectation
and international and local recommended best practices.

To the extent appropriate, the Board targets to appoint or maintain gender
diversity and targets to refrain from having a single gender in respect of
the Board.

Monitoring and Reporting

The Nomination Committee will disclose the composition of the
Board annually in the Corporate Governance Report and monitor the
implementation of the Board Diversity Policy. The Nomination Committee
will review the Board Diversity Policy, as appropriate, to ensure the
effectiveness of the Policy. Also, the Nomination Committee will discuss
any revisions that may be required, and recommend any such revisions to
the Board for consideration and approval.

The Nomination Committee will continue to review the Board Diversity
Policy from time to time to ensure its continued effectiveness.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

As at the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee comprises
the three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Lo Ka Li (as
chairman), Mr. Pun Hau Man and Mr. Choi Pun Lap.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are currently
made available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
Terms of reference adopted by the Remuneration Committee are aligned
with the code provisions set out in the CG Code.

The functions of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure
on the remuneration packages for all Directors’ and senior management
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing remuneration policy.

During the Current Year, the Remuneration Committee no meeting was
held. In the previous year, the Remuneration Committee was held to
review the remuneration of Directors and senior management.

The emoluments payable to Directors and senior management depend
on their respective contractual terms under the employment agreements,
if any, and is fixed by the Board with reference to the recommendation
of the Remuneration Committee, the performance of the Group and the
prevailing market conditions. Details of the remuneration of the Directors
and senior management are set out in note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprises the three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Lo Ka Li (as chairman),
Mr. Pun Hau Man and Mr. Choi Pun Lap.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are currently made
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. Terms
of reference adopted by the Audit Committee are aligned with the code
provisions set out in the CG Code.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for making recommendations
to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of
the external auditor and to approve the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor, and any questions of resignation
or dismissal of such auditor; reviewing the interim and annual reports
and consolidated financial statements of the Group; and overseeing
the Company’s financial reporting system including the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of staff in charge of the
Company'’s financial reporting function and their training arrangement and
budget, and internal control procedures.
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The Audit Committee meets the external auditor regularly to discuss any
area of concern during the audit. The Audit Committee reviews the interim
and annual reports before submission to the Board. The Audit Committee
focuses not only on the impact of the changes in accounting policies

TEEBRSE

ERELE /\*Eﬂéﬁiﬁl\ﬁﬂ?%ﬁfﬁ;ﬁ%ﬁgﬁ 7
ERBRETES CENEE -BREESHR
%ﬁqﬂ ﬁﬂ&iﬁf‘s&i%ﬁ@uxﬁ%ﬁ#&%?

EXg -BERZBENBEHARRZHHRF

and practices but also on the compliance with accounting standards, the J*iﬁzttﬁﬁ 71 2IEE #BZ%& 18 & &)
Listing Rules and the legal requirements in the review of the Company’s %Rz ¥ 2  NMEeE TS T%E8) FHBR AN
interim and annual report. = 1$Z%EE °
During the Current Year, the Audit Committee held one meeting. RAEEAN EREEERIT A&
Number of
attendance/
eligible to attend
Name of Members REHE HEEEREERE
Mr. Lo Ka Ki (Chairmarn) ERBEE (F/E) 1/1
Mr. Pun Hau Man EENEE 1/1
Mr. Kwok Shun Sing PR A A& 1/1
During the Current Year, the Audit Committee reviewed the audited annual RAFEERN BEXLZESCEHNAEE 2 KLE
results and the interim results of the Group, which were in the opinion of 2 FEERTFHELE TRAZXSEECDR

the Audit Committee that the preparation of such results complied with
the applicable accounting standards and the Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee noted the existing risk management and internal
control systems of the Group and also noted that review of the same will
be carried out annually.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about its reporting
responsibilities on the Company’s financial statements for the Current Year
is set out in the section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” in this
annual report.

Following the resignation of RSM Hong Kong on 3 November 2021,
ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited was the auditor of the Company since the
same date of the resignation of RSM Hong Kong to fill the casual vacancy
following its resignation for the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

Save as disclosed above, there has been no other change of Auditor in
the past three years.
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The Audit Committee is mandated to ensure continuing auditor’s
objectivity and safeguard independence of the auditors, and it has:

° determined the framework for the type and authorisation of non-
audit services for which the external auditor may provide; and

° agreed with the Board on the policy relating to the hiring of
employees or former employees of the external auditor and
monitored the applications of such policy.

The Group has not employed any staff who was formerly involved in the
Group’s statutory audit.

REMUNERATION OF AUDITOR

For the Current Year, the fees payable by the Group to the auditor
(ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited) for their statutory audit services
amounted to approximately HK$1,200,000.

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the Current Year, Ms. Cheung Hoi Fun has attended relevant
professional training to update her skills and knowledge and met the
training requirement set out in Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
communication between the Shareholders and the Board. An annual
general meeting of the Company shall be held in each year and at the
place as may be determined by the Board. Each general meeting, other
than an annual general meeting, shall be called special general meeting.

SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE A SPECIAL
GENERAL MEETING

Shareholders may convene a special general meeting of the Company
according to the provisions as set out in the Bye-Laws and the Companies
Act 1981 (as amended) of Bermuda. The procedures Shareholders can
use to convene a special general meeting are set out in the document
entitled “Procedures for Shareholder to Propose a Person for Election as
a Director” of the Company, which is currently available on the Company’s
website.

PUTTING ENQUIRIES BY SHAREHOLDERS TO THE
BOARD

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company for the attention
of the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong.
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VOTING BY POLL

Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules, any vote of shareholders
at a general meeting must be taken by poll except where the chairman,
in good faith, decides to allow a resolution which relates purely to a
procedural or administrative matter to be voted on by a show of hands.
As such, all the resolutions to be set out in the notice of the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company on 7 November 2025 (“2025
AGM”) will be voted by poll.

INVESTOR RELATIONS
The Company is committed to its shareholders’ communication policy of
open and regular communication and reasonable disclosure of information

to its shareholders.

Information of the Company is disseminated to the Shareholders in the
following manner:

o Delivery of annual and interim results and reports to all
Shareholders;
o Publication of announcements on the annual and interim results on

the Stock Exchange website, and issue of other announcements
and shareholders’ circulars in accordance with the continuing
disclosure obligations under the Listing Rules; and

° The general meeting of the Company is also an effective
communication channel between the Board and Shareholders.

Members of the Board and Chairman of various Board Committee will
attend the 2025 AGM to answer questions of the meeting and collect
views of Shareholders.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the Company’s
consolidated financial statements for each financial year which give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and the Company
and of the results and cash flows of the Group for that year. In preparing
the consolidated financial statements for the Current Year, the Board has
selected suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently; made
judgements and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable and
prepared the consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary
steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect
fraud and other irregularities.
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The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, consider that the
Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is appropriate to adopt the
going concern basis in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the nature and
extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the Company’s strategic
objectives, and ensuring that the Company establishes and maintains
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems.
Such system is to safeguard of the interest of shareholders and the
Group’s assets.

The risk management and internal control systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss. It has been an important duty
of the Board to conduct a review of internal control to ensure the
effectiveness and adequacy of the system of the Group annually or at
any time necessary. The review covers all material controls, including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management
functions, adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of
the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function, and training
program and budget. The process used to review its effectiveness
includes identification, evaluation, management measures and control and
review.

Internal Control

During the year ended 31 December, 2023, the Board reviewed the overall
effectiveness of the system of internal control of the Group over financial,
operational and compliance issues, risk management process, information
systems security, scope and quality of the management’s monitoring of
risks and the effectiveness of financial reporting and compliance with the
Listing Rules. The Board considered that the resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting
function, and their training programmes and budget were adequate. The
Board concluded that in general, the Group had set up a sound control
environment and installed necessary control mechanisms to monitor and
correct non-compliance.

Disclosure of Inside Information

The Company has adopted a policy on disclosure of Inside Information
in respect of procedures and internal control for the handling and
dissemination of inside information in a timely manner pursuant to rule
13.09 of the Listing Rules and the Inside Information Provision under Part
XIVA of the Securities and Futures Ordinance.
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Related Party Transactions

During the year ended 31 December, 2023, the related party transactions,
if any, are periodically reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

To the best of the knowledge of the Directors, information and belief,
having made all reasonable enquiries, the Group has complied in material
respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the business and operation of the Group during the Current
Year.

WHISTLE-BLOWING POLICY

The Board adopted a whistle-blowing policy to (i) foster a culture of
compliance, ethical behaviour and good corporate governance across
the Group; and (ii) promote the importance of ethical behaviour and
encourages the reporting of misconduct, unlawful and unethical behavior.
All complaints received under the whistle-blowing policy are promptly
reported to the chairman of the audit committee or designated persons
of the Group to ensure accountability and transparency. The Audit
Committee will continue to monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of the
whistle-blowing policy.

ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

The Board adopted an anti-corruption policy to achieve the highest
standards of integrity and ethical behaviour in conducting business. The
anti-corruption policy outlines specific guidelines that must be adhered
to by all Directors and employees of the Group and third parties dealing
with the Group to effectively combat corruption. It demonstrates the
Group’s commitment to the practice of ethical business conduct and the
compliance of the anti-corruption laws and regulations that apply to its
operations. The anti-corruption policy is reviewed and updated periodically
to align with the applicable laws and regulations as well as the industry
best practice.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has approved and adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”). It is the policy of the Board in declaring or recommending
a payment of dividends, to allow Shareholders to participate in the
Company’s profits and for the Company to retain adequate reserves for
future growth.
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The Board shall consider the following factors before declaring or
recommending any dividend:

° general business conditions and other internal or external factors
that may have an impact on the business or financial performance
and position of the Company;

° the financial condition and results of operations of the Group;

° the expected capital requirements and future expansion plans of
the Group;

° future prospects of the Group;

° statutory and regulatory restrictions;

° contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends by the Group
to the Shareholders or by the subsidiaries of the Company to the
Company;

° taxation considerations;

° Shareholders’ interests; and

° other factors the Board may deem relevant.

The Board may also pay half-yearly or at other suitable intervals to
be settled by it any dividend which may be payable at a fixed rate if
the Board is of the opinion that the profits of the Company justify the
payment. The payment of dividend is also subject to applicable laws and
regulations and the Bye-laws.

Whilst the Dividend Policy reflects the Board’s current views on the
financial and cash-flow position of the Group, such Dividend Policy will
continue to be reviewed from time to time and there can be no assurance
that dividends will be recommend or declared in any particular amount
for any given period. The declaration of or recommendation of declaration
of dividends is subject to the absolute discretion of the Board. Even
if the Board decides to recommend and declare dividends, the form,
frequency and amount will depend upon the operations and earnings,
capital requirements and surplus, general financial condition, contractual
restrictions and other factors of and affecting the Group.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Current Year, amendments were made to the constitutional
documents of the Company to reflect core shareholder protection
standards under the amended Listing Rules. The amendments were
approved at the annual general meeting held on 31 May 2023.

China Smarter Energy Group Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023

EEeRXERIERTMEEAEETI
ESE

. - E LAY E S L NN E
o B 75 3R 3R M AR R R ) Y ER R O
e

. RE B O IR R ERE

. AEBWERE S FHKEARKERET

£k
. RE B RIRATR
. EE R RERS

O FRAAEERRKRELAQ RN B DGR
AR T A BB R B KR 4

C ML BREE
. R M &
. EXxeBRHEBENEMLRE-

HWEEERRARAENINAE EFEN
AREBFFINREFTEENEMEESKHE
e R 122 (B E ) 3R - 2 7] S A e AE ] AR B o TR
MBI ARNGEREEER R ARIAA-

HABREBERRRTEZTSUAEENMK
RBE2RAANENEE MEZFREBER
BARBELREEBI T RBAREMN S
THRBHEBRERRE -ERIIEBT KR
EAHESETRMNBRE-WEFERTH
BYERME X BAXREEHBCRN &
ERBN BAJZBREAEG —RBBEHKR-
BHRBIARAEBRTZEREENEME
o

AEERXH

RAEE  NAR D HEBERHERER
ARBAEEFT EMRBIB T 2 Z 0 KR ER
BAKF ZEBITICHR _E_=ZFREA=1—
ARITWBRERAF RS EHfE-



Corporate Governance Report

GOING CONCERN AND MITIGATION MEASURES

During the Current Year, the Group incurred a net loss of approximately
HK$299,021,000. As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by approximately HK$1,503,713,000 and
the Group had net liabilities of approximately HK$542,383,000. As at
that date, the Group’s total bank and other borrowings amounted to
approximately HK$1,234,027,000, while its cash and cash equivalents
amounted to approximately HK$41,961,000 only.

These conditions together with other matters described in note 2 to
the consolidated financial statements, indicate the existence of material
uncertainties, which may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. However, the Company has been pursuing
a number of measures to improve the Group’s liquidity and financial
position, to finance its operations and to restructure its borrowings as
detailed in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements. Accordingly,
the directors of the Company are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare
the consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis. There
is however no assurance that all or any of the above measures will be
achieved to the extent and within the timeline expected. The Directors
will closely monitor progress and take appropriate measures to address
any setback with a view to continuing to run the businesses as a going
concern. During its review of the consolidated financial statements for the
financial year ended 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee concurred
with the going concern basis adopted by the Company.
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The Board of Directors submits herewith their annual report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Current
Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 22 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 9 to 20 and “Five Year
Financial Summary” on pages 155 to 156 form part of this directors’
report.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties Facing the
Company

The Group’s business in the period under review is affected by the
volatility and uncertainty of macro-economic conditions in the PRC and
Hong Kong.

The Group’s business is also exposed to credit, liquidity, interest rate,
foreign currency and price risks. An analysis of the Group’s financial
risk management is provided in note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group recognises its responsibility to protect the environment from its
business activities. The Group continually seeks to identify and manage
environmental impacts attributable from our operational activities in order
to minimise these impacts if possible.
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Compliance with the Relevant Laws and BIFERLERZER
Regulations

During the Current Year and up to the date of this report, as far as the RAFE RHEARRE B I LA BT
Company is aware, save as disclosed in this annual report, there was no B AN FERFTIRTEE I REB B EE KE sl
material breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations & FEAERMER MAEBE XK T BT
by the Group that has a significant impact on our business and operation. ¥ AEEZEBLRLEEEXNEATE -

Key relationships with Employees, Customers and EEEE -EFRMUEEBREBE
Suppliers

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good relationship AS£EBRREEEES BEMEEFEF R
with its employees, customers and suppliers to meet its immediate and BIENERE TR RPEKAEZ a2
long-term business goals. During the Current Year, there were no material RAFE  AEEHEHES TR REEFIL
and significant disputes between the Group and its employees, customers — #EEFE KB AL

and suppliers.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt 7 3R 3k

The financial performance of the Group for the Current Year and the AREBRRNFE Z2HBERBULAD R EAK
Company’s and the Group’s financial position at that date are set out in £ BERE B ZH EAK AR EEOE1548 2 47

the consolidated financial statements on pages 69 to 154. B BHRERN-

FINAL DIVIDEND REIRE

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the BEE@TEBERERNFE 2 RAKE (L& F
Current Year (Comparative Year: Nil). E:)o

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS TERERDBFER

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 4 November AR AFHR —_Z-_HAF+ - ANB=E=-Z
2025 to 7 November 2025, both dates inclusive, for the purpose of —“HE+— A+ BHE (EEMBEBEEN)
ascertaining Shareholders’ entitlement to attend and vote at the annual EERIBRHBE L UETELE AR FH
general meeting (“2025 AGM”) of the Company to be held on 7 November W -ZT-H&E+—F+HRITZRRAFEK
2025. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the 2025 AGM, all & ([ZZE-FHAFBRRAEAE | )TN E LK
transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificate(s) ZEZREER - AFEEREE-_Z-_AFK
must be lodged with the Company’s share register in Hong Kong, Tricor HEBEFAEITRNE LIRE FTERGBE XK
Investor Service Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt EREEBRZBER T _AF+—HA=0 (&

Road, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 3 Hi—) FHFMB =+ 2 REIXE AR B EFEK

November 2025. MBFECEREEZEEELERAAIETE
oMU AFTBERBICEERSR T OIT7
@o

THESEREEZBRARAR | —T=FFRH
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to Shareholders at the
end of the reporting period were as follows:

31.12.2023 31.12.2022
—=-= —F-—
+=BA=+—-8 +=ZA=+—H
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Contributed surplus wARER 154,440
Accumulated losses ZiFrEE (4,726,404)
(4,571,064)

Under the Companies Act 1981 (as amended) of Bermuda, the
contributed surplus account of the Company is available for distribution.
However, the Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a
distribution out of contributed surplus if:

(@) it is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as
they become due; or

(b) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than the
aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and share
premium.

In addition, under the laws of Bermuda, the Company’s share premium,
with a balance of approximately HK$4,157,427,000 as at 31 December
20283, may be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-Laws or
the laws of Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in which the Company was
incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a
pro rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the
holders of the securities of the Company by reason of their holding of the
Company’s securities.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the Current Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the past five financial years is set out on pages 155 to 156 of this report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group are set out in note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital during the Current Year are
set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The list of Directors of the Company during the Current Year and up to
the date of this annual report is set out below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chen Xiaxuan (Chairman)
Mr. Bo Dateng
Ms. Yue Lu

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Pun Hau Man

Mr. Lo Ka Ki

Mr. Choi Pun Lap (appointed on 1 August 2024)
Mr. Kwok Shun Sing (resigned on 31 July 2024)

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the 2025
AGM has a service contract with the Company which is not terminable
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

Directors’ Report
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, a confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company considers that all of the independent non-
executive Directors are independent.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and members of the senior
management by band for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out
in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements. The Company adopts
the same remuneration policy to its Directors as disclosed in the section
headed “HUMAN RESOURCES AND STAFF REMUNERATION” in this
Directors’ report.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Option Scheme as disclosed in the section headed
“Share Option Scheme” below, no equity-linked agreements that will or
may result in the Company issuing shares or that require the Company to
enter into any agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares were entered into by the Company during the year ended 31
December 2023 or subsisted at the said period.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) was adopted at
the Special General Meeting held on 18 December 2014, the date of
the Stock Exchange’s granting of the listing of and permission to deal
in the shares to be issued pursuant to the exercise of options under the
Share Option Scheme. There were no outstanding share options granted
pursuant to the Share Option Scheme.

Details of the Share Option Scheme of the Company are set out in note
37 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Apart from as disclosed under the heading “Directors’ and chief
executive’s interests and short positions in shares, underlying shares and
debentures” and in the share option scheme disclosures in note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements, at no time during the Current Year or
up to the date of this report were rights to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any
Director or their respective spouse or minor children, or were any such
rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in
any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to
the Group’s business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was
a party, and in which a Director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the period or at any
time during the Current Year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors and chief executive of the
Company had any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or any associated corporation
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571, Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO”) (i) which were notified to the
Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests or short positions which they are taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) which were required, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, to be and were entered in the register required
to be kept by the Company referred to therein; or (i) which were required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Current Year, none of the Directors or controlling shareholders
of the Company had any interests in businesses, which compete or are
likely to compete either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the
Group.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER FTERFAREMBMATARP RIEE
PERSON’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONSIN B ZREZRAA
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

So far as is known to the Directors and chief executives of the Company, EARABEZTLTEBTHRAEMMN R _Z
as at 31 December 2023, the following persons (other than Directors —ZF+-A=Z+—H WU FALT(XKAAZ
and chief executives of the Company) had, or were deemed or taken to ZEE R T EITHA BB IN) RA QB &M &
have an interest or short position in the Shares and underlying Shares $H BRNDFPEEIERABXEERBARE
of the Company, which are required to be notified to the Company and & % & H1 & & | EXVEL £2 %35 *BZMX%D
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of /‘E\K A R R P RAEERN AN A RIR I 7B

Part XV of the SFO, as recorded in the register required to be kept by the N Hi & {55 5533615 FT 17 ) & iE MO A 25 5

Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO: KB
Approximate
Number of Shares percentage of
Name of Shareholders Capacity interested issued Shares
BEEZz MHEBRTRH
REEH g4 R EE BB
(Note 1)
(BF&E1)
Gorgeous Investment Group Holding Co.,  Beneficial owner (Note 2) 4,092,084,312 (L) 43.65%
Limited
B AREERBERR EnlEB A (KiE2)
Shanghai Gorgeous Investment Interest in a controlled corporation 4,092,084,312 (L) 43.65%
Development Company Limited (Notes 2 and 3)
EBEZAREERARAR ZEGEEER (M2Kk3)
Shanghai Gu Yuan Property Development  Interest in a controlled corporation 4,092,084,312 (L) 43.65%
Company Limited (Notes 2 and 4)
EBRTEMERERRA ZEGEEER (ME2Rke)
Rich Crown International Industries Limited Interest in a controlled corporation 4,092,084,312 (L) 43.65%
(Notes 2 and 5)
EREREERBERA SEHEE R (HiE2R5)
Creaton Holdings Limited Interest in a controlled corporation 4,092,084,312 (L) 43.65%
(Notes 2 and 5)
BlZEEBR QA ZEGEE R (M2Kks)
Mr. Ko Tin Kwok (deceased) Interest in a controlled corporation 4,092,084,312 (L) 43.65%
(Notes 2 and 6)
BRBEE (BEE) ZEGEEER (M2ke)
Shandong Hi-Speed Investment Fund Beneficial owner 831,000,000 (L) 8.86%

Management Ltd.
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Approximate

Number of Shares percentage of

Name of Shareholders Capacity interested issued Shares
BEEREz (HEBRITRO
RRAH =7 KRG EE BMABESL
(Note 1)
(HsE1)
Shandong Hi-Speed Investment Fund Interest of controlled Corporation 831,000,000 (L) 8.86%
Management Company Limited (Note 7)
LWRSRREECEBERAA R tEE R (FT)
Shandong Hi-Speed Investment Holding Interest of controlled Corporation 831,000,000 (L) 8.86%
Company Limited (Note 8)
WERSREEZERERA R it E R (FIF8)
Shandong Hi-Speed Group Co., Ltd. Interest of controlled Corporation 1,497,372,364 (L) 15.97%
(Note 9)
WRSREEERRAF EESEEE R (M)
Dongying Yellow River Delta Investment Interest of controlled Corporation 831,000,000 (L) 8.86%
Fund Management Ltd. (Note 10)
EmEaA=ANREESERER EESDEEE S (H5E10)
NE
Mr. Qin Zhongyue Interest of controlled Corporation 831,000,000 (L) 8.86%
(Note 11)
=R ALE HERDEEE S (H5E11)
Safe Castle Limited Beneficial owner (Note 12) 677,736,364 (L) 7.11%
EmER A (MiE12)
China Shandong Hi-Speed Capital Interest of controlled Corporation 677,736,364 (L) 7.11%
(Note 12)
FEILIREERER HERDEEER (H512)
China Shandong Hi-Speed Financial Interest of controlled Corporation 677,736,364 (L) 7.11%
Group Limited (Note 12)
FEIIRSEREREEGR AT HEREEER (H5512)
DayShine Agricultural Supply Chain Beneficial owner 650,000,000 (L) 6.93%
Investment Fund L.P.
BEmB A
DayShine Fund Management (Cayman) Interest of controlled corporation 650,000,000 (L) 6.93%

Limited

(Note 13)
RERDEEE S (H5313)

HEZRREEZERBERAR | —E_=FF%
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Number of Shares

Approximate
percentage of

Name of Shareholders Capacity interested issued Shares
BEREHEz (HEBRTRO
RRERB 56 RO EE BREDE
(Note 1)
(PF3ET)
Shenzhen Dachang Fund Management Interest of controlled corporation 650,000,000 (L) 6.93%
Co., Ltd. (Note 14)
RIEEECERBERAA it EE R (FFE14)
Shenzhen Yukai Industrial Co., Ltd. Interest of controlled corporation 650,000,000 (L) 6.93%
(Note 15)
RINEHAERAR QA Xyt xE R (FTEE15)
Li Qinggao Interest of controlled corporation 650,000,000 (L) 6.93%
(Note 16)
TES it xE s (FTEE16)
Wang Leilei Interest of controlled corporation 650,000,000 (L) 6.93%
(Note 17)
FTEE it EE s (FE17)
Rationale (Holdings) Investment Limited Interest of controlled Corporation 650,000,000 (L) 6.93%
(Note 18)
B (ER)REAR AT it =E s (FTEE18)
Rationale Investment (Shanghai) Company  Interest of controlled Corporation 650,000,000 (L) 6.93%
Limited (Note 19)
FERE (LB)BERAF REsEEER (H5E19)
China Minsheng New Energy Investment Interest of controlled Corporation 650,000,000 (L) 6.93%
Co., Ltd (Note 20)
PRIEREAR QA REsEEER (HEE20)
China Minsheng Investment Company Interest of controlled Corporation 650,000,000 (L) 6.93%
Limited (Note 21)
FERERERNBERAA REsEEER (KE21)
Cheer Hope Holdings Limited Beneficiary of a trust 688,900,000 (L) 7.35%
BREZmA
CCBI Investments Limited Interest of controlled Corporation 688,900,000 (L) 7.35%
(Note 22)
REHEE R (ME22)
CCB International (Holdings) Limited Interest of controlled Corporation 688,900,000 (L) 7.35%

(Note 23)
Rixh A E R (HE23)
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Approximate

Number of Shares percentage of

Name of Shareholders Capacity interested issued Shares
BEEREz (HEBRITRO
RRAH =7 KRG EE BMABESL
(Note 1)
(HsE1)
CCB Financial Holdings Limited Interest of controlled Corporation 688,900,000 (L) 7.35%
(Note 24)
ZEHEEmER (i)
CCB International Group Holdings Limited  Interest of controlled Corporation 688,900,000 (L) 7.35%
(Note 25)
s AR (FiFr2s)
China Construction Bank Corporation Interest of controlled Corporation 688,900,000 (L) 7.35%
(Note 26)
PERERRITRHOBER A A EEGDEEE S (H5526)
Central Huijin Investment Ltd. Interest of controlled Corporation 688,900,000 (L) 7.35%
(Note 27)
PRESKREFEREETAA HESDEEE R (H5E27)
Ho Kwok Leung Glen Receiver (Note 28) 4,363,014,000 (L) 46.54%
fa] B £ BE A (M328)
Lai Kar Yan Receiver (Note 28) 4,363,014,000 (L) 46.54%
RER BE A (M7E28)
Industrial Bank Company Limited, Chargee (Note 2 and 29) 4,363,014,000 (L) 46.54%

Hong Kong Branch

FRILIRTIREOZ2HR -

WERTERAREENIT A (H5E25%29)

Notes: Bt 5
1. The letter “L” denotes a long position in the shares. 1.

2. As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 5 February 2021 2.

and as at 31 December 2023, Industrial Bank Co Ltd Hong Kong has
purportedly appointed Mr. Ho Kwok Leung Glen and Mr. Lai Kar Yan as
receivers over the Shares held by Gorgeous Investment Group Holdings Co.,
Limited (“Gorgeous Investment”) and the Shares held by another company,
totalling 4,363,014,000 Shares (equivalent to 46.54% of the total issued
share capital of the Company) and has caused their names to appear on the
list of substantial shareholders of the Company via The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited Disclosure of Interest Online System. Further disclosed
in the announcement of the Company dated 13 November 2024, Mr. Ho
Kwok Leung Glen and Mr. Lai Kar Yan have ceased to act as the joint and
several receives and manger over 4,363,014,000 Shares.

WMAATNBEBHRAE-_ET-_—F-_AHAZ
AREFMBRBRR-_ZT_=Z=F+=ZA=+—
A BR BERITROERABDETED T
EEZEMBEREARBEZREEREETA
LA#% B Gorgeous Investment Group Holdings
Co., Limited ( [Gorgeous Investment | ) B #

EZBRHOES—MARBEEZRGD &£
4,363,014,0008% i 7 (IHER AR BB 1T

MR LERE 2 46.54%) W BB EBHMA TSN
ERAREGESHRBERRBREREZHRT
ARRBIZEFERRBE-HWAR A B E
B_ZE_NFE+—A+ZBZAEHE—F
WE MEREERREREEETHBERL
4,363,014,0000% iz 17 &) H R R @RI 5 E A K&
BIBA

HEZRREEZERBERAR | —E_=FF%
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As at 31 December 2023, Gorgeous Investment was a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Shanghai Gorgeous Investment Development Company
Limited (“Shanghai Gorgeous”) and Shanghai Gorgeous was therefore
deemed to have an interest in all the Shares beneficially owned by Gorgeous
Investment under the SFO.

As at 31 December 2023, the equity interest of Shanghai Gorgeous was
held by Shanghai Gu Yuan Property Development Company Limited*
(“Shanghai Gu Yuan”) as to 75.66% and Shanghai Gu Yuan was therefore
deemed to have an interest in all the Shares in which Shanghai Gorgeous
was interested under the SFO.

As at 31 December 2023, the equity interest of Shanghai Gu Yuan was held
by Rich Crown International Industries Limited (“Rich Crown”) and Creaton
Holdings Limited (8] % % B B R A &) (“Creaton Holdings”) as to 59.79%
and 40.21%, respectively. Rich Crown and Creaton Holdings were therefore
deemed to have an interest in the Shares in which Shanghai Gu Yuan was
interested under the SFO.

As at 31 December 2023, the equity interest of each of Rich Crown and
Creaton Holdings was held by Mr. Ko Tin Kwok as to 100%. Mr. Ko Tin
Kwok, a former director of the Company, was therefore deemed to be
interested in the Shares in which Rich Crown and Creaton Holdings were
interested under the SFO.

As at 31 December 2023, Shandong Hi-Speed Investment Fund
Management Ltd. (“Shandong Hi-Speed Investment Fund”) was a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Shandong Hi-Speed Investment Fund Management
Company Limited* (“Shandong Hi-Speed Investment Fund Management”)
and Shandong Hi-Speed Investment Fund Management was therefore
deemed to have an interest in all the Shares beneficially owned by
Shandong Hi-Speed Investment Fund under the SFO.

As at 31 December 2023, the equity interest of Shandong Hi-Speed
Investment Fund Management was held by Shandong Hi-Speed Investment
Holding Company Limited* (1L 5 = 2R 3% & 3 1% A R A 7)) (“Shandong Hi-
Speed Investment Holding”) as to 49% and Shandong Hi-Speed Investment
Holding was therefore deemed to have an interest in all the Shares in which
Shandong Hi-Speed Investment Fund Management was interested under
the SFO.

As at 31 December 2023, Shandong Hi-Speed Investment Holding was a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Shandong Hi-Speed Group Co., Ltd.* (L& &
RE B AR A A) (“Shandong Hi-Speed Group”) and Shandong Hi-Speed
Group was therefore deemed to have an interest in all the Shares in which
Shandong Hi-Speed Investment Holding was interested under the SFO.
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As at 31 December 2023, the equity interest of Shandong Hi-Speed
Investment Fund Management was held by Dongying Yellow River Delta
Investment Fund Management Ltd* (REM &A= AMNRERESERER
‘A A)) (“Dongying Yellow River”) as to 41% and Dongying Yellow River was
therefore deemed to have an interest in all the Shares in which Shandong
Hi-Speed Investment Fund Management was interested under the SFO.

As at 31 December 2023, the entire equity interest of Dongying Yellow
River was owned by Mr. Qin Zhongyue and Mr. Qin Zhongyue was therefore
deemed to have an interest in all the Shares in which Dongying Yellow River
was interested under the SFO.

As at 31 December 2023, 666,372,364 Shares were held by Safe Castle
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Coupeville Limited, which in turn was
a wholly-owned subsidiary of China Shandong Hi-Speed Financial Group
Limited. China Shandong Hi-Speed Financial Group Limited (Stock Code:
412) is a listed company in the Stock Exchange. Accordingly, Coupeville
Limited and China Shandong Hi-Speed Financial Group Limited were
deemed to be interested in these Shares under the SFO.

As at 31 December 2023, DayShine Fund Management (Cayman) Limited
(“DayShine Fund Management”) was the general partner of DayShine Fund
and was therefore deemed to have an interest in all the Shares beneficially
owned by DayShine Agricultural Supply Chain Investment Fund L.P.
(“DayShine Fund”).

As at 31 December 2023, Shenzhen Dachang Fund Management Co.,
Ltd.r (FYI:ZEELSEERER A F) (“Shenzhen Dacheng”) was the sole
shareholder of DayShine Fund Management and was therefore deemed to
have an interest in all the Shares in which DayShine Fund Management was
interested under the SFO.

As at 31 December 2023, Shenzhen Yukai Industrial Co., Ltd.* (FJIl#
7B ¥ AR A F) (“Shenzhen Yukai”) was the controlling shareholder of
Shenzhen Dachang and was therefore deemed to have an interest in all the
Shares in which Shenzhen Dachang was interested under the SFO.

As at 31 December 2023, Li Qinggao was the controlling shareholder of
each of Shenzhen Dachang and Shenzhen Yukai and was therefore deemed
to have an interest in all the Shares in which Shenzhen Dachang was
interested under the SFO.
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As at 31 December 2023, Wang Leilei was the controlling shareholder of
Shenzhen Yukai and was therefore deemed to have an interest in all the
Shares in which Shenzhen Yukai was interested under the SFO.

As at 31 December 2023, Rationale (Holdings) Investment Limited
(“Rationale (Holdings) Investment”) was the limited partner interested in
100% of DayShine Fund, and was therefore deemed to have an interest in
all the Shares beneficially owned by DayShine Fund.

As at 31 December 2023, Rationale (Holdings) Investment Limited
(“Rationale (Holdings) Investment”) was a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Rationale Investment (Shanghai) Company Limited* (8% & ( L/8)
A BR A 7)) (“Rationale Investment (Shanghai)”) and Rationale Investment
(Shanghai) was therefore deemed to have an interest in all the Shares in
which Rationale (Holdings) Investment was interested under the SFO.

As at 31 December 2023, Rationale Investment (Shanghai) was a wholly-
owned subsidiary of China Minsheng New Energy Investment Co., Ltd.* (4
R# 6% & AR A F) (“China Minsheng New Energy”) and China Minsheng
New Energy was therefore deemed to have an interest in all the Shares in
which Rationale Investment (Shanghai) was interested under the SFO.

As at 31 December 2023, the equity interest of China Minsheng New
Energy was held by China Minsheng Investment Company Limited* (4
RA®RERH AR RAF) (“China Minsheng Investment”) as to 90% and
China Minsheng Investment was therefore deemed to have an interest in all
the Shares in which China Minsheng New Energy was interested under the
SFO.

As at 31 December 2023, Cheer Hope Holdings Limited was a wholly-
owned subsidiary of CCBI Investments Limited and CCBI Investments
Limited was therefore deemed to have an interest in all the Shares
beneficially owned by trust by Cheer Hope Holdings Limited under the SFO.

As at 31 December 2023, CCBI Investments Limited was a wholly-owned
subsidiary of CCB International (Holdings) Limited and CCB International
(Holdings) Limited was therefore deemed to have an interest in all the
Shares beneficially owned by trust by CCBI Investments Limited under the
SFO.

As at 31 December 2023, CCB International (Holdings) Limited was a
wholly-owned subsidiary of CCB Financial Holdings Limited and CCB
Financial Holdings Limited was therefore deemed to have an interest in
all the Shares beneficially owned by trust by CCB International (Holdings)
Limited under the SFO.
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25. As at 31 December 2023, CCB Financial Holdings Limited was a wholly-
owned subsidiary of CCB International Group Holdings Limited and CCB
International Group Holdings Limited was therefore deemed to have an
interest in all the Shares beneficially owned by trust by CCB Financial
Holdings Limited under the SFO.

26. As at 31 December 2023, CCB International Group Holdings was a wholly
owned subsidiary of China Construction Bank Corporation and China
Construction Bank Corporation was therefore deemed to have an interest
in all the Shares beneficially owned by trust by CCB International Group
Holdings Limited under the SFO.

27. As at 31 December 2023, CCB International Group Holdings Limited was
held by Central Huijin Investment Ltd. as to 57.11% and Central Huijin
Investment Ltd. was therefore deemed to have an interest in all the Shares
beneficially owned by trust by CCB Financial Holdings Limited under the
SFO.

28. Messrs Ho Kwok Leung Glen and Lai Kar Yan (together, the “Receivers”)
have been appointed as joint and several receivers and managers over
4,363,014,000 shares of China Smarter Energy Group Holdings Limited
held by Gorgeous Investment Group Holding Co., Limited and Golden Value
Worldwide Limited (the “Charged Shares”).

29. Industrial Bank Company Limited, Hong Kong Branch, enforces the Charged
Shares as chargee by notifying the relevant broker through the Receivers.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Directors
were not aware of any other person (other than the Directors and chief
executives of the Company) who had, or was deemed or taken to have,
an interest or short position in the Shares and underlying Shares of the
Company which are required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO, as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 to
the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by the Directors. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, the
Company confirmed that all Directors have complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code throughout the Current Year.

*

For identification purpose only
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION

For the Current Year, the Group had no connected transaction as defined
in the Listing Rules.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company at 31 December
2023 are set out in note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

BORROWINGS

Particulars of borrowings of the Group at 31 December 2023 are set out
in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Contracts with the Group’s five largest customers combined by value,
accounted for 96.5% in value of total revenue during the Current Year,
while contracts with the Group’s largest customer by value, accounted for
61.7% in value of total revenue during the Current Year.

The Group has no major suppliers as defined under the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, their associates or any
other shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more
than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had an interest in the major
suppliers or customers noted above.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND STAFF REMUNERATION

The Group has a dedicated management team with extensive experience
and extensive service, and has a technological talent team with high
technological standard and abundant practicable experience. They are
the force for the rapid growth and expansion of the Group since its
establishment.

For the Current Year, total staff cost, including directors’ remuneration,
was approximately HK$9,112,000, of which contributions to defined
contribution retirement schemes were approximately HK$404,000. The
Group has been able to retain and motivate outstanding technological
and management talents through remuneration at a competitive level, as
well as training and development plans.
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The Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC provide retirement, medical,
employment injury, unemployment and maternity benefits to its employees
in accordance with a state-managed social welfare scheme operated
by the local government of the PRC, and the relevant PRC rules
and regulations. At the same time, the employees of the Company’s
subsidiaries in the PRC are members of a long-term dormitory provident
fund scheme operated by the local government of the PRC. According
to the scheme, the Group provides dormitory provident fund to the
employees in the PRC in accordance with the relevant PRC rules and
regulations.

Certain executive Directors and members of the senior management of
the Group, being non-PRC citizens, may elect not to participate in the
state-managed social welfare scheme operated by the local government
of the PRC. If there is any change in the PRC rules and regulations with
respect to the retirement scheme upon which the Group is required to
contribute to the social welfare scheme for non-PRC citizens, the Group
shall comply with such new rules and regulations within the time limit
prescribed by the relevant authorities.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group were entered
into or existed during the Current Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, the Directors shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company against all losses
and liabilities etc which they may incur or sustain by reason about the
execution of their duties, provided that this indemnity shall not extend to
any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to any
of the Directors. The Company has also arranged appropriate directors’
and liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the Group.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
a sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules during the
Current Year and up to the date of this report.
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IMPORTANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Possible mandatory general offer

As announced by the Company on 5 February 2021, the Company
was informed by Rich Crown International Industries Limited (“Rich
Crown”) together with Gorgeous Investment Group Holdings Co., Limited
(“Gorgeous Investment”) that a dispute has arisen to which Gorgeous
Investment is a party. As at the date of that announcement, Gorgeous
Investment was the legal and beneficial owner of 4,092,084,312 shares
of the Company, representing approximately 43.65% of the entire issued
share capital of the Company. Gorgeous Investment is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Shanghai Gorgeous Investment Development Company
Limited, which in turn is held by Shanghai Gu Yuan Property Development
Company Limited (“Shanghai Gu Yuan”) as to 75.66%. The equity interest
of Shanghai Gu Yuan is held by Rich Crown and Creaton Holdings Limited
(“Creaton”) as to 59.79% and 40.21%, respectively. The equity interest of
each of Rich Crown and Creaton is held by Mr. Ko Tin Kwok as to 100%.

The said dispute involved a facility agreement which was entered into
between Rich Crown and Industrial Bank Co., Ltd. (the “Lender”) in 2018.
The facility agreement was secured by a total of 4,363,014,000 shares
of the Company (accounted for 46.54% of the total issued share capital
of the Company) (the “Pledged Shares”) by way of two account charges,
being (i) an account charge executed by Gorgeous Investment (as
chargor) in favour of the Lender, and (i) an account charge executed by
another company (as chargor) also in favour of the Lender. In December
2020, the Lender has purportedly taken action to enforce the security
interest in the Pledged Shares and appointed the purported receivers (the
“Purported Receivers”) over the Pledged Shares. The Board was given to
understand that Gorgeous Investment has already sought legal advices
and has taken active legal actions against the Lender and the Purported
Receivers.

The appointment of the Purported Receivers as the receivers over the
Pledged Shares may result in the sale of the Pledged Shares to other
third-party purchasers, which may in turn trigger a mandatory general
offer for relevant securities of the Company. The Company was informed
by the Purported Receivers that they have been in discussions with
several investors and no legally binding agreement in relation to the
Pledged Shares has been executed. The appointment of the Purported
Receivers may or may not lead to a mandatory general offer.
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For details of the possible mandatory general offer, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 5 February 2021, 8 March 2021,
8 April 2021, 7 May 2021, 7 June 2021, 2 July 2021, 2 August 2021,
6 September 2021, 6 October 2021, 8 November 2021, 2 December
2021, 4 January 2022, 4 February 2022, 11 March 2022, 7 April 2022,
10 May 2022, 13 June 2022, 6 July 2022, 9 August 2022, 9 September
2022, 7 October 2022, 15 November 2022, 5 December 2022, 6 January
2023, 8 February 2023, 8 March 2023, 4 April 2023, 3 May 2023 and
23 June 2023. As disclosed in the announcement dated 23 June 2023,
after making appropriate enquiries with the Purported Receivers, there is
no indication to the Company that any legally binding agreement being
entered into by the Purported Receivers. As the offer period has spanned
for over two years since 5 February 2021, the Company has never been
notified by the Purported Receivers of signing of any memorandum of
understanding, letter of intent or legally binding agreement with any
investor. Based on the above and with reference to PN24, the offer period
(“Offer Period”) for the shares of the Company arising as a result of the
possible sale of the Controlling Stake to potential purchasers under Rule
26.1 of the Takeovers Code is ended on the date of this announcement,
being 23 June 2023. For further details, please refer to the announcement
dated 23 June 2023 for reference.

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include the review and
supervision of the Group’s financial reporting system and internal control
procedures, review of the Group’s consolidated financial statements and
review of the relationship with the auditors of the Company. The Audit
Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors of the
Company as at 31 December 2023.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the Group’s senior management
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and
reviewed the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the Current
Year.
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During the Company’s communication with the auditor of the Company,
the Company understands and the auditor confirmed that the going
concern (paragraph 1 (Going concern) under “Basis for Disclaimer of
Opinion” as stated in the independent auditor’s report on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023
below) itself forms the basis for disclaimer of opinion. Had the auditor
not disclaimed their opinion on the Company’s going concern, but only
modified their opinion on matters (a) and (b) as stated under paragraph
2 (Other matters) of the independent auditor’s report on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023
below, the auditor would have issued a qualified opinion (i.e. “Except for”).

In relation to the basis of disclaimer of opinion on the Company’s ability
to continue as going concern, reference is made to Paragraph 25 of
“Hong Kong Accounting Standard 1 (Revised) — Presentation of Financial
Statements” (“HKAS 1”), which provides that, among other, “ An entity
shall prepare financial statements on a going concern basis unless
management either intends to liquidate the entity or to cease trading, or
has no realistic alternative but to do so. When management is aware,
in making its assessment, of material uncertainties related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the entity’s ability to
continue as a going concern, the entity shall disclose those uncertainties.”

In this regard, the management of the Company was of the view that
the Group, for the year ended 31 December 2023, did not (i) intend to
liquidate; (ii) cease trading; and (iii) have imminent pressure that render
itself having no realistic alternative but to either liquidate itself or cease
trading. As such, in accordance with the HKAS 1, the management of the
Company adopted going concern assumptions in the preparation of this
report. Further, as disclosed in this report, the management was of the
view that the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern hinged on
the successful outcome of the following measures which are subject to
multiple uncertainties, including:

(@) the successful negotiation with the lenders for extension of the
maturity date of debts fallen due or expected to fall due within the
next 12 months;

(b) the successful negotiation with the lenders of borrowings maturing
after the next 12 months, requesting to further delay the loan
repayment schedules;

(c) the successful obtaining of other possible financings; and

(d) the successful disposal of further solar power plants of the Group.
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As to the auditor’s assessment on going concern assumption, paragraph
6 of “Hong Kong Standard on Auditing 570 (Revised) — Going Concern”
(“HKSA 570") provides that, “the auditor’'s responsibilities are to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding, and conclude on, the
appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements, and to conclude,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists about the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern.”

During the audit of the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2023 and prior to the release of the annual
results for the year ended 31 December 2023, the management and the
auditors discussed on the above issues. The management understood
from its discussion with the auditors that difference in views between
the management and the auditors stemmed from the fact that sufficient
audit evidence could not be obtained in respect of the abovementioned
uncertainties, which were inherently difficult for the auditors to obtain
sufficient audit evidence as required under paragraph 6 of HKSA 570.

As such, as referred to in this report, the auditors recognised that the
validity of going concern basis were subject to the uncertainties set out
above, and the auditors “were unable to obtain sufficient audit evidence
about the appropriateness of the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis due to the combined effects of the
multiple uncertainties described above”.

Apart from the auditing technicalities set out above, the Group did
incur net loss of HK$299.0 million for the year ended 31 December
2023, it generated positive operating cash flows of HK$4.8 million.
Such disparity between accounting loss and positive operating cash
flow is no coincidence; the Company submits that it is inherent to the
Group’s business cycle and that the non-cash expense items, such as
depreciation, amortisation and impairment, do not directly impact the
Group’s day-to-day operations and hence should have less weight in the
assessment of the Group’s ability of operating with going concern when
compared with the actual cash flow.

The audit committee concurred the management’s position and basis,
after considering the facts and circumstances of the Group as set out
above. Further, the auditors reported to and discussed with the audit
committee on the disclaimer of opinion, and the audit committee agreed
that the disclaimer of opinion was appropriate under the prevailing
auditing standards.

Directors’ Report

EEERESE

ERREMEBELERROTME [FER
BOERIEL70 (BATA) —HELZ] ([&
BZEEREE70% ] ) BRI E - [T EAEN A
RIRNEEEERUM BRI ERTE
REGHEENBEUHERTED BENEX
BEILSH AR I@ﬁ%%ﬁ%%%@ﬁ%

HEw BERBECLNENREREEERT
BEM-
NERAEBRE T -_=F+_-_A=+—

BIEFENSEMBEHRREA ARERMER
E_E_ZF+ A=+ HUEFENEE
Xz EREECEZEMM LA EEETT
Ao BB ERBAN TR PERED
EERZEEM ENE LD BIRNEEH £
BATEERREESRDONELZEE MKET
BERRHERZBEME A RHEANETE
BREERFESTORFOR R TN R AEZE

=K
ag ©

BRIkt + 38k 2 7 o P st - A% BED 3R Z%Tii“‘“,i“‘%
EENARUERT EXRB I EEREMETE
BN Ll ZETHEREZNRATE
TR [BER AR ELERERREGT A Y
BREROEEMLESEHERERE

BREXHIEBZEMMN AEBREBEE S
T+ A=+t ALFEELEEHEESE
#9299,000,000 T EEA FKLEBERE
4,800,000 T B BIEHEFLERERE
WEBEZEETIIETE AR RARABEAELAEE
¥ AHNEERE BNE BHERES
FEEHTBETEEEYEASENEE
EE RARGCHHEASEMNBSELSEEN L
HERRSREMLLER D -

N
A

T BREERLMAEENEERIT
BB RS KRR I T%%ZEW
%Zi,\ BEABRZIRBT FTERER
CERZEETRE *ETFEHE’J%?TE
%%aiﬂ’ﬂ’ﬁix& e

el
Hﬂh

=]

T I8 2h R B
F*mmﬂ%}

THESEREEZBRARAR | —T=FFRH




Directors’ Report

EEEHRAE

The Company targets to implement the measures as depicted above.
Current status is summarised as follows:

(@) the successful negotiation with the lenders for extension of the
maturity date of debts fallen due or expected to fall due within the
next 12 months;

(b) the successful negotiation with the lenders of borrowings maturing
after the next 12 months, requesting to further delay the loan
repayment schedules;

As to rescheduling of debts, the Group is in the progress of
rescheduling its debts with its major creditor. Based on information
currently available to the Group, the Group estimates that there will
be constructive progress with the debt rescheduling in the coming
year. The Company will release an announcement to inform the
market in this regard as and when appropriate.

(c) the successful obtaining of other possible financings; and

The Group is currently evaluating various fund-raising activities to
be conducted, including but not limited to rights issue, open offer,
placing of new shares and issuance of convertible securities. The
Company believes that the abovementioned fund-raising activities
will certainly improve the Group’s financial position. Yet, the actual
timing of conducting the abovementioned fund-raising activities
does unavoidably depend on, among others, the market situation.

The Company sought views from the auditors and audit committee on the
effectiveness of the plan to resolve the disclaimer of opinion. The auditors
and audit committee, after considering the current implementation status
of the measures set out above, are of the view that the plan is effective in
resolving the disclaimer of opinion.
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AUDITORS

Upon the resignation of RSM Hong Kong on 3 November 2021,
ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited was appointed as the auditor of the
Company on the same date of the resignation of RSM Hong Kong to fill
the casual vacancy following its resignation. Save as disclosed herein,
there has been no other change of Auditor in the past three years.

At the last annual general meeting of the Company, ZHONGHUI ANDA
CPA Limited was re-appointed as the auditor of the Company before its
resignation.

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by ZHONGHUI
ANDA CPA Limited which will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-appointment at the next annual general meeting.

A resolution for the re-appointment of ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

ANNUAL REPORT

This annual report is printed in English and Chinese and is available
on the Stock Exchange’s website at “www.hkexnews.hk” under
the “Listed Company Information” and our Company’s website at
“www.cse1004.com”. Printed copies in both languages are posted to
Shareholders.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The 2025 AGM will be held on 7 November 2025. Details of 2025 AGM
are set out in the notice of the 2025 AGM which constitutes part of the
circular to be sent to the Company’s shareholders together with this
annual report. Notice of the 2025 AGM and the proxy form will also be
available on websites of both the Stock Exchange and the Company.

On behalf of the Board

China Smarter Energy Group Holdings Limited
Chen Xiaxuan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 September 2025
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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ZHONGHUI

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA SMARTER ENERGY GROUP
HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of
China Smarter Energy Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 69
to 154, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, and consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group. Because of the significance of the matters described in the
Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we were not able to
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit
opinion on these consolidated financial statements. In all other respects,
in our opinion, the consolidated financial statements have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OPINION

Scope limitation relating to the assessment on
the appropriateness of the going concern basis of
preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements,
which indicates that the Group incurred a loss of approximately
HK$299,021,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023 and, as of
that date, the Group’ s current liabilities exceeded its current assets
by approximately HK$1,503,713,000 and the Group had net liabilities
of approximately HK$542,383,000. As at that date, the Group’s total
borrowings amounted to approximately HK$1,234,027,000, while its cash
and cash equivalents amounted to approximately HK$41,961,000 only.
These conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may
cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and therefore the Group may be unable to realise its assets and
discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OPINION (CONTINUED)

Scope limitation relating to the assessment on
the appropriateness of the going concern basis of
preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)

The directors of the Company have been undertaking measures to
improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position, which are set out in
note 2 to the consolidated financial statements. The validity of the going
concern assumptions on which the consolidated financial statements
have been prepared depends on the outcome of these measures, which
are subject to multiple uncertainties, including:

(@) the successful negotiation with the lenders for extension of the
maturity date of debts fallen due or expected to fall due within the
next 12 months;

(b) the successful negotiation with the lenders of borrowings maturing
after the next 12 months, requesting to further delay the loan
repayment schedules;

(c) the successful obtaining of other possible financings; and
(d) the successful disposal of further solar power plants of the Group.

Given that the Group’s plans and measures to address the going concern
uncertainties are either at a preliminary stage or still in progress, and
certain plans and measures are in the absence of written contractual
agreements or other documentary supporting evidence from relevant
counterparties as at the date the consolidated financial statements were
approved and authorised for issue, we were unable to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence that we considered necessary to assess the
assumptions and judgments supporting the directors’ assessment of
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and the likelihood
of success of the Group’s plans and measures. There were no other
satisfactory audit procedures that we could adopt to satisfy ourselves
as to the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern
basis of accounting and the adequacy of the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements.

Should the Group be unable to operate as a going concern in the
foreseeable future, adjustments would have to be made to write down
the carrying value of the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to
provide for any further liabilities that might arise, and to reclassify non-
current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current
liabilities respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not been
reflected in these consolidated financial statements.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OPINION (CONTINUED)

Scope limitation relating to the assessment on
the appropriateness of the going concern basis of
preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)

In the absence of sufficient appropriate audit evidence of the above,
we were unable to ascertain whether the use of the going concern
assumption in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements is
appropriate.

Others matters

Had we not disclaimed our opinion in respect of the matters described
in the Basis of Disclaimer of Opinion section above, we would otherwise
have qualified in respect of the scope limitations on our audit relating to
the matters detailed below.

(a)

Insufficient accounting records of a subsidiary -
Jinchang Jintai Photovoltaic Company Limited
(“Jinchang Jintai”)

As disclosed in note 43, the Company announced that it had just
been informed that the Jinchuan District People’s Court of Jinchang
City of Gansu Municipality* (HEE& @2 m 2/l & ARJERR) (the
“PRC Court”) made a civil ruling on 26 March 2024 accepting the
bankruptcy reorganization application in respect of Jinchang Jintai,
an indirect and wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, for the
reasons of its inability to repay its indebtedness, and its plausibility
and necessity of reorganization.

As advised by the board of directors, since Jinchang Jintai has
been taken over by the Administrator assigned by the PRC
Count on 3 June 2024, the Group could only provide the basic
information of 2023 on hand, such as management accounts,
ledgers and sub-ledgers accounts, but could not provide further
information such as vouchers, bank statements, agreements
and documentation, which were refused to be provided by the
Administrator of Jinchang Jintai. The existing records were not
considered to be a sufficient level for our audit purposes.

China Smarter Energy Group Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023

TERRERNEE (F)

BRAMEUAFESERERERE
ﬁf{ﬁﬁ%%ﬁ%ﬁi%ﬁﬁ&%ﬂ
IIE

ERZ LR REE 2 ERREZBRAT
EEEIEEEARECERRRUGEY
BHEREBAME-

HfttE18R

MESHRLEHTERBEEANEE] A ER
BERTER RESHABE TAEENE
HEERGREEENER -

(a) —EMNEBLARMNSIFHTEIR -
CERBAREHERLIA([£
giR%k])

WMANERE WIS MR M FT43T TR B
NAEM ZEFSMNESHN HHEE 2
EmalEARER (TRBEZER])E
R-ZB-_ME=A-+"BHELESEH
FoOEMER EARBEZENEA
A ERFTELMNEESERFE HEH
BHENEEER UREEEZAE
MR LB o

HNEEEMEN B2ERFER
FE_MEAAZBRPBEERERNE
BARENR BEBEERMHTH
“ECZFMEARER PIMERK
B-2BERLPAAR EEEREHREE
WENEEAEBRBZE-—FER
PlanERE  IRITHIRE - W XX -]
BB M REREAMEESTZER
BAY
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OPINION (CONTINUED)

Others matters (Continued)

(a)

Insufficient accounting records of a subsidiary -
Jinchang Jintai Photovoltaic Company Limited
(“Jinchang Jintai”) (Continued)

In the absence of the complete 2023 financial records of Jinchang
Jintai, the board of directors considered that they could only use
their best endeavor to preserve the books and records that were
left behind and they were unable to determine whether these
business records were complete in the first place, and they had no
other access to such business records despite they have taken all
reasonable steps and have used their best endeavor to locate such
business records.

The Group was unable to arrange us to perform certain audit
procedure at the end of year 2023, and together with the
information above, we were unable to have appropriate sufficient
audit evidence to consider whether the Group had control of
Jinchang Jintai throughout the financial year.

As a result of the above matters, we have not been able to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to ascertain whether the
income and expenses for the year ended 31 December 2023 and
the assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2023 of Jinchang
Jintai, as detailed below, and other related disclosure notes in
relation to Jinchang Jintai, as included in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group, have been accurately recorded and
properly accounted for in the consolidated financial statements.

Extract of Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income
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2023
—E—=

HK$’000

F&T

Revenue WA 111,424

Cost of sales ﬁﬁ%ﬁiﬁ (68,825)

Provisions for litigations and claims FARRERE (1,510)

Administrative expenses TEAX (2,778)

Finance costs B & B A (33,337)

Income tax credit FIECE %) 6,589
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TERRERNEE (F)
HibEE (&)

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OPINION (CONTINUED)

Others matters (Continued)

(@) Insufficient accounting records of a subsidiary - (a)
Jinchang Jintai Photovoltaic Company Limited

(“Jinchang Jintai”) (Continued)

— BB ARNETREIR -
TEREXREHIERAFD ([£

g&REl) (&)

Extract of Consolidated Statement of Financial Position LEBRAEXCHE
2023
—®&—-=
HK$’000
FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y- BB KB 324,223
Intangible assets BV EE 366,548
Current assets REBEE
Trade and bill receivables FEWE 5 BRAR R ERERE 685,457
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TERTHRIE -~ R e R E M ERER K 6,111
Bank and cash balances RITNIA S ER 86
Current liabilities RBEE
Accruals and other payables FEETEBRA R EMENERER 239,884
Bank and other borrowings RITREMBERK 499,769
Provisions for litigations and claims FARRERE 32,255
Current tax liabilities BVEAFR IE B & 7,140
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Deferred tax liabilities RERIEEE 91,637
Accordingly, we were unable to determine whether any adjustments It EEREBERETALEHNDRE

might have been found necessary in respect of recorded or
unrecorded transactions and the elements making up the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December

2023.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OPINION (CONTINUED) TRREENEE (H)

Others matters (Continued) HEE (&)

(b) Scope limitation on the estimation of impairment (b) AREBREBEBSEMTTZEHE
losses on refundable deposits PR
As disclosed in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements, IR E MR 26T E - &
the Group had refundable deposits amounting to HK$333,326,000 SERRELRIEMNBTERBSEEKE
receivable from a vendor in relation to a potential acquisition 77 B AR B 1% & £A3383,326,00078 7T ©
which was already terminated. In March 2020, the Group agreed RZE-_ZTF=H BEEHEH
a repayment timetable with the vendor to settle the refundable MEEBRBER UR-_ZE=-_FFNA
deposits by 30 September 2020 and such was pledged by certain =+ HAEBERRELES WUEHE
solar plants and machineries owned by the vendor to secure BHE T ARG EEMEMEBEET
the repayments of the deposits to the Group. The vendor was NHERR BESEEEERS-BARZ
in default of the payment on 30 September 2020. As advised EZTEFAA=ZTRHEBRANR -FHW
by the management, the pledged assets was low value and the EREMEM ECEREEBEEE"
Group has no access to these assets. At 31 December 2023 and B BEEEEZINEZEEE- RN
2022, the impairment losses of the refundable deposits amounting —=EFRZFEF+=ZRA=+—8"
to HK$333,326,000 and HK$235,364,000 was recognised ERABARERSZREBES AR
respectively. During the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, 333,326,000/ 7T }235,364,000/% JT °
the impairment losses amounted to HK$97,962,000 and nil was BHE-_Z-_=FK-_ZT-_-_%F+=A
recognised respectively. =+—BLEFE SR ERRAEEE

97,962,000/ 7T & =& °
The Group has engaged legal counsel to proactively contact the EEECZREEEREIYBEE S -
vendor regarding the outstanding refundable deposits but these MAREENARERSETZS HX
efforts were unsuccessful. The vendor’s listed contact number BEMEKRR -KEF BEAMIBRKE
was found to be invalid. A formal demand letter sent to the ERBERR - FHETEHZIENER
vendor was returned as undeliverable. Additionally, site visits to BN AR EMRE BN B E
the vendor’s premises revealed no personnel present or actively SEREESE  BIRZEEARST
working. Although the Group and the vendor previously agreed on NEABRGEX-BE BEEEHEE
a preliminary repayment timetable, further steps — including but not FRAIE MY E R R EK L
limited to price negotiations, due diligence, and the execution of a BERERLEZHDNHERIGE—F7TE 8
formal agreement — are required to implement this arrangement. To FETERESHGE SRAERES
date, no such formal agreement has been finalized. ERXRBFEESRIE MRERKRIE
173 5% ©

We were not provided with the financial information of the vendor EEWRERBEA 2V BENKIER
nor information of the assets to be pledged by the vendor as BEHREEEARBERNRERS ZIKE
security for settlement of the refundable deposits in order for us to ZER UNEESHHBEFEERSLZ
assess the financial capability of the vendor to repay the deposits. e h- Al EEBEZESARER
Accordingly, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit BECEZRE UWEBEARERSHN
evidence to determine whether the impairment losses on the BEBERGEHZARM -AM FF
refundable deposits were properly stated. However, we are satisfied FEHR_E_=F+=_A=+—HZZ
that the nil balance as at 31 December 2023 is fairly stated. EREANTES -
As a result, we were unable to determine whether any adjustments It EEBMEETREGARRNZ
might have been found necessary in respect of the carrying TZF+T A=+ —HZUREESEK
amounts of the refundable deposits as at 31 December 2022 and HEAEREBE T _=FKE_FT_—
impairment losses recognised in profit or loss for the year ended F+-—A=+—BHULFERBEZERZ
31 December 2023 and 2022. Reference is made to the circular BEBBETEMAE  ZRAKTRAA
and notice of the special general meeting of the Company dated B AT -_—_F+AZ+ EBZRANK
26 October 2022, RIRRFRIREEE -
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OPINION (CONTINUED)

Responsibilities of Directors for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
issued by the HKICPA and to issue an auditor’s report. However, because
of the significance of the material uncertainty relating to the going concern
basis described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our
report, we were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial
statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Tse Kit Yan

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number PO8158
Hong Kong, 25 September 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

REEEREMEZEKER

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HLEE

2023 2022
—E-= —E-=
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FHExT FHET
Revenue 'ON 8 178,372 195,910
Cost of sales $HE AR (109,234) (112,635)
69,138 83,275
Other income H A 9 11,931 9,514
Other gains and losses, net Hfh o & B 18 % 2R 10 22 324
Impairment losses on trade receivables  EUE 5 R R EE 1B 24 (27,754) -
Impairment losses on other receivables - 1 & Uk 18 ol (B B 18 (25,965) s
Impairment losses on refundable deposits A & & 1% & B (E &5 18 26 (97,962) =
Net reversal of provisions/(provisions) for s 7A K REBE R D /(B #H)
litigations and claims iR 33 39,354 (8,240)
Administrative and operating expenses ~ 1TH M & &5 (27,067) (44,972)
(Loss)/profit from operations RESEE (FE) B R (58,303) 39,901
Finance costs BERA 12 (242,450) (142,430)
Loss before tax BRELATE R (300,753) (102,529)
Income tax credit FRSTHIE % 13 1,732 7,084
Loss for the year REEER 14 (299,021) (95,445)
Other comprehensive income/ Hitp 2w (FR)
(expense) after tax: HBRBIE

Items that will not be reclassified to profit T & E#H B EEw 2 HEE -
or loss:
Fair value changes of equity investments & A #t B{EF A Hith 2 W

at fair value through other (MRAREEFAHMEEK

comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) wH)ZBRAEERAREBEED 312
Items that may be reclassified to profit or FJREEF HIEF 8 2 HH -

loss:
Exchange differences on translating MEBRIINEGEE CEHZ8

foreign operations (1,315) 14,789
Release of reserves upon disposal of HE—MHBRARRRERHEES

a subsidiary (13)
Release of reserves upon deemed RS — M B A R R EEBR

disposal of a subsidiary ] (4)
Other comprehensive (expense)/income  AEEE M 2w (EE), Uk

for the year, net of tax MR FIE (1,665) 15,084
Total comprehensive expense for the year N4 & % [ &5 18 4458 (300,686) (80,361)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

REEEREMEZEKER

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HLEE

2023 2022
—EZ=H —F-—
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FET FHET
Loss for the year attributable to: DTATELAXRFEES:
Owners of the Company RAREB A (299,020) (94,744)
Non-controlling interests e IR i (1) (7071)

(299,021) (95,445)

Total comprehensive expense for DTATEERFELZHERER

the year attributable to: #EE:
Owners of the Company AKAREE A (300,685) (79,660)
Non-controlling interests FEFE IR A (1) (701)
(300,686) (80,361)
Loss per share SRER
Basic (HK cents per share) 2R (FRAEW) 18 (3.19) (1.01)
Diluted (HK cents per share) B (gD 18 (3.19)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

mE BB R

At 31 December 2023
RZZEZ=F+-A=+—H

2023 2022
—Zg2-= - —
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FHExT FHET
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - -WEKRZE 19 691,726 764,071
Right-of-use assets FEREEE 20 12,088 14,955
Intangible assets mAE 21 366,548 398,424
Financial assets at FVTOCI BRARBEFAEMEZEREZ
TRUEE 23 - 350
Club membership debenture EMEgEES 23 130 130
1,070,492 1,177,930
Current assets REEE
Trade and bill receivables Y E P RS RERRIE 24 779,500 668,960
Prepayments, deposits and other FENFIE Ze R EMmERER
receivables 25 28,132 50,709
Refundable deposits AREES 26 - 98,220
Financial assets at FVTPL RARBEFSABRZZEHEE 27 42 43
Restricted bank deposits ZRHIRITER 28 - 638

Bank and cash balances

RITRRSEH 29 41,961 157,287

849,635 975,857
Current liabilities RBAE
Accruals and other payables FET B A % B fh FE AT AR R 30 877,276 638,181
Bank and other borrowings HRIT R H A AR 31 1,234,027 1,341,476
Lease liabilities HEBE 32 3,690 6,179
Provisions for litigations and claims FARRERB 33 231,197 273,954
Amounts due to related parties FE A BE B 5 RRIA 34 - 9,660
Current tax liabilities AR A E 7,158 7,261

2,353,348 2,276,711

Net current liabilities REBEEFE (1,503,713) (1,300,854)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBER (433,221) (122,924)
Non-current liabilities kRBER
Lease liabilities HEAE 32 10,960 11,952
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIBBE 35 98,202 106,821

109,162 118,773
NET LIABILITIES E8EFHE (542,383) (241,697)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

mE BB R

At 31 December 2023
RZZBZ=F+-A=+—H

2023 2022
—E-=F —F-—
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
ihg=2 FTHEx FHET
Equity s

Share capital (L& 36 23,436 23,436
Reserves i 39 (565,798) (265,113)

Equity attributable to owners of EN/NSIE RS N e
the Company (542,362) (241,677)
Non-controlling interests FEFE IR M A (21) (20)
TOTAL EQUITY R (542,383) (241,697)

Approved by the Board of Directors on 25 September 2025 and are HEZE€R T -_RAFEAA-+HEBZET

signed on its behalf by: MU TEERKRES:
Chen Xiaxuan Pun Hau Man
PR = &F BEN
Director Director
EF EE

72 China Smarter Energy Group Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023




Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

REEZSBR

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
BE-_E-_=+-_A=+—HILtEE

Attributable to owners of Company

KAAEEAEE
Investment  Exchange  Statutory Non-
Share Share Contributed revaluation fluctuation reserve Accumulated controlling
capital premium surplus reserve reserve fund losses Total interests  Total equity
RE Ej

BE  BROEE  HARB  EERE  KBREE iEREE  RHER @i FERER BER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThEr FHT T T T T T FhEr T T
At1 January 2022 W-B--&—f-f 03436 4157427 77100 (339394 (476000 10514  (4043502)  (162,017) 5409 (156,608
Total comprehensive loss for ~ AFE2ABBAE
the year - - - 312 14772 S @4 (79,660 70 (80361)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-HHBAR - - - - = = = = (4,728) (4,728)
Appropriation to a statutory ~ AE R ERR
reserve - - - - - 2,519 (2,519) - - -
Disposal of financial assets at K ERA AL BE AL
FVTOCI 2EMGZEREE - - - 331,504 = - (331594) = = =
At 31 December 2022 R-Z2--%+-A
=+-f 2343 4157427 71102 (7489 (32828 13033 (4472359  (241677) 00 (241,67
At 1 January 2023 W-F-z&-f-f 41574271 17102 (32,628) 13033 (4472359)  (241,677) (241,697)
Total comprehensive loss for ~ AEE2EHBAE
the year (1,315) (299,020) (300,685) (300,686)
Appropriation to a statutory A AR
reserve (579)
Disposal of financial assets at &R A4 BEFF AL
FVTOCI rENEZEREE (38)
At 31 December 2023 RZZZ=%+ZA4
—+-H 4157421 17402 (7,800) 13612 (477199)  (542,362)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERETRER

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HLEE

2023 2022
—E=-= —E-=
HK$°000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING KREEBREECHRESRE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax BE AT EE (300,753) (102,529)
Adjustments for: AT SBEELHE
Finance costs BB KA 242,450 142,430
Depreciation of property, plant and VI BE MERETE
equipment 60,934 62,561
Amortisation of intangible assets B EERE 26,182 27,624
(Reversal of provisions)/provisions for FARRE (BEER) BE
litigations and claims (39,354) 8,240
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CHREEENE 2,073 3,133
Net loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—HE AR EIBFE - 1,552
(Gain)/loss on disposals of property, plant HEWME BER&EZ (Ks)
and equipment 518 (22) 36
Impairment losses on trade receivables EWE 5RO ERERE 27,754 =
Impairment losses on refundable deposits RERS 2 REEE 97,962 =
Impairment losses on other receivables H {th i W SR R (B S 18 25,965 =
Loss on deemed disposal of a subsidiary BIEHE —HKBRR ZEIE - (165)
Bank interest income FITH B WA (624) (1,031)
Imputed interest income of accrued revenue BB BL FEET IR A Z HEE R B U A
on tariff subsidy (7,460) (6,030)

Operating cash flows before working capital ~ &EE & E B2 KCLBEERE

changes 135,107 135,821
Change in accruals and other payables FEET 2 FA B HL B 5 BR AR 19,704 53,892
Change in prepayments, deposits and other ~ TEfI 78 ~ #Z & I H b fB UL BR 3%
receivables 8 (4,113) 18,039
Change in restricted bank deposits R HIRITIF R 119
Change in financial assets at FVTPL BEARBEFABZZEHEE
23 4
Change in trade payables BB SERRES (12)
Change in trade and bill receivables EWE SRR R EREEE (140,394) (99,268)
Cash generated from operations CEEEEE 7RG 10,305 108,595
Lease interests paid BENEEFE - (1,114)
Tax paid [RENER (5,511) (953)
Net cash generated from operating REEREF RS TFE
activities 106,528
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

> s =
GEEERER
For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HLEE

2023 2022
—E-=F —F-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETBHELEZRESRE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds on disposal of financial assets at HEZEAREBEFAEMEERRZEZ
FVTOCI CRMEEZASHA 1,200
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEME WEREZHE 107
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and &% HE L& E 2 P15 508
equipment 37 =
Purchase of financial assets at FVTOCI BERAABESAEMEZEKZEZ
TREE = (38)
Bank interest received B2 UIRITH B 624 (1,031)
Consideration paid for acquisition of REFWRBHB RIS ZRE
subsidiaries in previous year (25,380) =
Net cash outflow arising on disposal REEELAZESRLFRE - (17,333)
Net cash used in investing activities RETHMAZESFE (24,865) (17,099)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METBELECRERE
ACTIVITIES
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEARE (4,273) (3,194)
Repayment of bank loans EERITER (88,871) -
Net cash used in financing activities RETBHFMAZESTE (93,144) (3,194)
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH ReRERRS (RD) EmFHE
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (113,215) 86,239
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ExEgs)r g2 (2,111) (13,025)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FHOzREREFRE
BEGINNING OF YEAR 157,287 84,073
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRAZEREEREFARE
END OF YEAR 157,287
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH RERERREDHT
EQUIVALENTS
Bank and cash balances RITRIREEH 157,287
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BHRRHE

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023

H=E

1.

R =F+A=+—HLLEFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Smarter Energy Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in Bermuda under the Companies Act (as
amended) of Bermuda as an exempted company with limited
liabilities on 8 August 1997. The address of its registered office
is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda.
The address of its principal place of business is room 2109, 21/F,
Wayson Commercial Building, 28 Connaught Road West, Sheung
Wan, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 22 to the
consolidated financial statements. The Company’s shares are listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) which is also the functional
currency of the Company.

GOING CONCERN BASIS

The Group incurred a loss of approximately HK$299,021,000
for the year ended 31 December 2023 and, as of that date,
the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by
approximately HK$1,503,713,000 and the Group had net liabilities
of approximately HK$542,383,000. As at that date, the Group’s
total borrowings amounted to approximately HK$1,234,027,000,
while its cash and cash equivalents amounted to approximately
HK$41,961,000 only.

In view of these circumstances, the directors have estimated the
Group’s cash requirements by preparing a Group cashflow forecast
for the 12 months ending 31 December 2024 and have, during
the year and up to the date of the approval of these consolidated
financial statements, instituted the financing plans and measures
as set out in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements to
mitigate the liquidity pressure on the Group, to restructure its
financial obligations and to improve its financial position. The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis, the validity of which depends on the successful
outcome of these measures, which are subject to multiple
uncertainties including:

(@) the successful negotiation with the lenders for extension of
the maturity date of debts fallen due or expected to fall due
within the next 12 months;

(b) the successful negotiation with the lenders of borrowings
maturing after the next 12 months, requesting to further
delay the loan repayment schedules;

China Smarter Energy Group Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023

—REH

PEEZEREBZERERAA ([
ARAIR—NAAEFENANBRESR

NEVE (BB R B FETMX
VAEREERAT - HAMMREEM
it AClarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM11, Bermuda o £+ B & %
B R E R LR THER28R B
¥ RE21#2109F -

ARATI—HKEBREZEBRRTE LK B
ETZI;(%?T’%%CR‘??AEﬁW¥&%M1a£
2 - ARABENEBREBMAIIMER
AE([BRA])ERET - RETB
BRUARRBZNEESE BT ([ET])
E ]I

FEEEEE

AREBRBE_S_=ZF+-_A=1+—
B IEFE E & B8 #299,021,000%
T HBEZB AEEMNRPAEGBE
BE RS EEL1,503,713,000/8 7T
mA & B/ & &5 5 A #542,383,000
BIL-RZB ANEBEMNEBERBELEY
1,234,027,000%8 0  MERE RERR
& 1€ 5 %)41,961,00058 7T

ERNEBN EFECBREREALE
BHE_Z-_WFE+-_A=+—HIt+=
18 A E’]ﬁium%fﬁxﬂ“ﬁﬁ‘fzﬁﬁlmfﬁui
FREERAFERBELELERS
HBHREREH BTGV BmAMT
P MmEF B RERAREAEE
BeBR) BHEAVBEEIRELRE
B B TSR AR B M IS MR D IRFFE R
LEREMBE HERUEABRFETZ
ZH A BRIME  BERTF
ZETHETERME  HP 84

(a) HERH

BRINEERIE & B B Hi sk

TR RN AR RI2ME A AR B E
B HA

(b) EEFRTRDBEENAREKI2EA
BREIMNER BERE—FHEE
ERERERK



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GOING CONCERN BASIS (CONTINUED)
(c) the successful obtaining of other possible financings; and

(d) the successful disposal of further solar power plants of the
Group.

The directors of the Company therefore consider it appropriate in
light of the above financing plans and measures to adopt the going
concern basis in preparing these consolidated financial statements.
Should the Group be unable to operate as a going concern in the
foreseeable future, adjustments would have to be made to write
down the carrying value of the Group’s assets to their recoverable
amounts, to provide for any further liabilities that might arise,
and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as
current assets and current liabilities respectively. The effect of these
adjustments have not been reflected in these consolidated financial
statements.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised
HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”), that are relevant to
its operations and effective for its accounting year beginning on 1
January 2023. HKFRS Accounting Standards comprise Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKAS”); and Interpretations. The adoption of these
new and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards did not result in
significant changes to the Group’s accounting policies, presentation
of the Group’s consolidated financial statements and amounts
reported for the current year and prior years.

The Group has not applied the new HKFRS Accounting Standards
that have been issued but are not yet effective. The application
of these new HKFRS Accounting Standards will not have material
impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by
the HKICPA, accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong and the applicable disclosures required by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

e M BERRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BHRRHE

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
BE-_T-_=F+-A=+T—HLEFE

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, as modified by financial assets at
FVTPL and financial assets at FVTOCI which are carried at their fair
values.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity
with HKFRS Accounting Standards requires the use of certain
key assumptions and estimates. It also requires the directors to
exercise its judgements in the process of applying the accounting
policies. The areas involving critical judgements and areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to these consolidated
financial statements, are disclosed in note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. The Group has power over an entity when the Group has
existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting
rights as well as potential voting rights held by other parties,
to determine whether it has control. A potential voting right is
considered only if the holder has the practical ability to exercise
that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date
the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in a
loss of control represents the difference between (i) the fair value of
the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any investment
retained in that subsidiary and (ii) the Company’ s share of the
net assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill relating
to that subsidiary and any related accumulated foreign currency
translation reserve.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Consolidation (Continued)

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted
by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries not
attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-controlling
interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position and consolidated statement of changes in equity within
equity. Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income as an allocation of profit or
loss and total comprehensive income for the year between the
non-controlling shareholders and owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling shareholders even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company’ s ownership interest in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions (i.e. transactions with owners in their capacity
as owners). The carrying amounts of the controlling and non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition of
a subsidiary in a business combination. The cost of acquisition
is measured at the acquisition-date fair value of the assets given,
equity instruments issued, liabilities incurred and contingent
consideration. Acquisition-related costs are recognised as
expenses in the periods in which the costs are incurred and the
services are received. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the
subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at their acquisition-date
fair values.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BHRRHE

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
BE-_T-_=F+-A=+T—HLEFE

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combination and goodwill
(Continued)

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Company’s share of
the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities
is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of the Company ' s share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the
cost of acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit or loss as a
gain on bargain purchase which is attributed to the Company.

In a business combination achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest in the subsidiary is remeasured at its acquisition-
date fair value and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in
consolidated profit or loss. The fair value is added to the cost of
acquisition to calculate the goodwill.

If the changes in the value of the previously held equity interest in
the subsidiary were recognised in other comprehensive income
(for example, equity investment to fair value through other
comprehensive income), the amount that was recognised in other
comprehensive income is recognised on the same basis as would
be required if the previously held equity interest were disposed of.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might
be impaired. Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. The method of measuring impairment losses
of goodwill is the same as that of other assets as stated in the
accounting policy below. Impairment losses of goodwill are
recognised in consolidated profit or loss and are not subsequently
reversed. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition for the
purpose of impairment testing.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially measured
at the non-controlling shareholders’ proportionate share of the net
fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities at the
acquisition date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currency translation
Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”).
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional and presentation
currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial
statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional
currency on initial recognition using the exchange rates prevailing
on the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign
currencies are translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this translation
policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values in foreign
currencies are translated using the exchange rates at the dates
when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in other
comprehensive income, any exchange component of that gain or
loss is recognised in other comprehensive income. When a gain
or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss.

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of the Company are translated
into the Company’s presentation currency as follows:— i) Assets
and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented
are translated at the closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position; ii) Income and expenses for each statement of
comprehensive income are translated at average exchange rates
(unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are translated at the exchange
rates on the transaction dates); and iii) All resulting exchange
differences are recognised in the foreign currency translation
reserve.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)
Translation on consolidation (Continued)

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation
of the net investment in foreign entities and of borrowings are
recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve. When a
foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences are recognised
in consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of
a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
entity and translated at the closing rate.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit
or loss during the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at rates
sufficient to write off their cost less their residual values over the
estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal annual
rates are as follows:

Leasehold improvements The shorter of the lease terms

and 5 years
Solar power generation plant/ 20 years
station
Plant and machinery 3 to 5 years

Furniture, fixtures, office
equipment and motor vehicles

3 to 10 years

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are
reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Intangible assets (acquired separately)

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired in
business combinations are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at fair value at the acquisition date less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, if
any. Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives of 24 years.

Leases - the Group as lessor

Operating leases: leases that do not substantially transfer to
the lessees all the risks and rewards of ownership of assets are
accounted for as operating leases. Rental income from operating
leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease.

Leases - the Group as lessee

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and corresponding
lease liabilities when the leased assets are available for use by the
Group. Right-of-use assets are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses. Depreciation of right-of-use
assets is calculated at rates to write off their cost over the shorter
of the lease terms on a straight-line basis and the estimated useful
lives of the assets.

The useful life of the right-of-use assets are as follow:
— Leasehold lands 2-50 years
— Leased properties 2-25 years

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the amount
of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities, lease payments
prepaid, initial direct costs and the restoration costs. Lease
liabilities include the net present value of the lease payments
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate
can be determined, or otherwise the Company’s incremental
borrowing rate. Each lease payment is allocated between the
liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or
loss over the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate
of interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as expenses in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the lease terms. Short-term leases are
leases with an initial lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value
assets are assets of value below US$5,000.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BHRRHE

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
BE-_T-_=F+-A=+T—HLEFE

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Club membership

Club membership with indefinite useful life is stated at cost less
any impairment losses. Impairment is reviewed annually or when
there is any indication that the club membership has suffered an
impairment loss.

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
statement of financial position when the Group becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to
receive cash flows from the assets expire; the Group transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets;
or the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the assets but has not retained
control on the assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified
in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is under a contract
whose terms require delivery of the asset within the timeframe
established by the market concerned, and are initially recognised at
fair value, plus directly attributable transaction costs except in the
case of investments at fair value through profit or loss. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of investments at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Financial assets of the Company are classified under the following
categories: i) Financial assets at amortised cost; ii) Investments at
fair value through profit or loss; and iii) Equity investments at fair
value through other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost: Financial assets (including
trade and other receivables) are classified under this category if
they satisfy both of the following conditions: a) the assets are held
within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order
to collect contractual cash flows; and b) the contractual terms
of the assets give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method less loss allowance for expected
credit losses.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss: Financial assets are
classified under this category if they do not meet the conditions
to be measured at amortised cost and the conditions of debt
investments at fair value through other comprehensive income
unless the Group designates an equity investment that is not held
for trading as at fair value through other comprehensive income on
initial recognition. Investments at fair value through profit or loss
are subsequently measured at fair value with any gains or losses
arising from changes in fair values recognised in profit or loss. The
fair value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss are net of any
interest income and dividend income. Interest income and dividend
income are recognised in profit or loss.

Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income: On initial recognition, the Group can make an irrevocable
election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate
investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading
as at fair value through other comprehensive income. Equity
investments at fair value through other comprehensive income are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains and losses arising
from changes in fair values recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the equity investment revaluation
reserve. On derecognition of an investment, the cumulative gains or
losses previously accumulated in the equity investment revaluation
reserve are not reclassified to profit or loss. Dividends on these
investments are recognised in profit or loss, unless the dividends
clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BHRRHE

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
BE-_T-_=F+-A=+T—HLEFE

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Loss allowance for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses
on financial assets at amortised cost. Expected credit losses are
the weighted average of credit losses with the respective risks of a
default occurring as the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures the
loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to
the expected credit losses that result from all possible default
events over the expected life of that financial instrument (“lifetime
expected credit losses”) for trade receivables, or if the credit risk
on that financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition.

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a financial
instrument (other than trade receivables) has not increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the
loss allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal
to the portion of lifetime expected credit losses that represents
the expected credit losses that result from default events on that
financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust the loss
allowance at the end of the reporting period to the required amount
is recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits
with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term highly
liquid investments which are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of change in
value. Bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management are also included
as a component of cash and cash equivalents.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according
to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument under
HKFRS Accounting Standards. An equity instrument is any contract
that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after
deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for
specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred, and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least
12 months after the reporting period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a
contract with a customer with reference to the customary business
practices and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third
parties. For a contract where the period between the payment by
the customer and the transfer of the promised product or service
exceeds one year, the consideration is adjusted for the effect of a
significant financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a performance
obligation by transferring control over a product or service to a
customer. Depending on the terms of a contract and the laws that
apply to that contract, a performance obligation can be satisfied
over time or at a point in time. A performance obligation is satisfied
over time if:

- the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance;

- the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced;
or
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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88

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4, FESIBE(HF)
(CONTINUED)
Revenue from contracts with customers REFEFEHNZWA (E)

(Continued)

- the Group’ s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is
recognised by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of
the product or service.

Revenue arising from sales of electricity is recognised at a point
in time in the accounting period when electricity is generated and
transmitted. The revenue from sales of electricity is based on the
on-grid benchmark tariff rates of local coal fire power plants, which
vary across provinces and can be adjusted by the government.

Tariff subsidy represents subsidy received and receivable from the
sales of electricity to the customer pursuant on the government
policy on subsidies of solar energy in respect of the Group’s solar
power generation business. Tariff subsidy is recognised at a point in
time at its fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
additional tariff will be received and the Group will comply with all
attached conditions, if any. The revenue from tariff subsidy is based
on the difference between the feed-in-tariff regime implemented
by the government for the provision of subsidy to the solar power
plants operators and the revenue from sales of electricity.

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effects of the time
value of money if the timing of payments agreed (either explicitly
or implicitly) provides with a significant benefit of financing the
sale of electricity to the customer. In those circumstances, the
contract contains a significant financing component. A significant
financing component may exist regardless of whether the promise
of financing is explicitly stated in the contract or implied by the
payment terms agreed by the parties of the contracts.

Other revenue
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to
receive payment are established.

China Smarter Energy Group Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023

- AREEEOTSRETARAAEHE
SEMRANEE BAKEHE
5 TR B KO SR AT SR I
TTRORER -

HENEEE —RERBABET WAT
SRBHEFER TR ERBER B
A WA R P RIS E o 5 IR 7% 12 I 4
Y B ) B 2 o

HEBNELEZMAREEREEE
@R K EAB B HET
7t AR B S B B 4 2
REE (FEEEBBETARLTH
BATEHBE) 8 -

(B 1 Bh 15 B BUT B B K 5 BE 47 B MY R
KRR AEENAGREEEEBEARTP
HEBNZE MR EKRAHEL - WA &
BHEEHWEREINEE B AEE K ET
EEMEGRE (NE) EEMUB SR
HEAREERKEEKHIER EEH
BR AR BT B ARG RE 3 B 0t & 0E
EIRHEEEMATH LR EEHESE
HEEENRAZENERH -

BEEXZERE  WiHENKER (T
WRARKER)STRATFPHEHEEND
BERBEMD  MAKEREBERE
BENFERBARNRESR EZF
BAT AHBREABRENXD - TR
BEAHINEHORATRITKEE DL
FTHERNNRGERER EAMEXS
BBEAREFE-

Hft i A
AR RERF KRR -

P B M A 17 s R U B R TR R N i S By

37
s ©



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Employee benefits

Employee leave entitlements: Employee entitlements to annual
leave and long service leave are recognised when they accrue
to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave and long service leave as a result of services rendered
by employees up to the end of the reporting period. Employee
entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised
until the time of leave.

Pension obligation: The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all employees.
Contributions to the schemes by the Group and employees are
calculated as a percentage of employees’ basic salaries. The
retirement benefit scheme cost charged to profit or loss represents
contributions payable by the Group to the funds.

Termination benefits: Termination benefits are recognised when,
and only when, the Group demonstrably commits itself to terminate
employment or to provide benefits as a result of voluntary
redundancy by having a detailed formal plan which is without
realistic possibility of withdrawal.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets,
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used for
the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount of
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined by applying
a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that asset. The
capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the borrowing costs
applicable to the borrowings of the Group that are outstanding
during the period, other than borrowings made specifically for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants relating to income are deferred and recognised
in profit or loss over the period to match them with the costs they
are intended to compensate.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Government grants relating to the purchase of assets are deducted
from the carrying amount of the assets. The grant is recognised
in profit or loss over the life of a depreciable asset by way of a
reduced depreciation charge.

Repayment of a grant related to income is applied first against any
unamortised deferred income set up in respect of the grant. To
the extent that the repayment exceeds any such deferred income,
or where no deferred income exists, the repayment is recognised
immediately in profit or loss. Repayment of a grant related to an
asset is recorded by increasing the carrying amount of the asset
or reducing the deferred income by the amount repayable. The
cumulative additional depreciation that would have been recognised
in profit or loss to date in the absence of the grant is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Taxation
Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or loss
because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Company’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and
the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses
or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or
from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of
other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. Deferred
tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to
items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax
assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purpose of allocating resources and assessing
the performance of the Group’s various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of productions processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(A) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related
to the Group if that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is @ member of the key management personnel of the
Company or of a parent of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Related parties (Continued)

B) An entity is related to the Group (reporting entity) if any of
the following conditions applies:

(i)

(i)

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viil)

The entity and the Company are members of
the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of
a group of which the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a
plan, the sponsoring employers are also related to the
Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (A).

A person identified in (A)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Company or to a parent of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
BE-_T-_=F+-A=+T—HLEFE

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are reviewed at
each reporting date for indications of impairment and where an
asset is impaired, it is written down as an expense through the
consolidated statement of profit or loss to its estimated recoverable
amount unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount,
in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
decrease. The recoverable amount is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets.
If this is the case, recoverable amount is determined for the CGU
to which the asset belongs. Recoverable amount is the higher
of value in use and the fair value less costs of disposal of the
individual asset or the CGU.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future cash flows
of the asset/CGU. Present values are computed using pre-tax
discount rates that reflect the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset/CGU whose impairment is being measured.

Impairment losses for CGUs are allocated first against the goodwill
of the unit and then pro rata amongst the other assets of the
CGU. Subsequent increases in the recoverable amount caused by
changes in estimates are credited to profit or loss to the extent that
they reverse the impairment unless the relevant asset is carried at a
revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss
is treated as a revaluation increase.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on trade and
bill receivables, deposits and other receivables, loans receivable,
restricted bank deposits as well as cash and bank balances.
The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective
financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.
The ECL on these financial assets are estimated using a provision
matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current as
well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date,
including time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL when there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial
instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument
at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of a financial instrument. In
contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that
is expected to result from default events on a financial instrument
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort. Forward-looking information considered
includes the future prospects of the industries in which the Group’s
debtors operate, obtained from economic expert reports, financial
analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and other
similar organisations, as well as consideration of various external
sources of actual and forecast economic information that relate to
the Group’s core operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition:

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

- significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit
risk for a particular financial instrument;

= existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

- significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor;

- an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if:

(i) the financial instrument has a low risk of default,

(ii) the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term, and

(iii) adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability
of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk
when the asset has external credit rating of “investment grade”
in accordance with the globally understood definition or if an
external rating is not available, the asset has an internal rating of
“performing”. Performing means that the counterparty has a strong
financial position and there is no past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used
to identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of
default for internal credit risk management purposes as historical
experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the
following criteria are generally not recoverable.

S when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty; or
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Definition of default (Continued)

- information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past
due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

- significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the counterparty;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

- the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the counterparty’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the counterparty a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

- it is becoming probable that the counterparty will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

- the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery, including when the debtor
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the amounts
are over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in
profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default,
loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted
by forward-looking information as described above. As for the
exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented by
the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date; for
financial guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the amount
drawn down at the reporting date, together with any additional
amounts expected to be drawn down in the future by default date
determined based on historical trend, the Group’s understanding
of the specific future financing needs of the debtors, and other
relevant forward-looking information.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL
at the current reporting date, except for assets for which simplified
approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to
their carrying amount through a loss allowance account, except
for investments in debt instruments that are measured at FVTOCI,
for which the loss allowance is recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve, and
does not reduce the carrying amount of the financial asset in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation
and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of
money is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability
of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional information
about the Group’ s position at the end of the reporting period or
those that indicate the going concern assumption is not appropriate
are adjusting events and are reflected in the consolidated financial
statements. Events after the reporting period that are not adjusting
events are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements when material.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the directors
have made the following judgements that have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements (apart
from those involving estimations, which are dealt with below).

(@) Revenue recognition on tariff subsidy on sale
of electricity

Tariff subsidy represents subsidy received and receivable
from the government authorities in respect of the Group’s
solar power generation business.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES 5.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(CONTINUED)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (Continued)

(a)

Revenue recognition on tariff subsidy on sale
of electricity (Continued)

In August 2013, the National Development and Reform
Commission of the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”)
released the New Tariff Notice (the “New Tariff Notice”) to
launch a new subsidising policy for distributed solar power
plants and adjust benchmark on-grid price for electricity
generated by centralised solar power plants (which is known
as the ground solar plants). Pursuant to New Tariff Notice,
a set of standardised procedures for the settlement of the
tariff subsidy has come into force since 2013 and approvals
for the registration in the Catalogue on a project-by-project
basis are required before the allocation of funds to the state
grid companies, which then would make settlement to the
Group.

Tariff subsidy is recognised based on the directors
judgement that all of the Group’s operating solar farms had
been qualified for, and had met, all the requirements and
conditions as required based on the prevailing nationwide
government policies on renewable energy for solar power
plants.

In making their judgement, the directors, after taking into
account the legal opinion as advised by the Group’s legal
advisor and the fact that all previous registrations of the
group entities operating the solar power plants to the
Catalogue were successfully completed with reference
to the requirements and conditions for the registration in
the Catalogue, considered that all of the Group’s solar
farm currently in operation had met the requirement and
conditions as stipulated in the New Tariff Notice for the
entitlement of the tariff adjustments when the electricity was
delivered on grid. Accordingly, in the opinion of the directors,
the recognition of accrued revenue on tariff subsidy is
appropriate.

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, all
of the Group’s operating solar farms were successfully
registered on the catalogue.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BHRRHE

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
BE-_T-_=F+-A=+T—HLEFE

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES 5.

(CONTINUED)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Revenue recognition on tariff subsidy on sale
of electricity (Continued)

Further, the accrued revenues on tariff subsidy are fully
recoverable and subject only to timing of allocation of funds
from the PRC government, after considering that there were
no bad debt experiences with the state grid companies in
the past and the tariff subsidy was fully funded by the PRC
government.

Business model assessment

Classification and measurement of financial assets depends
on the results of the solely payment of principal and
interests (“SPPI”) and the business model test. The Group
determines the business model at a level that reflects
how groups of financial assets are managed together to
achieve a particular business objective. This assessment
includes judgement reflecting all relevant evidence including
how the performance of the assets is evaluated and their
performance measured, the risks that affect the performance
of the assets and how these are managed and how the
managers of the assets are compensated. The Group
monitors financial assets measured at amortised cost or
FVTOCI that are derecognised prior to their maturity to
understand the reason for their disposal and whether the
reasons are consistent with the objective of the business for
which the asset was held. Monitoring is part of the Group’s
continuous assessment of whether the business model for
which the remaining financial assets are held continues to
be appropriate and if it is not appropriate whether there
has been a change in business model and so a prospective
change to the classification of those assets. No such
changes were required during the years presented.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (Continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Significant increase in credit risk

As explained in note 4, ECL are measured as an allowance
equal to 12-month ECL for stage 1 assets, or lifetime ECL
for stage 2 or stage 3 assets. An asset moves to stage 2
when its credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition. HKFRS 9 does not define what constitutes a
significant increase in credit risk. In assessing whether the
credit risk of an asset has significantly increased the Group
takes into account qualitative and quantitative reasonable
and supportable forward looking information.

Determining the lease term

In determining the lease term at the commencement date
for leases that include renewal options exercisable by the
Group, the Group evaluates the likelihood of exercising the
renewal options taking into account all relevant facts and
circumstances that create an economic incentive for the
Group to exercise the option, including favourable terms,
leasehold improvements undertaken and the importance of
that underlying asset to the Group’s operation.

Generally, periods covered by an extension option in other
properties leases have not been included in the lease
liability because the Group could replace the assets without
significant cost or business disruption. See note 33 for
further information.

The lease term is reassessed when there is a significant
event or significant change in circumstance that is within the
Group’s control. During the current financial year, no lease
term has been reassessed.

Going concern basis

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis, the validity of which depends
upon the successful implementation of financing plans and
measures at a level sufficient to finance the working capital
requirements of the Group. Details are explained in note 2 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BHRRHE

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023

BE
S.

R =F+A=+—HLLEFE

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are discussed below.

(a)

(b)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

The Group determines the estimated useful lives, residual
values and related depreciation charges for the Company’s
property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based
on the historical experience of the actual useful lives and
residual values of property, plant and equipment of similar
nature and functions. The Group will revise the depreciation
charge where useful lives and residual values are different to
those previously estimated, or it will write-off or write-down
technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been
abandoned or sold.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment at 31
December 2023 was approximately HK$691,726,000 (2022:
HK$764,071,000).

Impairment of property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets and right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and
right-of-use assets are stated at costs less accumulated
depreciation and impairment, if any. In determining whether
an asset is impaired, the Group has to exercise judgment
and make estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether
an event has occurred or any indicators that may affect
the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset
can be supported by the recoverable amount, in the case
of value in use, the net present value of future cash flows
which are estimated based upon the continued use of the
asset; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied
in estimating the recoverable amounts including cash flow
projections and an appropriate discount rate. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset (including right-of-use assets), the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the
assets belongs. Changing the assumptions and estimates,
including the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash
flow projections, could materially affect the net present value
used in the impairment test.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES 5.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets and right-of-use assets
(Continued)

No impairment losses were recognised for the year ended
31 December 2023 and 2022 to write down the carrying
amount of the property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets to the recoverable amount of the CGUs belonged
respectively. The carrying amount of property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets net of impairment
losses as at 31 December 2023 were HK$691,726,000
(2022: HK$764,071,000) and HK$366,548,000 (2022:
HK$398,424,000) respectively.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions.
Significant estimates are required in determining the
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination
is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the
period in which such determination is made.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, HK$1,732,000
of income tax was credited to profit or loss (2022:
HK$7,084,000).

Fair value of financial assets at FVTOCI

In the absence of quoted market prices in an active market,
the directors estimate the fair value of the Group’s financial
assets at FVTOCI, details of which are set out in note 23
to the consolidated financial statements, by considering
information from a variety of sources, including the latest
published financial information, the historical data on
market volatility as well as the price and industry and sector
performance.

The carrying amount of financial assets at FVTOCI at 31
December 2023 was HKS$nil (2022: HK$350,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BHRRHE

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
BE-_T-_=F+-A=+T—HLEFE

5.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES 5.

(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(e) Impairment of trade and bill receivables

(f)

The management of the Group estimates the amount of
impairment loss for ECL on trade and bill receivables based
on the credit risk of trade and bill receivables. The amount
of the impairment loss based on ECL model is measured as
the difference between all contractual cash flows that are
due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at the effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.
Where the future cash flows are less than expected, or
being revised downward due to changes in facts and
circumstances, a material impairment loss may arise.

At 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of trade and
bill receivables is HK$779,500,000 (net of allowance for
doubtful debts of HK$54,152,000 (2022: HK$668,960,000
(net of allowance for doubtful debts of HK$26,969,000).

Expected credit loss

Restricted bank deposits and bank balances are determined
to have low risk at the reporting date and the Group has
considered the loss allowance as immaterial. The credit risk
on restricted bank deposits and bank balances is limited
because the counterparties are reputable banks, and the
risk of inability to pay at the due date is low.

Based on the track record of regular repayment of
receivables from sales of electricity and the settlement of
accrued revenue on tariff subsidy is in accordance with
the prevailing government policies, all trade receivables
from sales of electricity, including accrued revenue on
tariff subsidy, are expected to be fully recoverable and the
ECL provision on trade receivables is considered to be
insignificant.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign currency risk, price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest
rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(a)

(b)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has certain exposure to foreign currency risk
as some of its business transactions, assets and liabilities
are denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of the Group entities such as Renminbi (“RMB”).
The directors have assessed the impact of foreign currency
risk and considered that it is insignificant to the Group. The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy in respect of foreign currency transactions, assets
and liabilities. The Group will monitor its foreign currency
exposure closely and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet
its obligations under a financial instrument or customer
contract, leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed
to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily trade and
bills receivables, other receivables, restricted bank deposits
and cash and bank balances) and from its investing and
financing activities, including loans receivable, deposits
with banks and financial institutions, foreign exchange
transactions and other financial instruments. The Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from restricted bank deposit
and cash and cash equivalents is limited because the
counterparties are banks and financial institutions with high
credit-rating assigned by international credit-rating agencies,
for which the Group considers to have low credit risk.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BHRRHE

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
Trade and bills receivables

Trade and bill receivables arising from sales of electricity
were mainly due from state grid companies. There is a track
record of regular repayment of receivables from sales of
electricity to these customers. The collection of tariff subsidy
receivables is well supported by the prevailing nationwide
government policies on renewable energy for solar farms
and distributed power stations. Tariff subsidy receivables
are settled by the state grid companies upon finalisation
of the allocation of funds by the relevant authorities to the
state grid companies. Based on the Group’s experience
with respect to the collection of tariff subsidy receivables,
the directors are of the opinion that the risk of default is not
significant.

Customer credit risk is managed by each business unit
subject to the Group’s established policy, procedures
and control relating to customer credit risk management.
Individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations
focus on the customer’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as pertaining to
the economic environment in which the customer operates.
Trade receivables are due from the invoice date.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated
using a provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit
loss experience does not indicate significantly different loss
patterns for different customer segments, the loss allowance
based on past due status is not further distinguished
between the Group'’s different customer bases.

Refundable deposits and other receivables

The ECL of refundable deposits and other receivables as
at 31 December 2023 were estimated by valuer using the
general approach. Based on the assessment performed
by the Group, the refundable deposits were considered as
credit-impaired as at 31 December 2023 as the vendor was
unable to make payment upon request from the Group (note
26).
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 6. BEEKREE (&)

(c) Liquidity risk (c) RBEZLRBS
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and REE WK ETEHETFRERFR
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains EHRRDESTE UBRER
sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements RHREHEE WmEREEEEE
in the short and longer term. ZRBEEEE-
The maturity analysis based on contractual undiscounted REBBRERBBENESRE
cash flows of the Group’s financial liabilities is as follows: HASEsHEREZINHAB M
FUNE
Less than 1
year and on Between 1 Between 2
demand and2years and5years Over 5 years Total
1FURRK
REREE 122fF 2855 5N E st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TER THET THER THET

At 31 December 2023 R-BZ=%

+=ZA=t+-8H
Accruals and other payables BB &

Hi B RR 877,276 877,276
Bank and other borrowings RITRAMER 1,234,027 1,234,027
Lease liabilities HEARE 3,886 19,070
At 31 December 2022 RZE-—%

+-A=+-H
Accruals and other payables BT ER Rk

HibEAERER 638,181 - - - 638,181
Amount due to related parties  JE{T B E 5 ZB 9,660 = = = 9,660
Bank and other borrowings RITRAMER 1,482,792 = = = 1,482,792
Lease liabilities HEARE 6,924 318 5,931 10,718 23,891
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 6. HEEBEE (&)
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) (c) RBESRABS ()
Interest rate risk F = & by

At 31 December 2023, the Group had bank and other
borrowings of HK$747,657,000 (2022: HK$848,055,000)
which were interest bearing with fixed interest rates and
therefore are subject to fair value interest rate risks.

The Group’s exposure to interest-rate risk arises from its
bank deposits and bank and other borrowings. These
deposits and borrowings bear interests at variable rates that
vary with the then prevailing market condition.

At 31 December 2023, the Group had bank deposits of
HK$41,961,000 (2022: HK$157,186,000) and bank loans
of HK$486,370,000 (2022: HK$493,421,000), which are
interest bearing with floating interest rates. If interest rates
had been 100 basis points higher/lower with all other
variables held constant, consolidated loss after tax for the
year would have been HK$4,444,000 (2022: HK$3,361,000)

R—ZEBE-_=ZF+=-A=+—
H AEEFRITREMER
747,657,000 T (ZE ==
848,055,000/ 7t ) - H Ty iz E
FEEFE I&t'ﬁﬂfﬂfﬁﬂ
=R 2

7% 5 [ A9 ) 2 L B RO S EL R AT
TFHRARRITREMBR - ZF
ﬁ%ﬂ&%?ﬁ(&éﬁi”‘“ﬁvﬁﬁmﬁm
BRZFFERGE -

R-—ZE-_=F+=-A=+—8"
AEEERITF 41,961,000 %
L (ZF = =4 157,186,000/
7T ) N8R 17 B 30486,370,000/%
gL (=& = = 4 : 493,421,000
TL) BT RRZFEFIEET B o
WF = EF T FE100@E2E - M

FTEREMEERFTE  QIRF
ERBEEEEBREDREM
BA4,444,0008 L (2T = =
4 :3,361,000/7C) °

higher/lower respectively.

Categories of financial instruments SRIAZER
2023 2022
—E=-= —F-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FoxT FHT
Financial assets: SRMEE:
Financial assets at FVTPL: EAREBEFABRZZ
SREE:
- Unlisted investment funds (note 27) —FEMEREES (WiF27) 43
Financial assets measured at amortised 1R # K AT E 2 SR EE
cost (including cash and cash (PEReLFRRE)
equivalents) 838,506 960,138
Financial assets measured at FVTOCI: 2 AR EET A E M2 E K
AEZEMEE:
- Equity instruments —-BATA 350
Financial liabilities: cREE:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REHEKAFEZSRBE 2,111,303 1,989,317
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued)
Fair values

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement
of financial position approximate their respective fair values.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The following disclosures of
fair value measurements use a fair value hierarchy that categorises
into three levels the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure
fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities that the Group can
access at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out
of any of the three levels as of the date of the event or change in
circumstances that caused the transfer.

e M BERRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
BE_T-_=F+ZA=+T—HLEFE

MHEREE ()

(c) "BEZER (&)
DREE
RIEAMBRRERA R 2 A%
BeRAERSRABEIEEE
BREEAZARBEMRE-

ANREEE

N

AREERATH2EENFTERRES
FREFHEEEANEKNRAERAE
AN ZEBR - A TARBEAER
BORBAEANAEAABEZGES.
FRABBE D R=ZBRZ AN EBEERE
e

E—# REERHAREEA A
WAHE: HEMBAREEXARE
RIRRT 5 2 RE (R

HE) o

B/ REEXRBEERAM
WARE: BRUTUEEZHEAHRE
(F—RABENRER

I

E= EERBENHTABE
WARE: BARE-

AEBNBRRINERZBR 2 FHX

AREREHE AR =EERTH
EA—EERNEAREH -

BRRREEZERERAR | 2 -_=FFR




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HLEE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED) 7. DAREEFE(H)
Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy: AREBEEHRKEHEE:
Fair value measurements using:
AREEHERBZER:
At 31 December 2023 R-ZBE-=F+=-A=1+-H Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—& F® E=H @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FTAL TERT TERT TEL
Recurring fair value measurements: BEMDREEFE:
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at FVTPL BARBEMABRL
SHEE
Unlisted investment funds FEMEERS
Total @at
Fair value measurements using:
ARBEFERBZER:
At 31 December 2022 RZZE-—F+-A=+-H Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£} FR i B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT AT FTEL FTET
Recurring fair value measurements: BEMDREENE:
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at FVTPL BAABEFABREZ
SHEE
Unlisted investment funds FEMEERS - 43 = 43
Financial assets at FVTOCI BAABEFALLZAE
hEzeBEE
Unlisted equity securities IR AES - - 350 350
Total @t - 43 350 393
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)

Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value based on level 3:

e M BERRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
BE_T-_=F+ZA=+T—HLEFE

ARBEE ()

BEF=ZFRAABEFENEEY
BE :

Description E35 2023
—E-=
HK$°000
FHEx
Financial assets at FVTOCI — unlisted equity ?E’Aj‘tf‘i@ﬁ)\ﬁﬁﬂiﬁuﬁ Z
securities SREE - LETRAFE
At 1 January 2023 RZEZ=%—H—H
Total gains or loss recognised LA T IE B R M s sk BB 8 R
— in other comprehensive income —REMEERE
Disposed &
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+=-_A=+—H
Description B3 2022
HK$’000
FHT
Financial assets at FVTOCI — unlisted equity EAnEEFAEMEERE 2
securities ERMEE - FLETMRAES
At 1 January 2022 . 1,200
Addition during the year FARE 38
Settlements ®HE (1,200)
Total gains or losses recognised LA IE B R sk SR8 RE
— in other comprehensive income —-REMmEEmkE 312
At 31 December 2022 RZZE-_—F+-A=+—8H 350
Unrealised gain included in fair value changes of s AR AR BETAEMEEKZE 2
financial assets at FVTOCI CHMEEAABEEZH 2 KAFHKE 312

AEBERAZEERFRAR

Disclosure of valuation process used by the

Group and valuation techniques and inputs EBEFEFFEAZHERMK
used in fair value measurements: WMABBZEE:

The total gains or losses recognised in profit or loss are presented ERERERNBRNEREENES
in other gains and losses in the consolidated statement of profit or BarmEME R REERZ25 -

loss.

The total gains or losses recognised in other comprehensive \\/Jﬂliﬁuﬂl SHERE U s Sk B IR 4R

t%

RiFAEREREMEERERTRAA
BEFAEMCEZEREZEREENRD
REEZEHFTZ27)-

income are presented in fair value changes of financial assets at
FVTOCI in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

+
ﬂ
W

RREEERERAT | Z2-=FFR




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BHRRHE

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
BE-_T-_=F+-A=+T—HLEFE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED) 7. DAREEFE(E)
Disclosure of valuation process used by the AEBEFEAZHERFRAR
Group and valuation techniques and inputs EEFEFEAZAERENR
used in fair value measurements: (Continued) WMABBZHE: (8)
The directors are responsible for the fair value measurements EERERYBHREENMBZEER
of assets and liabilities required for financial reporting purposes, BECAREBERE" ’E%%E?&’Rfﬁ
including level 3 fair value measurements. Discussions of valuation BEEA=E-EFEARHERTFRER
processes and results are performed by the directors at least twice FEDBRITMRETER
a year.
For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group will normally ME=ZRRAEBEFEMS A&E—
engage external valuation experts with the recognised professional B EZERERA E%éﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ
qualifications and recent experience to perform the valuations. BB INBEEERETEBIEE:-
Level 2 fair value measurements FER/RAAREETE
Fair value
NAREE
Description Valuation technique Inputs 2023 2022
B3 fhE T PN ¢ —¥-= —F-C
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET
Unlisted investment funds Market approach Price quoted by a financial 43
institution in the PRC
FLEMREER %A —EP SR EE T IRER
Level 3 fair value measurements FZMAABEENE
Fair value
DMREE
Effect on
fair value
Valuation Unobservable for increase
Description technique inputs Range of inputs 2023 2022
BWABE
FTUER EME AR
3 fHE B M BWAHE & E BEz¥E —T-= —F=-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER THET
Assets
BE
Private equity investments classified ~ Market approach  Price-to-sales 0.92% Increase 350
as financial assets at FVTOCI
DERRAABEFARMEE g% ik ES i

Yz eBEEZLERERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BERRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
BE_T-_=F+ZA=+T—HLEFE

REVENUE 8. WA
2023 2022
—®-= =T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET

Revenue from contracts with customers within 8 & & 81 7 3R & % BI| 551553

the scope of HKFRS 15 HEAZKRBEEFPEHNZWA

— Sale of electricity —HES 195,910
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with REEFENZWADR:
customers:
Sale of electricity included HK$133,978,000 (year ended 31 HEBNREREERAE B X KB
December 2022: HK$148,688,000) tariff subsidy received and EomAKGREBEEHAIBEERZ
receivable from the state grid companies in the PRC based on the KT ER B & e RE
prevailing nationwide government policies on renewable energy for #9 1 7) E {8 1 85133,978,000/%8 7T (&
solar plants and distributed power stations. BT _ZF+ZA=+—HLEFE:

148,688,000/ 7T ) °

2023 2022
—®'== —E-C
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Timing of revenue recognition LNl
Products transferred at a point in time REGERFRSEEED 195,910
Revenue from customers which individually contributed over 10% HAEBERATRBBI0%HE—FF
of the Group’s revenue were as follows: WA :
2023 2022
—BZ=F =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FHET
Customer A EFPA 124,159
Customer B =FB 22,262
Customer C EFC 20,320

TREBREREEERBERAR | —E-_=ZFFH




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HLEE

9. OTHER INCOME 9. HA
2023 2022
—EBE-=F —=E-—
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHExT FET
Bank interest income RITHI B UA 1,031
Imputed interest income of accrued revenue  EEHBLEFT KA Z HER B
on tariff subsidy WA 6,030
Service fee income RIEERA 2,453
Dividend income from financial assets BEAnBEFAEMAZE KRS
at FVTOCI ZEBMEEZBRBEWA -
9,514
10. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 10. HttRB R EEFEE
2023 2022
—E-=F -
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHEIT
Net realised and unrealised gains on derivative $T4 £ 8T A B & K&
financial instruments REIR W= FEE 1,250
Gain on deemed disposal of a subsidiary RIEHE—BWB AR Z W 165
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—HWHBRARZEIE (1,552)
Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and ~ HEYE  BE K&K
equipment Wz (BE) (36)
Others Hth 497
324
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11.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is principally engagement in the clean energy of sales of
electricity to customers in Mainland China.

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments requires operating segments to
be identified on the basis of internal reporting about components
of the Group that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating
decision-maker in order to allocate resources to segments and to
assess their performance. The information reported to the directors
of the Company, who are the chief operating decision makers, for
the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of performance
does not contain discrete operating segment financial information
and the directors reviewed the financial results of the Group as
a whole. Therefore, no further information about the operating
segment is presented.

Geographical information

The Group operated within one geographical area because the
majority of the Group’s revenue was generated in Mainland China
and all of its non-current assets/capital expenditure were located/
incurred in Mainland China. Therefore, no geographical information
is presented.

11.

e M BERRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
BE_T-_=F+ZA=+T—HLEFE

AEBTERETATEAMEFHES
REREB TS -

BN B MELRIESFALL T HHRE
REDHBRIBEERRERDRER
TEOMRABERAMEHERNNE
AAREEEXRSBONABBESMED
HRERDENRRAFGEBEOMAARF
ER(TELERREB)BENENY
TEEBUKEZLHNMBKER AE
ERMAEEMERMBEE At
W EEREMEEDHNE L ER -

EER

HAAEEBRIEOBAKEFER
o BEFMAFRBDEE EAZHY
IR/ BERPEAM HAEEER
—EmERKERF At WEREI i
& & # o

DEREREEZERERLQT | —2_=FFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HLEE

12. FINANCE COSTS

12. @ERAK

2023 2022

—EC-=F —=E-—
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHExT FHET
Interest expenses on lease liabilities (note 20) A E& &2 787 (Ki5E20) 1,023 1,114
Interest on bank and other borrowings RITREAMERZFE 241,427 141,316
242,450 142,430

13. INCOME TAX CREDIT 13. FiBHE R

2023 2022

—E-=F -
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET

Current tax — Overseas BERFR 18 — g o

provision for the year NEEEAE 5,408 399
5,408 399
Deferred tax RETIA (7,140) (7,483)
(1,732) (7,084)
No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is required since the Group HRAEBBEE-_ZE-_=F+=A

=St HLEFERYE(=F -
T)RABGEN Rt BAEHLETEF
SHEE-

has no assessable profit for the year ended 31 December 2023
(2022: Nil).

HAh 3 [ 2 FE SR A R IR R S VIR AR
SEXBEREMEBR 2RITRE X
RBEMRITER REREHE-

Tax charge on profits assessable elsewhere was calculated at the
rates of tax prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates,
based on existing legislation, interpretation and practices in respect
thereof.
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13.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INCOME TAX CREDIT (CONTINUED)

The reconciliation between the income tax credit and the product
of loss before tax multiplied by the PRC EIT rate is as follows:

mEMBHERME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
BE_T-_=F+ZA=+T—HLEFE

13. FiiEHiE% (&)

FTS R e BB AT BRAPBE
FISRHME 2 ERERIOT

2023 2022
—g-= T =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Loss before tax MR A& B (300,753) (102,529)
Tax at the PRC EIT rate of 25% (2022: 25%) &¢I¢¥% T E25%
(ZZ-—F:25%):t8 2
iiE (75,188) (25,632)
Tax effect of income not taxable BERBUA BFL w 2 (PZE)] (1,922)
Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible I~ A] F03E B A AT 75 52 & 17,309 6,155
Tax effect of temporary differences not AEREREZENHBEE
recognised 40,694 9,648
Effect on tax holiday on assessable profit of AR BIA S 2 BB A ’T JERRT
subsidiaries established in the PRC ENZBBERLE - (2,295)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERBEEENTBZE 15,702 6,962
Income tax credit PSR (1,732) (7,084)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR 14. XEEFE
The Group’s loss for the year is stated after charging the following: AEBARFEBHBERINGRUATSEEZ
O ENE
2023 2022
—®'=-= —E=-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHEx FHET
Auditor’s remuneration % SL AT B &
- audit services —ZE R 1,950
— other services — H b AR 7% =
1,950
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment #1% B E MR EITE 62,561
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEENE 3,133
Amortisation of intangible assets BiEEFLEE 27,624
Impairment losses on trade receivables FEWE 5 BR FUR B 518 -
Impairment losses on other receivables H e AR R 2R BB 1B S
Impairment losses on refundable deposits RERESRERIE -
Expenses relating to short-term lease RAEHERBAX =

Cost of sales includes depreciation, amortisation of intangible HEXNABENE BHEFEER
assets and operating lease charges of approximately LR ER X 487,106,000 L (= F
HK$87,106,000, (2022: HK$91,391,000). — — 4% :91,391,000 T ) °

THESEREEZBRARAR | —T=FFRH




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRERME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HLEE

15. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE 15. EEEFMEX
2023 2022
—E-= —E-=
HK$°000 HK$’000
FEx FHET
Employee benefits expense EERAMAX
(including directors’ remuneration): (BREEZHM) :
Salaries, bonuses and allowances e TEA RERL 7,947
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RIRAE T ET B3R 517
8,464
Five highest paid individuals: hEmEEmFAL:
The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the year FRNAEBERESZSTATBEE—F
included one (2022: one) director whose emoluments is reflected in (ZZZ=F:—F)E5 HileER
the analysis presented in note 16(a). A M 16T ET 2 DT A -
The remaining four (2022: four) individuals during the year are as FREK#NB(ZE__F:{FZ) AL
follows: U
2023 2022
—=E-= -
HK$°000 HK$’000
FEx FHET
Salaries and allowances e KOERL 2,091
Pension costs — defined contribution plans RIRAA — 5 E B RET S 254
2,345
The emoluments of the four (2022: four) individuals with the highest MAHE(ZEZZF mE)Ba T AL
emoluments are within the following bands: ZHENTFUTEHE:
Number of individuals
AB
2023 2022
—E=-= —E-=
Emoluments band (in HK dollar) NS E (LUBTRHE)
Nil = HK$1,000,000 £ %1,000,0007 7T 4
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 16. EERARER

(a) Directors’ emoluments (@) EEMS
The remuneration of every director is set out below: BREZHWNEHINMOT
Employer’s
contribution
toa
retirement
Salaries and benefit Housing
Fees  allowances scheme allowance Total
Exm
RANERIEE
we EHeREE  FENER EEER Bt
Name of director g HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TET TET TERT TET TET
Executive directors HITEE
Chen Xiaxuan FREE
Bo Dateng YN
Yue Lu (note () &3 (B EE0)
Independent BUHHTEE
non-executive directors
Pun Hau Man BEX
Lo Ka Ki ERH
Kwok Shun Sing (note (ii) A (BEG)

Total for the year ended BZ-E_=F
31 December 2023 +=ZA=+-H
EEESG

THESEREEZBRARAR | —T=FFRH




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BHRRHE

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
BE-_T-_=F+-A=+T—HLEFE

16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 16. EEEMNRER (&)

(CONTINUED)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (a) E=M< (&)
Employer’s
contribution
toa
retirement
Salaries and benefit Housing
Fees allowances scheme allowance Total
Exm
RIKBMETE
e HeREE EEHER TR M@t
Name of director BEMSY HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TET AT TEL AT THT
Executive directors HiTEF
Chen Xiaxuan REEH - 809 - 182 991
Bo Dateng EXE - 240 - - 240
Yue Lu (note () &3 (PEEG) - 223 - - 223
Independent BUHHITEE
non-executive directors
Pun Hau Man EED 240 - - - 240
Lo Ka Ki ERE 240 - - - 240
Kwok Shun Sing (note (i) E (HH) 207 - - - 207
Lam Cheung Mau (note (i) MRIX (B i) 19 - - - 19
Total for the year ended BE-ZT--F%
31 December 2022 +-R=+—-H
IEEEEE 726 1,272 - 182 2,180
Notes: B 5E -
i) Appointed on 28 January 2022. 0] N_TE_F—-A=+N\BE
=t
(ii) Appointed on 21 January 2022. (i) N\—_TZF—-A=+—H#E
Zt
(i) Resigned on 19 January 2022. (iii) A—EBE-__F—H+hhB#&
£
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17.

18.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

DIVIDENDS 17.

No dividends have been paid or proposed during the year ended
31 December 2023, nor has any dividend been proposed since the
end of the reporting period (year ended 31 December 2022: Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE 18.

Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss (2022: loss) per share attributable
to owners of the Company is based on the loss for the year
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$299,020,000 (2022: loss attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$94,744,000) and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares of 9,374,351,000 (2022:
9,374,351,000) in issue during the year.

Diluted loss per share

Diluted loss per share is the same as the basic loss per share as
the Company did not have any dilutive potential shares for the
financial years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

e M BERRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
BE_T-_=F+ZA=+T—HLEFE

g\

HE-_Z-_=F+-A=+—BH1t#F
EoBER kTR BIRERE B AR
HHRUARTELERBETARKRE (BE
—TE -+ -_A=+—HIFE:
/) o

BREE

BREXER

RARHBEABLEERERABR(ZF
ZZFEBER)IREBERARGEE AR
1l 7N 4F JE 5 18 49299,020,000/%8 7T (=
TZZF ARAEEABEBERY
94,744,000 70) M F N B BT L @A
2 NAE 59 89,374,351,0000% (==
— —4%:9,374,351,0000% ) 5+ & -

BREEER
HRARBAIRBE-_ZT_ZFR_F
T+ A=+ HULMBRFELE

EMEEEERG KRR EEEE
BREAERER -

BRRREEZERERAR | 2 -_=FFR




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BHRRHE

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
BE-_T-_=F+-A=+T—HLEFE

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 19. VX -BERRE

China Smarter Energy Group Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023

Furniture,
fixtures,
office
Solar power equipment
Leasehold generation Plant and and motor
improvements plant/station machinery vehicles Total
BB
yNE2 RE-WLE
HENERE BEF /U BEREE RERKE @zt
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TAT TR AT TET FAT
Cost B
At January 2022 R-ZE-—F#—f—H 6,391 1,512,011 1,984 18,914 1,539,300
Additions NE = 107 = - 107
Disposal/written off HE /i - - - (601) (601)
Deemed disposal of a subsidiary % {E & — KB A Al - = S (6) )
Exchange differences EHEE - (128,061) - (686) (128,747
At 31 December 2022 and i ——
1 January 2023 TZA=+-HEk
“Z-=%—-A—H 6,391 1,384,057 1,984 17,621 1,410,063
Additions NE - 146 - - 146
Disposal/written off HE /M - - = (80) (80)
Exchange differences EREE - (19,778) - 61) (19,839)
At 31 December 2023 R-ZEZ=%
+=A=t+-H 6,391 1,364,425 1,984 17,480 1,390,280
Accumulated depreciation it E
At January 2022 R-_E-—F—A—H 6,380 610,609 1,984 18,586 637,559
Charge for the year FRTH 11 62,547 - 3 62,561
Disposal/written off L&,/ - - - (565) (565)
Exchange differences EHEHE - (52,958) - 615) (53,573)
At 31 December 2022 and i 2
1 January 2023 +-A=+-8k
“T-Z#—-H8-H 6,391 620,198 1,984 17,409 645,982
Charge for the year FALH = 60,924 = 10 60,934
Disposal/written off HE /8 - - = (65) (65)
Exchange differences BN ERE - (8,272) - (25) (8,297)
At 31 December 2023 R-EZ=F
+ZA=+—-H 6,391 672,850 1,984 17,329 698,554
Carrying amount RHE
At 31 December 2023 R-BZ=f%
+=ZA=t+-H S 691,575 S 151 691,726
At 31 December 2022 A
+=R=+-8 - 763,859 - 212 764,071




19.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

For the purpose of impairment assessment as at 31 December
2023, the Group’s solar power generation plants and stations,
together with right-of-use assets (note 20), are attributable to
the cash-generating units (“CGUS”) in the Group’s clean energy
operating segment. There were indicators of impairment for six
clean energy CGUs located in Changfeng, Anhui Province, Gaoan,
Jiangxi Province and Dezhou, Shandong Province, of the People’s
Republic of China.

The recoverable amounts of these CGUs have been determined on
the basis of its value in use using discounted cash flow method.
The key assumptions for the discounted cash flow method are
those regarding the discount rates, growth rates and budgeted
revenue and expenses during the period. The Group estimates
discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the CGUs. The average growth rates used by each CGU is
randing from are based on 2.0% to 6.0%. Budgeted revenue and
expenses are based on past practices and expectations on market
development.

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most
recent financial budgets approved by the directors for the next five
years with the residual period using the growth rate of 2.0% (2022:
2.5%). This rate does not exceed the average long-term growth
rate for the relevant markets.

The pre-tax rates used to discount the forecast cash flows from

the CGUs were 9.0% (2022: 8.1%).

No impairment losses were recognised in respect of the Group’s
property, plant and equipments.

19.

e M BERRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
BE_T-_=F+ZA=+T—HLEFE

M- BERRE (F)

PR T _=FF+_A=+—HZRE
AEfE T & - A 5 B O K B3 R 3 R & 3%
B EREREEE (ME20) DRE
RAEBBREBRDBAZREELSE
([REEELEEM]) LRFEAR
HKMBEZBEREHK THEERETTR
WRERMMANEBRERRSESE
BUFEREDR-

ZERTEEEMZATRESBIIER
MRRERELIREBEEREEEE-R
MBRBASREZPELZIERRIR
MRE BERUARANFAEKRA KA
X o AEBERARBATAN RAETRERE
ZMERRTSRABHEEREEEZ
HERReELBEUNZEERR - BHR
TELBEUEANTFHERERNF2.0%
£6.0% - REWA KRR T5ABEED
REmGRRIAMBEE-

ANEBREZBEREEHNKES
BRITHIEZRREFHEBEEGE
S H AP gt ) 64 B R PR 8 & R2.0%
(ZE-—F:25%)HE - WBEBERAR
HBBEAMEB s FHRRERER

ARUMRReELEEN Z2ERAR SR
BEZHAIMEEIO% (ZEZ ZF:
8.1%) °

BMELNEENDE BB RRERER
BRI -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
BE-Z-=#+t-A=t+-BALFE
20. LEASES AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 20. HERFEHAEEE

Disclosures of lease-related items: THEEEEE FE:

2023 2022
—E-=F —=E-—
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHERT FHET
At 31 December: R+=—HA=+—8:
Right-of-use assets EREEE
— Leasehold lands —HETH 1,197
— Leasehold properties —HEMHE 13,758
14,955
The maturity analysis, based on ERKRUBREREMZET
undiscounted cash flows, of the Group’s AEEHESGENIHINT
lease liabilities is as follows: O
— Less than 1 year —1F A 6,924
— Between 1 and 2 years —1Z24F 318
- Between 2 and 5 years —2&5%F 5,931
- Over 5 years —5F LAk 10,718
23,891
Year ended 31 December: BEZE+=-A=1+—BLEE:
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FTRAEEENTERS
— Leasehold lands —HELTH 97
- Leasehold properties —HEME 3,036
3,133
Lease interests HEER 1,114
Expenses related to short-term leases EHESERERX =
Total cash outflow for leases HERESRLEE 3,194
Additions to right-of-use assets RETAEEE 2,314
Decrease due to disposal of a subsidiary B EK B AR EZUR D 464

For both years, the Group leases various rooftops, reservoir, offices,
staff quarters for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into
for fixed term of 1 year to 25 years, but may have extension and
termination options. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual
basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than
the security interests in the leased assets that are held by the
lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing

purposes.

China Smarter Energy Group Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023

RMEFE ASEHESBETE K
E-HAE BIBERARNEZ-HEA
#)LAE E TH HB14F 2265 RT3 - 1B AT A
BERBEERKRILRER -HERRDE
BRI ER ELER BRZETRGER R
R -BREBARENHEEE 2R
#mih HEBZTEMEMRL A
EEETRAEERER



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BERRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
BE_T-_=F+ZA=+T—HLEFE

21. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 21. BREE
Customer
contracts
Total
EEEHN
et
HK$’000
FAT
Cost 2%
At 1 January 2022 R-_ZT-_—_F—H—H 862,686
Exchange differences e i =R (73,084)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 RZEBE-_—_F+-_A=+—HEK
—E-=f—H—H 789,602
Exchange differences PE N ZE%8 (11,284)
At 31 December 2023 R=ZF=Z=5+=ZHF=+—H 778,318
Accumulated amortisation and AFtEERRESE
impairment losses
At 1 January 2022 R-E-_—_F—AF—H 398,364
Amortisation for the year FEHH 27,624
Exchange differences BN E%8 (34,810)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 RZZE_—F+-A=+—HBERK
—E-=%—HF—H 391,178
Amortisation for the year FEHH 26,182
Exchange differences BN E%8 (5,590)
At 31 December 2023 R-ZB-=%+=HA=+—H 411,770
Carrying amount FREE
At 31 December 2023 R-—-B-_=F+=-HB=+—8H 366,548
At 31 December 2022 RZEZ_F+=ZR=+—H 398,424
Notes: B 5T
(@) The remaining useful life of the intangible assets is 15 years. (@) EBREEZFBRERAFHR/I5F-
(b) Details of the impairment assessment of intangible assets are set out (b) FRERAENREFTHFBRHRES
in note 19 to the consolidated financial statements. G BHmERME19 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BHRRHE

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023

BE-T-_=F+-_A=+—HLHFE
INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

22.

22, HBARKRE

The Company

KA F
2023 2022
—E=-= —E=-=
HK$°000 HK$’000
FBT FET
Unlisted investments, at cost JEETTIRE LA GT 83,369
Less: Impairment losses BB R (83,368)
1

The amounts due from/(to) subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free
and have no fixed terms of repayment.

Y (R MBRARFEREER %
BN £ B E 8 SRR

Particulars of the subsidiaries at 31 December 2023 and 2022 are RZEZ=FR-_F-__F+=A
as follows: =t+—B MEBRAFENT:
Place of
incorporation/ Particular
registration of issued Percentage of ownership/
Name and operation share capital interest/ voting power Principal activities
&L, BB itk Ve §-V4
a8 AMREEEH BRARE FREOH TEEH
Direct Indirect
B %
Max Access Limited British Virgin Islands/ Ordinary US$1 100% - Investment holding
Hong Kong
REBRIEE /BE LERIET REER
Rising Group International Limited British Virgin Islands/  Ordinary US$4,000 100% - Investment holding
Hong Kong
REBRZMES /B8  LTER4,000ET REER
China Smarter Energy Holdings Limited  British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$1 100% - Investment holding
EBEAHE TERIET REER
China Smarter Energy Investment Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 - 100%  Investment holding
Limited
tEE B RREBRAA Bk L1 210,0007% 7T REER
Rising Development Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 S 100%  Investment holding
Non-voting deferred*
HK$5,000,000
BRERARLA Eh EEMR100E T REER
BERFERTR
5,000,000/ 7T
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BERRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
BE_T-_=F+ZA=+T—HLEFE

22. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 22. MEBARRE (&)
(CONTINUED)
Place of
incorporation/ Particular
registration of issued Percentage of ownership/
Name and operation share capital interest/ voting power Principal activities
EMARL, [5%:$0) Fiak,/ #s,/
a1 MR EE LY RARE LY =i TEXRH
Direct Indirect
E# A&
Mega Asset Developments Limited British Virgin Islands/ Ordinary US$1 = 100%  Investment holding
Hong Kong
RBREAHES /A% EERIET REER
Legend Sense Limited British Virgin Islands/ Ordinary US$1 = 100%  Securities dealing
Hong Kong
EREREE /BE EERIET #EHEE
Smarty Express Limited British Virgin Islands/ Ordinary US$1 = 100%  Inactive
Hong Kong
EREREE /BE TERIET EEEik
Billion Worth Limited British Virgin Islands/ Ordinary US$1 = 100%  Investment holding
Hong Kong
EREREE /BE TERIET REER
Surplus Basic Limited British Virgin Islands/ Ordinary US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
Hong Kong
EREREE /BE TERIET REER
Elite Plus Worldwide Limited British Virgin Islands/ Ordinary US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
Hong Kong
EBREAEE /BE TERIET REER
Legacy Billion Investment Limited British Virgin Islands/ Ordinary US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
Hong Kong
KBRIEE /BE TERIET REER
Shanghai Gorgeous Smarter Energy The PRC RMB800,000,000 - 100%  Investment holding
Company Limited
HBEZAREZRRERLA HE AR REER
800,000,0007t

TREBREREEERBERAR | —E-_=ZFFH




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BHRRHE

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
BE-_T-_=F+-A=+T—HLEFE

22. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 22. MEBARRKRE (&)
(CONTINUED)
Place of
incorporation/ Particular
registration of issued Percentage of ownership/
Name and operation share capital interest/ voting power Principal activities
Eau e B8 fiEk, &5,/
a8 AMREELH BRARE ZRADL TEEH
Direct Indirect
B &
Shanghai Dianyang Photovoltaic The PRC RMB20,000,000 = 100%  Investment holding
Gompany Limited* (“Shanghai
Dianyang”)
HERGXRENERAF HE A K #20,000,0007T R EER
(TEBERE])
Jinchang Jintai Photovoltaic Company ~ The PRC RMB160,000,000 = 100%  Operation of solar
Limited* (“Jinchange Jintai”) power plant
EERRARENERAA HE AR BRAGREER
([2E8/%]) 160,000,0007T
Dezhou Guanyang Solar Energy The PRC RMB2,000,000 = 100%  Operation of
Technology Company Limited* distributed solar
power station
ENBBEAGERRERA A HE AR #2,000,0007 SN RN T 7
BEU
Linyi Xinlan Electric Company Limited*  The PRC RMB5,000,000 = 100%  Operation of
distributed solar
power station
BENEENERAA" HE AR #5,000,0007 BN W
BEU
Dezhou Miaoli Energy Company The PRC RMB10,000,000 = 100%  Operation of
Limited* (‘Dezhou Miaoli”) distributed solar
power station
BM R R R AR A A HE A K #10,000,0007T SN RN T 7
([EMyr]) BEU
Dezhou Jiayang New Energy Company  The PRC RMB?7,350,000 = 100%  Operation of
Limited* distributed solar
power station
EMER R AR A A HE A K #7,350,0007T SN RN T 7
BEU
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BERRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
BE_T-_=F+ZA=+T—HLEFE

22. fIBARKRE (&)

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

Place of
incorporation/ Particular
registration of issued Percentage of ownership/
Name and operation share capital interest/ voting power Principal activities
EMARL, [5%:$0) Fiak,/ #s,/
a1 MR EE LY RARE FREEAL TEXRH
Direct Indirect
E# A&
Changfeng Hongyang New Energy The PRC RMB51,600,000 = 100%  Operation of solar
Power Generation Company Limited* power plant
REAGHEREESHERA A HE AR #51,600,0007C BEXGHEER
Gaoan Jinjian Power Generation The PRC RMB31,600,000 = 100%  Operation of solar
Company Limited* (“Gaoan Jinjian”) power plant
BRmEREEERAAN I AR #31,600,0007T BERGREER
(lazgEl)
* These subsidiaries are established in the PRC and are limited liability * ZEMBARIRPBRIMKLERAE

companies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HLEE

23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTOCI AND CLUB 23. BOAREESFAHMEZEKESE
MEMBERSHIP DEBENTURE ZEMEERSMEERES
2023 2022
—EZ=H —F-—
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Unlisted equity securities I ETRAFZ S () 350
Club membership debenture SAHEEES (ii) 130
480
Analysed as: DA
Current assets TENE E
Non-current assets EMENE E
Financial assets at FVTOCI BRRAREEFAEMEE
WHZ 2REE 350
Club membership debenture EMEHEES 130
480
Financial assets at FVTOCI and club membership debenture are EAnBEFAEMEZAREZE®ME
denominated in the following currencies: ERCEMEEEFUATIERE:
2023 2022
—E-= —E -
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
RMB AR 350
Hong Kong dollars BT 130
Notes Bt 5
[0) During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group disposed the [0) BHE-_T-_=F+-A=+—HL#F
equity investment at FVTOCI (2022: shareholding of 16.67%). E AEBHETEAABERFAH
thEEREHRERE (ZT ==
16.67 %R HE) °
(ii) Club membership debenture is classified as amortised costs at initial (ii) EMEHEESFRERERRDERIZ
recognition. The Group does not intend to dispose the investment in BERNIR - AEEESNABHLY
the near future. EZRE-
During the year ended 31 December 2023, no impairment loss on HE-_T_=F+-A=+—BLF
club membership debenture was recognised (2022: Nil). B ARuERRESMEeEESF

BEBB(ZTE__F &)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

TRADE AND BILL RECEIVABLES

mEMBHERME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
BE_T-_=F+ZA=+T—HLEFE

24. BERESRAREVRRE

Y E 5 iR
RERRE A

Trade receivables
Allowance for doubtful debts

2023 2022
—E-= T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET THETT
833,652 695,929
(54,152) (26,969)
779,500 668,960

Included in the Group’s trade receivables are tariff subsidy
receivables amounting to HK$807,893,000 (2022:
HK$640,641,000) recognised based on the prevailing nationwide
government policies on renewable energy for solar plants and
distributed power stations, which are subject to the settlement
by the state grid companies upon finalisation of the allocation of
funds by the relevant authorities to the state grid companies. The
directors expect all of the tariff subsidy will be recovered after
twelve months from the end of the reporting period.

An ageing analysis of trade receivables at the end of the reporting
period based on the transaction date, and net of allowance, is as
follows:

REBZERESERBERBERESR
AXREUHRSGAKRGEEEWLAH
HFRERZERBRNFBEERZ ERE
{E#§85807,893,0008 7L (— T ==
640,641,000/ 7T ) - E;HEE%% N

ARABHFAMEREBAREEDR
EegRx N -EFEEHE hB%ﬁﬁEEHv

R EBRE+ @ AR WE -

JEWE BRI (EHMBEE) RIS
RERSHEBZERRSTWOT

Within 1 year 1R
1to 2 years 122%F
2 to 3 years 2E3F
Over 3 years 3FMUE

2023 2022
—E=-= —EFE -
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
168,206 159,782
162,520 169,348
146,683 330,029
302,091 9,801
779,500 668,960

[ef]

o
el
anp
[\
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BHRRHE

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
BE-_T-_=F+-A=+T—HLEFE

24. TRADE AND BILL RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 24.

As the collection of accrued revenue on tariff subsidy is expected
in the normal operating cycle, which may be recovered after twelve
months from the transaction date. Accrued revenues on tariff
subsidy are discounted at an effective interest rate ranged from
2.10% to 2.51% per annum (2022: 2.05% to 2.34% per annum) as
at 31 December 2023.

Reconciliation of loss allowance for trade receivables:

BREZRRREVRE (F)

HRBEAREFEEBEBBRARN(TRK
BB+ @A %YKE ) EEEH
BE 2 EF WA - R_BE-_=F+_A#
=+—H BEFBMZEFRARN
T210%E251% (ZE__F FF
2.05%%2.34% ) 2 BRFFIEHTIE

HHRUGRREBBEYR:

2023 2022

—E=-= —E- =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FBT FAET
At 1 January ®n—HA—H 30,882
Increase in loss allowance for the year AE BB EE s -
Exchange differences N %R (3,913)
At 31 December R+tZA=+—H 26,969
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

TRADE AND BILL RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a
provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision
rates are based on ageing for groupings of various customer
segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by geographical region,
product type, customer type and rating, and coverage by letters of
credit or other forms of credit insurance). The calculation reflects
the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and
reasonable and supportable information that is available at the
reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts
of future economic conditions. Generally, trade receivables are
written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on

mEMBHERME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
BE_T-_=F+ZA=+T—HLEFE

24. BERESZRAREWRE (F)

S RERMRBABREETRED
oLt EBRREEER - BEXER
Eﬁ%ﬁwﬁi’ﬁéﬁ‘té’ﬁfl—]%ﬁﬁ DHEH

R (BB R EmBEL -BF
BRARIE UREREREATEAMN
ERRBROAREE)FE - ZAER
MR MESER BERFREBEARR
BERAHAUESAREESH ERMN
ABRAREERRBRNEERATEE
Fro—MKMmE HERZEZERRANAE
T8 B A R Y (Bl B - B0 DA o

TRBINAEERABEBEESFENE

the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix: WESERZEERRER :
As at 31 December 2023 R-E-_=F+=-A=+-—H
Within 1to2 2t0 3 Over
1 year years years 3 years Total
1R 1226 2Z3F 3ENE @it
Expected credit loss rate BHEEHBX 0.2% 0.2% 0.5% 14.9%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) #EKEE (THT) 168,556 162,843 147,347 354,906 833,652
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) TEHIEEERE (FiET) 350 323 664 52,815 54,152
As at 31 December 2022 RZE-_—_F+=-A=+—H
Within 1t02 2t03 Over
1 year years years 3 years Total
1R 1226 PEXE:S SEPE EobS
Expected credit loss rate BHEEBEX 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 73.3%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) BRI E (T87T) 159,782 169,348 330,029 36,770 695,929
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) TEHIfEEEE (FAL) - - - 26,969 26,969
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HLEE

25 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 25. ERRE -REREMERE
RECEIVABLES ESN
2023 2022
—EC-=F g2
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FHERT FHET
Value added tax recoverable AJ U [ 42 (B R 2,138 10,882
Other prepayments H B RIA 8,949 4,794
Deposits e 7,749 1,621
Other receivables H b B ULBR 3R 23,183 18,499
Amount due from related companies & Uz B3 A 7 A 0 880 3,096
Consideration receivable from e — B AR ERAE
disposal of a subsidiary 55,174 55,974
98,073 94,866
Impairment — other receivables B — B b FE IR 3R (69,941) (44,157)
28,132 50,709

Note: B &L -

FEUREERRRAAEERR 28R

(i) Amount due from related companies was unsecured, interest-free, (i)

and repayable on demand. BIRBERKEE -
26. REFUNDABLE DEPOSITS 26. MERERS
2023 2022
—EZ=H —E-
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Refundable deposits ARERS 333,584
Impairment B (235,364)
98,220
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26.

27.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REFUNDABLE DEPOSITS (CONTINUED)

The Group paid deposits for the potential acquisition of solar
power plant in Ningdong, Ningxia, the PRC. Details of the potential
acquisition were disclosed in the Company’s announcements on 11
December 2015 and 13 March 2019.

At 31 December 2019, as no agreement was reached by the Group
and the potential vendor to the further extension of the completion
date of the potential acquisition, the potential acquisition has been
lapsed and terminated. Accordingly, the parties shall have no
further obligation to proceed with the potential acquisition and the
deposit paid would be refunded in due course.

In March 2020, the Group agreed a repayment timetable with
the vendor for settlement before September 2020 and 2021, and
such was pledged by certain solar plants and machineries owned
by the vendor to secure the repayments of the deposits to the
Group. The vendor was in default of the payment on 30 September
2020. As advised by the management, the pledged assets was
low value and the Group has no access to these assets. At 31
December 2023 and 2022, the impairment losses of the refundable
deposits amounting to HK$333,326,000 and HK$235,364,000 was
recognised respectively. During the year ended 31 December 2023
and 2022, the impairment losses amounted to HK$97,962,000 and
nil was recognised respectively.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL

26.

27.

e M BERRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
BE_T-_=F+ZA=+T—HLEFE

ARERE (&)
m%laﬁﬁ&@ﬁc@EW%@m¢
HEEERMAL R EH - EE R

EEFBEERAARR Taﬁﬁ_g—ﬁ
E+-_A+—BR-_ZE—HAhFE=A+=
BEYAMHA -

RZZE-—NF+ZA=Z+—H HRAE
SERBEETAME-TEREER
MBS I8 2 ek B B E R (AT 1 5
ERBEERERARALERLE- Ilit ET
mﬁlﬁLT@EW$$Em

T AEXNREBERRE-

RZBEZETF=A AEEEESFHE
RZTEZEFRZT_—FNAREHN
ZEERER EBBESEAECAT
KI5 ge 8 F&%%Eﬁu¢ﬁﬁ$ﬁ
EEEZe2ER - RZZE=FFNA
=t+R - BEAERMAR-BOEREMN
EH EEREEEBREE BEAKE
MEMBREEE- w_%_*¢&_
T F+ZA=+—H BE®ERY
Eke 2 REEED R /333,326, ooo
BT K 235,364,0008 L A EZT ==
ER-_TE-__F+-_A=+—HItF
E 2R EEEE 5 /97,962,000
BILRE

%ﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁkﬁéZ%ﬂﬁ

2023 2022
—E== —EF-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHxT FHET
Unlisted investment funds FLEMEEES 43

TREESRERER

ERERARE | ZEZ=FF#

137




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BHRRHE

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
BE-_T-_=F+-A=+T—HLEFE

28. RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS

29.

28. ZMRHBITER

2023 2022

—=E:—-= =
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FERT FET
Deposit for loan facility EXmEZRS () 282
Restricted bank deposit ZIREIRITIE K (ii) 356
638

Notes: Bt 5 -

0] At 31 December 2022, pursuant to a bank account co- 0] RZBZZF+=ZA=+—8 RE
administration agreement signed by a subsidiary of the Company, a ARARMEB AR RITEABIERA
bank and an independent lender, in which the independent lender (EFBIBERAREARAREER
provided a loan facility to the Company as disclosed in note 31(ii), A (M ST IRER) )&EE
the usage of bank deposits of HK$279,000 was restricted to the ZRITERBHAERHE  RITHENX
acquisition of Qingdao Guxin Electricity Investment Company 279,000 L2 AR R KESTER
Limited. RENREBRAF -

(ii) The Company received winding-up petitions issued by Cheer (ii) ARADHINR_ZE-_ZEFHA+H
Hope and Al Global on 15 May 2020 and 9 July 2020 respectively. AN=—ZT-ZFt A AN ABEECheer
Consequently, the bank balances of the Company of HK$356,000 Hope XAl Global# HMWBEE 2 -
(2022: HK$356,000) was ordered by the court to be frozen. As at It AR E B 356,000 T (= F
the date of these consolidated financial statements, the Company — =4 : 356,000 7T) WIRITHE R D
had made settlements and the Cheer Hope Petition and Al Global WAL i R R A c M AER B MR K
Petition were withdrawn/dismissed and the Company is in the HEf A QA REEL AR - Cheer Hope
process of registering for the release of the bank balances. 25 RAI Global 2 5 T 4 #iss #E

BADREMHBMRBITESBZERD
FiE-

CASH AND BANK BALANCES 29. BERW|ITEER

2023 2022
—=E:=-= =

HK$°000 HK$’000
FERT FAET
Cash and bank balances Re RIRITERS 157,287

At 31

December 2023, the aggregate amount of the cash and

bank balances of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to
HK$38,767,000 (2022: HK$150,363,000). Conversion of RMB
into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.
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30.

31.

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHERME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HLEE

30. HttENRARETER

2023 2022
—E-=F —F-—

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
P 5 FET FHET
Amount due to an investee company [ —REWIRE A & FIE 0] 2,491 2,491
Amount due to Nine United & ~fNine United 5% 18 (iif) 48,723 36,642
Consideration payable ERRE (ii) 29,378 54,758
Loan interest payable FERERFE 579,670 353,898
Others Httb 217,014 190,392
877,276 638,181

Notes: B 5+

(i) Amount due to an investee company is unsecured, non-interest
bearing and has no fixed terms of repayment.

(ii) Consideration payable represented the amounts due to vendors for

acquisition of three subsidiaries.

(iii) Creaton Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong
with limited liability and directly held by Mr. Ko Tin Kwok, an ex-
director of the Company, assigned all its respective rights and
interests to Nine United International Limited (“Nine United”), a third

party, on 27 June 2021.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Maturity
Z# A

0} N — MR A QR FIAREER
TEt B R EEEENHR -

(i) P& (B 45 3t Wi = R B B & ) & T
BT HIR -

(i) BlZEEERAA (REBTMAK
VHBBAR BHARRMNESRES
AEEEEEEB)ER-_Z=_—F
XA =+ -+ BME =7 Nine United
International Limited ( [Nine United] )

S E=E RN £
31. RITREMER

2023 2022
—E-= T F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FET

Current

B &R

Bank loans — secured (note (i))
IRITEFR — B ER (M)
Other loan — secured (note (ii))
H A& — B HEM (KEEG))
Other loan — secured (note (i)

(
HAth & 5K — A IR (BT (i) )
(

Other loan — secured (note (iv))

V,
Hp &R —AEA (M)

July 2027, September 2028

—E-4+FtHA-ZZE-N\FHA

June 2020
—E-FTFXRA
June 2021
—E-—F XA
June 2021
—E-—FXA

486,370 493,421
527,466 535,112
206,793 299,349
13,398 13,694
1,234,027 1,341,476
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BHRRHE

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
BE-_T-_=F+-A=+T—HLEFE

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(CONTINUED)

31.

The bank and other borrowings to be repayable as follows:

31.

RITREMMER (F)

ATEEZRITREMERNT

2023 2022
—E=-= =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET
Within one year —FR 1,341,476

Notes:

(0)

(i

(i)

At 31 December 2023, the Group’s bank borrowings of
HK$486,370,000 (2022: HK$493,421,000) were guaranteed by a
subsidiary up to a total amount of RMB440,758,000 (equivalent
to HK$486,370,000) (2022: RMB440,758,000 (equivalent to
HK$493,421,000)). According to the repayment terms set out in
two separate agreements, the bank borrowings will be repayable
by semi-annual instalments with the last instalments due in July
2027 and September 2028, respectively. The bank borrowings were
interest-bearing per annum at the benchmark interest rate for loans
over 5 years determined by the People’s Bank of China to financial
institutions (2022: same). The Group was in default of the installment
repayments during the year. Accordingly, the whole amount of the
loan was classified as current liabilities as at 31 December 2023.
The default has not been remedied at the date these consolidated
financial statements were authorised for issue.

At 31 December 2023, the Group’s other loan of HK$527,466,000
(2022: HK$535,112,000) was interest-bearing at 7.90% per annum,
and was guaranteed by an independent company and Shanghai
Gorgeous. According to the repayment terms, the other loan was
repayable in June 2020. The Group was in default of repayment of
this loan and the default has not been remedied at the date these
consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue. As at
31 December 2023, the loan is overdue and a penalty interest fee is
incurred. The penalty interest rate is the loan interest rate multiplied
by 150%.

At 31 December 2023, the Group’s other loans of HK$206,793,000
(2022: HK$299,349,000) were interest-bearing at 7.00% per annum,
and were guaranteed by a subsidiary of the Group. According to
the repayment terms, the other loans were due for repayment in
June 2021 and the default has not been remedied at the date these
consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue. As at
31 December 2023, the loan is overdue and a penalty interest fee is
incurred. The penalty interest rate is the loan interest rate multiplied
by 150%.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHERME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HLEE

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 31. S|ITRHEMMER (&)

(CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued) et (48)

(v) At 31 December 2023, the Group’ s other loans of HK$13,398,000 (v ®RZZ_=F+-A=+—B &K
(2022: HK$13,594,000) were interest-bearing at 6.00% per annum, £ @ 2 H A& 3013,398,0007 7T (=
and were guaranteed by a subsidiary of the Group. According to T~ ~ 4 :13,594,0008 T ) I EBF
the repayment terms, the other loan was repayable in June 2021. 6.00%5T 2. 3 f AN 5 [ — A B[ B A A
The Group was in default of repayment of this loan and the default BR-BEBERET HMERERZ
has not been remedied at the date these consolidated financial T —FRAEE-AEEEREE
statements were authorised for issue. ZER RN ERETIEZEGRE MR

KA BHOEMKTULIE-

(v) The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowing are all denominated v) AEBEBROERABESHAAREE-

in RMB.

LEASE LIABILITIES 32. HEARE

Present value of

Minimum lease payments

minimum lease payments

BEAERAR BEREMRERE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—EC-=E —E-CF —E-ZE —EC-CF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
TERT AT TER FEL

—FR 3,886 6,924
FEENF (BREEWT) 5,935 6,249
AFE 9,249 10,718

Within one year
In the second to fifth years, inclusive
After five years

4,454

19,070
(4,420) (5,760)

14,650 18,131

18,131

B RRBERX

Less: Future finance charges

Present value of lease payments MENZRE 18,131

128 AREE R EE
(GIRRBARE)

Less: Amount due for settlement
within 12 months (shown under

current liabilities) (3,690)

Amount due for settlement after 128 AR EE R HF0E

12 months

R—_B-_=F+-_A=+—H HE
EEREBMESERTEN T4.24%
E7.93% (ZEBEZZF : N F4.24% %
7.93%) MEREHBHET A5H
EimEEEA s EENERR-

At 31 December 2023, the incremental borrowing rates applied
to lease liabilities range from 4.24% to 7.93% (2022: from 4.24%
to 7.93%). Interest rates are fixed at the contract dates and thus
expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.
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For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
BE-_E-_=fF+-A=+—HBILt&EE

33. PROVISIONS FOR LITIGATIONS AND CLAIMS  33. AR RERE
2023 2022
—EBE-=F —=E-—
HK$°000 HK$’000
FEx FHET
At the beginning of year F1 273,954 287,613
Charge for the year FAZE 9,777 8,240
Reversal # o (49,131) -
Exchange differences P N (3,403) (21,899)
At the end of year FR 231,197 273,954
Provision for litigations and claims represents legal claims brought FARREREREAESEWE AR AT
against the Group by former shareholders of subsidiaries of the R RBRERD BOE T RS
Group and certain service providers of the clean energy segment. MAEBERBEAERRE - BEIRE
The provisions are made based on legal advices received, court Tk BB 22 B R ARG SRAER
orders or settlement agreements entered into between the Group BEERAFLHMEHZE (BE41)Mm
and the claimants (note 41). fEH -
34. AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED PARTIES 34. FESEB A RE
2023 2022
—EBE-=F g
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FTEx FHET
Amount due to a director B —REERIA () 300
Amount due to non-controlling FEAST FEHE Hﬁﬂxﬁ
shareholder (i) 9,360
9,660

Note:

(i) The amounts were unsecured, interest free and repayable on
demand.
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35. EEBEERS

RAFEEREEFE CRBTZERL

35. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

The followings are the major deferred tax liabilities recognised and

movements thereon during the current year and prior year: HREBEAEREZHWT:
Fair value
Property, gains on
plant and customers
equipment contract Total
L EEEHZ
B EREE AREEKR Ber
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET FHET
At 1 January 2022 R-_ZT-_—_4—H—H 8,490 116,081 124,571
Exchange differences PE N ZE%8 (698) (9,569) (10,267)
Credited to profit or loss R A (577) (6,906) (7,483)
At 31 December 2022 and i,
1 January 2023 +=—A=+—8x&
—ET-_=%—fF—H 7,215 99,606 106,821
Exchange differences PE N ZE%8 (99) (1,380) (1,479)
Credited to profit or loss MBI A (551) (6,589) (7,140)
At 31 December 2023 R=FT==
+=HA=+—8 6,565 91,637 98,202

At 31 December 2023, the Group had unused tax losses of
HK$901,412,000 (2022: HK$952,146,000) available to offset
against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of such tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. The unrecognised tax losses of HK$528,629,000 (2022:
HK$567,983,000) can be carried forward infinitively. The remaining
HK$372,783,000 (2022: HK$384,163,000) will expire in next one
to five years.

RZEBE-Z_=F+=-_A=+—H &X&
EEUHEBEAEEN RS ARIE
E548901,412,000 T (=T = —
952,146,000 7t) » | 7 B & & F 2K
B2 A TER S I B ET IR
FERRAEEHBEE - RERBE
&518528,629,0008 L (Z T = = F ¢
567,983,000/ 7T ) A] fE IR HA 45 %5 - #R
T 2372,783,0008 L (T = =
384,163,000 L) KR AR —ZEZ R F
[ o

No provision for deferred taxation has been made for other
temporary differences as the effect is not material.

HREMERERZES AEAR AL
3P 4 B H RS = R (F R E IR B
e
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BE-_T-_=F+-A=+T—HLEFE

36. SHARE CAPITAL 36. B
Number
of shares Amount
B EE £5
000 HK$’000
T % FHET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.0025 each SRR E{E0.00258 T 2 LMK
Authorised share capital: EERA:
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, R-_ZE-_—_F—HF—8-
1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 —E-—_F+-_A=+—8"
ZEZ=F—-H—BK
—E2-=F+=-A=+—H 120,000,000 300,000
Issued and fully paid share capital: ERITRHBERE:
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, RZE—=—F—H—A8"
1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 —E-—_F+-_A=+—8"
—EZ=F—-H—BK
ZEZ=F+=ZA=+—8 9,374,351 23,436
The primary objective of the Group’s capital risk management is to AEBEEARRBREENEZBZIER
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and AEBBERFBLENRE I RERFER
to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business ZERLEUATHFEER I H AR
and maximise shareholder value. BE-
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to AEEREBELERBEENLEBERARL
it, in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust BAREE REFLABRELREE K
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment SEeRABRRAREIAOHRE BRE
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. TR ERBRIBEITHRGD REZE
No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes CEC=ER-E-__F+-A=+—
during the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. AEtFE BAEEMNEZ BRI
PRI EEs-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

36. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt
divided by the total equity of the Group. Net debt includes interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings, less cash and bank balances
and excludes discontinued operation. Capital includes equity
attributable to owners of the Company. The gearing ratio at the end
of the reporting period was as follows:

36.

e M BERRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
BE_T-_=F+ZA=+T—HLEFE

A (%)

AEENEERBL X (AAKEFA
BERUNERES)ERHEEAFRER
AR RITREMESRR S RIRTTHE
HRETERERLEREXK -BEABHE
ARREEARIEEZ - RNREHRD
BEABLENAT:

2023 2022
—E-= T

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHEx FHET

Bank and other borrowings RIT R E A AR 1,341,476

Less: Cash and bank balances AR e RIRTTAH (157,287)

Net debt FAE 1,184,189
Total deficiency attribute to owners of AATHEA AE(RE M BT

the Company (241,677)

Gearing ratio BEBMELE N/ATiE B

The Company’s externally imposed capital requirements for its
listing on the Stock Exchange is to maintain a public float of at
least 25% of the shares. The Company receives a report from the
share registrars weekly on substantial share interests showing the
non-public float and it demonstrates continuing compliance with
the 25% limit throughout the year. As at 31 December 2023, 40%
(2022: 40%) of the shares were in public hands.

Breaches in meeting the financial covenants and shareholding
requirement would permit the bank to immediately call borrowings.
The Group was in default of repayments of bank and other
borrowings from four lenders which permitted the lenders to
demand accelerated repayment as at 31 December 2023 and
2022. Details are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RABIRERT ETZINBREBERE
KERBREREEDHER2% 2 K-
ARG BREZEERNBEERLREE LT
TERBATIREETEROER 2R
S RBREBTIARARERAFEEAN—
HETB% L REABERERT RN
—E_=F+-A=Z+—H BhHzA
BERERBI0% (T T - —F:40%) o

WERBITHMBRZAERFRESR  RIT
AR EEER- RZTE_=FR=F
ZZF+Z A=+ —H AEBEKREE
BENEERANROTREMENR 28
RABRBRER -FBIARERENH
AR MIFEST -
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For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
BE-_T-_=F+-A=+T—HLEFE

37.

SHARE BASED PAYMENT
Share option scheme

The Company has adopted a new share option scheme (the “New
Scheme”) on 18 December 2014 upon the expiration of the 2004
Scheme. The purpose of the New Scheme is to reward participants
who have contributed or will contribute to the Group and to
encourage participants to work towards enhancing the value
of the Company and its shares for the benefit of the Company
and its shareholders as a whole. Eligible participants of the New
Scheme comprise of (a) any employee(s) (whether full time or part
time employee(s), including any executive director but not any
non-executive director) of the Company or its subsidiaries; (b)
any non-executive director (including independent non-executive
directors) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries; (c) any supplier
of goods or services to a member of the Group; (d) any customer
of the Group; and (e) any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to the Group. The
New Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years
commencing on the adoption date after which no further option
shall be offered or granted but the provision of the New Scheme
shall remain in full force and effect to the extent necessary to give
effect to the exercise of any option granted or exercised prior
thereto or otherwise as may be required under the New Scheme.

The principal terms of the New Scheme are:

(@) The subscription price for the shares under the share option
to be granted will be determined by the directors and will be
the highest of:

(i) the closing price of the Company’s shares as stated
in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange on the date of grant which must be a
business day;

(i) the average closing price of the Company’s shares
as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued
by the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and

(iif) the nominal value of the shares on the date of grant.

(b) The maximum number of the Company’s shares which may
be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the New Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company shall not, in the absence of shareholders’
approval, in aggregate exceed 10% in the nominal amount
of the aggregate of shares in issue on the adoption date.
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37.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SHARE BASED PAYMENT (CONTINUED)

Share option scheme (Continued)

)]

No option may be granted to any person such that the total
number of the Company’s shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all options granted and to be granted
to each participant in any 12-month period up to the
date of the latest grant exceeds 1% of the number of the
Company'’s shares in issue.

At any time, the maximum number of the Company’s shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all options which
then have been granted and have yet to be exercised under
the New Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company shall not in aggregate exceed 30% of the
Company'’s shares in issue from time to time.

Any grant of share options to a director, chief executive
or substantial shareholder of the Company or to any of
their associates, is subject to approved in advance by the
independent non-executive directors.

Any grant of share options to a substantial shareholders or
an independent non-executive director of the Company, or
to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares
of the Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate
value (based on the prices of the shares of the Company
at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any
12-month period, is subject to shareholders’ approval in
advance at a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
5 days from the date of offer, to be accompanied by the
payment of a consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee.

The share options do not carry any right to vote in general meeting
of the Company, or any right, dividend, transfer or any other rights
including those arising on the liquidation of the Company.

No share option was granted under the New Scheme during the
year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

The total number of the Company’s shares available for issue
under the New Scheme at the date of these consolidated financial
statements was 594,491,440 (2022: 594,491,440), representing
6.3% (2022: 6.3%) of the issued share capital of the Company at
the date of these consolidated financial statements.
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 38. XATMUMBRARRREES
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY )

(a) Statement of financial position of the (@) A2 R BMRRFK
Company
2023 2022
—EC-=E —_E-—
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
B 5 FE&T FET
Non-current asset kRBEE
Investment in a subsidiary RWBRRZEE 22 1
1
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments, deposits and TERRIE R e REA
other receivables FEUAR 3R 3,356
Refundable deposits REBES 87,516
Amounts due from subsidiaries G NGIE S 20,469
Restricted bank deposits R HIRITIFR 351
Bank and cash balances RITRIR AR =
111,692
Current liabilities REBAE
Accruals and other payables FERT B PR &% E fh FE - BRK 45,909 43,659
Amounts due to subsidiaries FET M8 A B RIE 459,135 459,135
505,044 502,794
Net current liabilities RBABEFEE (501,332) (391,102)
Net liabilities E8EFE (501,331) (391,101)
Equity R
Share capital A% 7 23,436 23,436
Reserves #%E (524,767) (414,537)
EQUITY EDR (501,331) (891,101)
This statement of financial position was approved by: REF AR T B T A A T HOE
Chen Xiaxuan Pun Hau Man
fR B & BEX
Director Director
EFE EF

China Smarter Energy Group Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BERRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
BE_T-_=F+ZA=+T—HLEFE

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 38. ANTFMNHHERRRRFEEE
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (&)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Reserve movement of the Company (b) EQFRFEESE
Share Contributed  Accumulated
premium surplus losses Total
RDEE BABH R EE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT TR THL TAT
At 1 January 2022 W-B--%-A—H 4,157,427 154,440 (4,716,178) (404,311)
Total comprehensive loss for AEEREEBELESR
the year - - (10,206) (10,206)
At 31 December 2022 RZZZZF+=-R=1+—H 4,157,427 154,440 (4,726,404) (414,537)
At 1 January 2023 R-B-=#-f—f 4,157,427 154,440 (4,726,404) (414,537)
Total comprehensive loss for rEERAFBEEE
the year - - (110,230) (110,230)
At 31 December 2023 R-ZZ-=Z%+=A=+-H 4,157,427 154,440 (4,836,634) (524,767)
39. RESERVES 39. f#E
Group rE
The amounts of the Group's reserves and movements therein are AEBEZREREESH 2 2BE 2R
presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other FeERkAMEERERKEEER
comprehensive income and consolidated statement of changes in FHx-

equity.
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39. RESERVES (CONTINUED) 39. f##& (&)

Nature and purpose of reserves

Share premium account: Share premium represents the amount of
the excess of issue price of the company’s share over its par value.

Contributed surplus: The contributed surplus arose (i) as a result of
the Group reorganisation carried out on 12 September 1997 and
represents the difference between the nominal value of shares of
the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the Group reorganisation,
over the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange
therefore and (i) as a result of another Group capital reorganisation
carried out on 3 April 2009 in respect of capital reduction which
became effective on 6 April 2009.

Under the Companies Act 1981 (as amended) of Bermuda, the
Company may make distributions to its members out of the
contribution surplus under certain circumstances.

Investment revaluation reserve: The investment revaluation reserve
comprises the cumulative net change in the fair value of financial
assets at FVTOCI held at the end of the reporting period and is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy in note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Exchange fluctuation reserve: The exchange fluctuation reserve
comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign operations. The
reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies set
out in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

Statutory reserve fund: The statutory reserve, which is non-
distributable, is appropriated from the profit after taxation of the
Group’s PRC subsidiaries under the applicable laws and regulations
in the PRC.
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40. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 40. FEBERERMHT
OF CASH FLOWS
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from METHMELAEBEZEHER

financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising TERFINAEEERETHMELARE
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash 2B EREEReMIERSEY-
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for BMEETHMELABEERAEEEGEE
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the ERERVEAREZDRERELR
Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from EREBIARRERE -

financing activities.

Early
1 January Disposal of Interest termination  Exchange 31 December
2023 Addition  Cash flows a subsidiary  expenses of lease differences 2023
—EC-ZE
it it HE-B R’A t=A
-B-H RE  RERE  WEAR  FEEX  KLHE  EXEE =t-H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET TR TR TRR THET TR TRT
Bank and other borrowings BT REMER 1,341,476 (88,871) (18,578) 1,234,027
Lease liabilities (note 32) RERRE (MF32) 18,131 (4,273) (231) 14,650
Loan interest payable included in STARBEBELL
other payables arising from financing ~ EL At f+ B 3% 0 fE
activities ERHE 353,898 241,427 (15,655)
1,713,505 (93,144) 242,450 (34,464)
Early
1 January Disposal of Interest  termination Exchange 31 December
2022 Addition  Cash flows  a subsidiary expenses of lease differences 2022
“BC-Cf
it S k3 il +ZA
-A-H AE  HeRE -BMBRR  FERx  RULEE EXEE =t+-H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHL FiEn T Fin T TiEn FiEn ThL
Bank and other borrowings RITRAMIER 1,458,740 6,317 - - - - (123581) 1,341,476
Lease liabiltes (note 32) BEAE (M) 19,061 2,314 (3,194) (464) 1,114 - (700) 18,131
Loan interest payable included in STABEEREL L
other payables arising from financing £ At < 8 57 0 FE
activities BRFE 242,403 - - - 141,316 - (29821) 353,898
1,720,204 8,631 (3,194) (464) 142,430 - (154,102) 1,713,505
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41. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

(@)

Pursuant to a settlement agreement entered into between
Jinchang Jintai and Gansu Jintai Electricity Company
Limited (“Gansu Jintai”) on 27 January 2021 and the
judgement made by the court in the PRC in relation to this
litigation, the Group was required to make payments of
RMB33,624,000 (equivalent to HK$37,104,000) to Gansu
Jintai and RMB25,764,000 (equivalent to HK$28,430,000) to
a third party. These amounts were included in the provisions
for litigations and claims as at 31 December 2023 and 2022
and the settlement had not yet been made up to the date of
approval of these consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, Gansu Jintai,
initiated arbitrations petition against Jinchang Jintai, for
outstanding receivables of RMB111,003,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$122,490,000) and corresponding late
penalties of RMB30,080,000 (equivalent to HK$33,193,000)
in respect of the acquisition of Jinchang Jintai in 2014. The
Group is concurrently in the process of negotiating with
Gansu Jintai for a settlement and an amicable disposal
of the matter. The aggregate amount was included in the
provisions for litigations and claims as at 31 December
2023 and 2022 and the settlement had not yet been made
up to the date of approval of these consolidated financial
statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, 1 R ¥4£3% &
£ B A R A A who was the former shareholder of Gaocan
Jinjian, a subsidiary of the Group, initiated arbitrations
against Shanghai Gorgeous Smarter Energy Company
Limited, an indirectly owned subsidiary of the Group,
and Gaoan Jinjian, for outstanding receivables due from
Shanghai Gorgeous Smarter Energy Company Limited. On
30 September 2021, the Company and R # £ & &=
E A BR A A entered into a settlement agreement and total
settlement further increase to RMB44,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$48,553,000). As at 31 December 2023
and 2022, amounting to RMB39,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$43,325,000) had been settled.

China Smarter Energy Group Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023

41.

s
(@) MEZEHRRHBRRENA

REARAR([HEHE] )R =
T —F—AZ+tHTZHA
fi# 195 &2 DA R AR B 0K BT Bk A% BF A
ER B H R REB AR Y &I
ZE X AR #33,624,0007T (48
B 737,104,0005 7T ) LA B 1A —
BE=F X ARME25,764,000
7 (18 & $228,430,000/ 7T ) ° K
TEC=FRZE-_F+=A
=+ —B ZEREDHAFA
FEEREREEZSHRANE
R IEHLE B HR R E K AR

BT+ _-_A=+—H
FEE - HERRHEN -_Z—NM
FRE S SRR MK I ER
FIE AR ¥111,008,0007T (48
B R #9122,490,0005% 7T ) I 48 &
4 e A R 30,080,000t (48
& 783,193,000/ ) M & & %
ZEREMHEEF - ALERKIE
Eﬁﬁ%ﬁ%%%?ﬂﬁﬁﬁfw&ﬁﬂ
BEEEBE- R-_Z_=ZFK=F
—ZF+=ZRAR=+—H %@%
=k +/\ﬁ*‘\&atﬁéﬁﬁﬁﬁi
SREVBRREIEB BN ER
ERFIAR ©

HEZT-_ZF+_A=+—H
LEFE PRAERELEBAR
NE(AEBEBLAAREE R
ﬁﬁﬂﬁ%)WZKEIFEj%W%“—
FHEBEZAEERREBRA
BRCERBME . /*/F&Fﬁ“%zi
BREZAEERERERA
MR A IR IE - EA_t,_—
Eﬂﬂ—JrEl RN EAR R
&ﬁﬁlﬁ@“ a) §] 3 A0 AR
Tﬁ%% BNBEEE— S LEAE
AR ﬁ%44,ooo,000ﬁ (BERAD
48,553,000 TL) cRZE==F
&72::¢+:ﬁ_+ S
B & A R #39,000,0007t (18
B A #143,325,000/8 7T ) °



41.

42,

43.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS (CONTINUED)

(d) On 20 November 2019, the Group has initiated a lawsuit
against Hongxiang New Materials Company Limited (7= f£
# B AR 2 7)) (“Hongxiang”) for the recovery of,
inter alia, electricity charges and late payment fee pursuant
to a rooftop rental agreement dated 28 August 2015 and
its supplemental agreement dated 6 June 2017 entered
into between Hongxiang and Dezhou Miaoli, an indirect
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. On 11 December
2020, Hongxiang initiated a lawsuit counterclaiming against
Dezhou Miaoli for recovery of, inter alia, electricity and
late payment fee. With reference to advice of the Group’s
legal advisor, the directors estimated the Group will likely
to be liable to pay a total of approximately RMB9,045,000
(equivalent to HK$9,981,000). The aggregate amount was
included in the provisions for litigations and claims as at 31
December 2023 and 2022 and the settlement had not yet
been made up to the date of approval of these consolidated
financial statements.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities (31 December 2022: Nil) other than as
disclosed in note 41.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

As announced by the Company on 18 January 2024, Company
announced that it was informed that on 26 December 2023,
the Third Intermediate People’s Court of Shanghai Municipality*
(E8mE =L ARZER) had made a civil ruling accepting
the winding up application in respect of Shanghai Dianyang
Photovoltaic Company Limited* (F/8# G XK E H B R A7)
(“Shanghai Dianyang”), an indirect and wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, for the reasons of being insolvent and its assets not
being sufficient to repay its indebtedness.

41.

42,

43.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(CONTINUED)

As announced by the Company on 29 May 2024, the Company
announced that it had just been informed that the Jinchuan District
People’s Court of Jinchang City of Gansu Municipality* (H &4 &
Em&)IlE ARZEBR) (the “PRC Court”) made a civil ruling on 26
March 2024 accepting the bankruptcy reorganization application
in respect of Jinchang Jintai Photovoltaic Company Limited* (& &
BFENREHBER A F) (“Jinchang Jintai”), an indirect and wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company and a direct and wholly-owned
subsidiary of Shanghai Dianyang, for the reasons of its inability
to repay its indebtedness, and its plausibility and necessity of
reorganization.

As announced by the Company on 24 December 2024, the
Company announced that it had just been informed that the PRC
Court made a civil ruling on 19 December 2024 approving the
reorganization plan proposal put forward by the administrator (&
2 A) of Jinchang Jintai, terminating Jinchang Jintai * s bankruptcy
reorganization procedures and retaining the said administrator to
perform its duties until the reorganization plan was completed.

As announced by the Company on 15 April 2025 and 21 May
2025, the Company has received a winding-up petition against the
Company (“ANPA Petition”), filed by ANPA FINANCIAL SERVICES
GROUP LIMITED (“ANPA” or “Petitioner”). Reference is made to the
announcement of the Company dated 15 April 2025, 21 May 2025
and 20 June 2025. The Company and the Petitioner have agreed
on a settlement proposal. At the ANPA Petition hearing on 16 July
2025, the High Court ordered that the hearing of the ANPA Petition
be further adjourned to 8 October 2025.

APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 25 September
2025.
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Five-Year Financial Summary

EFEMBEHRE

The following is a summary of the consolidated results and the assets, W TNA#HEZE T - =€+ -_A=+—HItEH
liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for the five years (EAFEAREB G EEHEE BENLIFE

ended 31 December 2023. R E o
RESULTS E
Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-=F -2 —E-— —E-FF —Z-hE
+=A=+-B +ZA=+—HB +ZA=+—-B +ZA=+t—H +tZA=+-H
LEE LEE ItFE tFEE HFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TEL TR TET TR

(Re-presented)

(EEHZ5)

REVENUE WA 178,372 195,910 211,120 560,450 1,122,958
Continuing operations BEEK 178,372 195,910 208,280 450,045 1,122,958
Discontinued operations BRIEEE - - 7,840 110,405 7,865

178,372 195,910 211,120 560,450 1,130,823

PROFIT/(LOSS) FROM OPERATING ~ REBEEK KL EEH 2
ACTIVITIES FROM CONTINUING wfl/ (E8)

OPERATIONS (58,303) 39,901 (277,212) (499,732) 39,794
Finance costs BEKA (242,450) (142,430) (144,515) (152,515) (160,339)
(300,753) (102,529) (421,727) (652,247) (120,545)
Income tax credit/(expenses) FEfEe,/ (FX) 1,732 7,084 2,208 41,614 (3,511)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FROM AEERERBEBL
CONTINUING OPERATIONS B (299,021) (95,445) (419,499) (610,633) (124,056)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM KEEREBRIEERKZ
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS i Al - (227,951) (166,721) 2,195
LOSS FOR THE YEAR AEEER (299,021) (95,445) (647,450) (777,354) (121,861)
Attributable to: PATR AT FELG :
Owners of the Company ADRAEEA (299,020) (94,744) (650,707 (772,377) (122,175)
Non-controling interests FEkER 1) (701) 3,257 (4,977) 314
(299,021) (95,445) (647,450) (777,354) (121,861)
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ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING EE-BEBERFERESR
INTERESTS
At 31 December
R+t=A=t+-8
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—ECZE —E-C —E-—F —E-EF —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FTET TEL THT T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE 1,070,492 1,177,930 1,384,251 2,397,577 2,956,908
CURRENT ASSETS TREEE 849,635 975,857 892,586 1,293,173 1,231,992
TOTAL ASSETS BEE 1,920,127 2,153,787 2,276,837 3,690,750 4,188,900
CURRENT LIABILITIES e b=Y 2,353,348 2,276,711 2,294,266 2,476,041 1,698,657
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBDERE 109,162 118,773 139,179 559,808 1,049,059
TOTAL LIABILITIES BafE 2,462,510 2,395,484 2,433,445 3,035,849 2,747,716
NET (LIABILITIES) ASSETS F(BE)EE (542,383) (241,697 (156,608) 654,901 1,441,184
EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO: AR AL e
Owners of the Company AAREAA (542,362) (241,677) (162,017) 652,749 1,434,055
Non-controlling interests el £ (P3)] (20) 5,409 2,152 7,129
(542,383) (241,697) (156,608) 654,901 1,441,184
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